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OPINION AND ORDER

PATTERSON, J.

*1  This opinion will address the motions of Defendants
William Morris Agency, Inc. (“WMA”), Creative Artists
Agency, LLC (“CAA”) and Renaissance Entertainment,
Inc. (“Renaissance”) (collectively, the “Booking Agency
Defendants”), and Jam Production, Ltd. (“Jam”) and
Beaver Productions, Inc. (“Beaver”) (collectively, the
“Promoter Defendants”), for summary judgment on the
Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure. 1 2

The action, filed on November 19, 1998, is brought by four
African–American owned concert promoter companies
and their owners: Rowe Entertainment, Inc. (“Rowe
Entertainment”), Leonard Rowe, Sun Song Productions,
Inc. (“Sun Song”), Jesse Boseman, Summitt Management
Corporation (“Summitt”), Fred Jones, Jr., Lee King

Productions, Inc. (“King Productions”), and Lee King. 3

(Pls.' Am. Compl., dated Aug. 9, 1999 (“Am.Compl.”), ¶¶
12, 14–16.)

The Amended Complaint originally charged eight talent

and booking agency defendants, 4  each controlled by
white persons and doing business throughout the United

States, and twenty-six concert promoter defendants, 5

each doing business in the United States and controlled by
white persons, with violation of section 1 of the Sherman
Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and of the Civil Rights Act
of 1866 and 1991, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1985(3) and 1986.
(Id. ¶¶ 2–3, 5, 18–25, 29–55.) Due to stipulated orders
of dismissal since the filing of the Amended Complaint,
only two concert promoter companies, Jam and Beaver,
and three talent and booking agencies, WMA, CAA, and
Renaissance, remain in this action.

I. BACKGROUND

A. General Nature of Claims in Amended Complaint
Plaintiffs allege “violations of antitrust and civil rights
laws in connection with the promotion of live concert
performances throughout the United States of pop, rock
and urban music (‘contemporary music’) (hereinafter
referred to as ‘concerts' or ‘contemporary music
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concerts').” (Am.Compl.¶ 1.) The Amended Complaint
also asserts:

[b]ecause of an all-white
concert promotion fraternity, the
black concert promoters are
systematically excluded from the
promotion of concerts given
by white performers. No black
promoter, including plaintiffs, has
been able to contract to promote a
contemporary music concert given
by a white artist, or even been
given the opportunity to bid on such
promotion. In addition, plaintiffs
are regularly excluded from the
promotion of concerts given by top-
drawing black performers.

(Id.)

The Amended Complaint states that the Booking
Agency Defendants, “which are all controlled by white
persons, represent performers in booking concerts”
and “engage promoters to promote concerts in the
particular geographic areas in which concerts are to be
presented.” (Id. ¶ 2.) Additionally, it states that “[t]he
selection of each promoter is within the discretion of the

agent.” (Id.) 6

The Amended Complaint goes on to state that, as a
product of an illegal conspiracy among the Defendants
and others to boycott and exclude Plaintiffs and to
discriminate against them on the basis of race in violation
of section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act and the Civil
Rights Acts of 1866 and of 1991, “[t]he booking agency
defendants refer their promotion business of white acts
exclusively to white promoters, predominantly to the
promoter defendants,” and “plaintiffs are often excluded
from promoting concerts given by most popular black
artists.” (Id. ¶ 4.)

*2  The Amended Complaint contains six claims: (1) a
conspiracy to restrain trade in violation of section 1 of the
Sherman Act claiming damages; (2) injunctive relief for
violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act; (3) intentional
wrongful discrimination on the basis of race concerning
Plaintiffs' right to make and enforce contracts in violation
of 42 U.S.C. § 1981; (4) conspiracy to deprive Plaintiffs of
the equal protection of the laws and equal privileges and

immunities under the laws, including the right to make
and enforce contracts, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3);
(5) injunctive relief for violation of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981
and 1985(3); (6) violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1986 for each
Defendant's failure to act or prevent the conspiracy to
discriminate against Plaintiffs. (Id. ¶¶ 95–114.)

Unless stated otherwise, the facts that follow are
undisputed.

B. Parties to the Litigation

1. Plaintiffs
Plaintiff Rowe Entertainment is a corporation organized
and existing under the laws of Georgia since 1998. (Id.
¶ 12; Booking Agency Defs.' Joint Rule 56.1 Stmt. of
Undisputed Material Facts, dated Feb. 28, 2003 (“Joint
56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 53.) Rowe Entertainment has its primary
place of business in Atlanta, Georgia. (Am.Compl.¶
12.) Plaintiff Leonard Rowe is its sole shareholder and
president. (Id.) Mr. Rowe has been in the concert
promotion business for twenty-six years. (Joint 56.1 Stmt.
¶ 52.)

Plaintiff Sun Song is a corporation organized and existing
under the laws of New York since 1976. (Am.Compl.¶
14.) Sun Song has its principal place of business in New
York, New York, and has operated in New York and
along the East Coast of the United States. (Id.) Plaintiff
Jesse Boseman is its sole shareholder and chief executive.
(Id.)

Plaintiff Summitt is a corporation organized and existing

under the laws of Delaware since 1984. (Id. ¶ 15.) 7

Summitt has its principal place of business in Memphis,
Tennessee, and promotes primarily in the Memphis
metropolitan region. (Id.) Plaintiff Fred Jones is its sole
shareholder and president. (Id.)

Plaintiff King Productions is a corporation organized and
existing under the laws of Mississippi since 1976. (Id. ¶
16.) King Productions has its principal place of business
in Jackson, Mississippi, and operates primarily in the
southern United States. (Id.) Plaintiff Lee King is the sole
shareholder and chief executive. (Id.)

2. Promoter Defendants
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Defendant Jam is an Illinois corporation with its principal
place of business in Chicago, Illinois. (Id. ¶ 49.) Jam
is owned and operated by Arny Granat and Jerry
Mickelson, who are both Caucasian. (Pls.' Rev. Local
Rule 56.1 Stmt. of Disputed Facts in Supp. Opp'n to
Jam's Mot. for Summ. J., dated Mar. 12, 2003 (“Pls.
Rev. Jam 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 1.) Plaintiffs assert that Jam has
promoted an average of 600 to 700 shows or more per year
and between 400 to 1,200 events in 2001 and 2002. (Pls.'
Rev. Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 3–4 (citing Dep. of Arny Granat,
undated (“Granat Dep.”), attached as Ex. 2 in Exs. Pls.'
Rev. Mem. in Opp'n to Jam's Mot. for Summ. J., undated
(received Mar. 13, 2003) (“Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Exs.”),
at 25–26, 233–34).) Defendant Jam asserts that Plaintiffs'
figures are nationwide figures that include events other
than music concerts and that Jam promoted an average of
200 to 300 music concerts in Chicago each year. (Decl. of
Jerry Mickelson, dated Mar. 13, 2003 (“Mickelson Decl.
II”), attached as Ex. 1 to Decl. of James D. Roberts, dated
Mar. 13, 2003 (“Roberts Decl.”), ¶ 18.)

*3  Defendant Beaver is a Louisiana corporation with
its principal place of business in New Orleans, Louisiana.
(Am.Compl.¶ 29.) Beaver has promoted concerts for over
thirty years. (Decl. of Don Fox, dated Feb. 14, 2003 (“Fox
Decl.”), attached as Ex. 1 in Exs. Beaver's Mem. in Supp.
of Mot. for Summ. J., undated (received Feb. 20, 2003)
(“Beaver Exs.”), ¶ 3.) Don Fox is the president and sole
shareholder of Beaver. (Beaver's Stmt. of Uncontested
Material Facts Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1, dated Feb.

19, 2003 (“Beaver 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 4.) 8  Barry Leff is the
vice-president. (Id. ¶ 5.) Both Don Fox and Barry Leff
are Caucasian. (Pls.' Revised Stmt. of Contested Material
Facts Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1, dated Mar. 24, 2003
(“Pls.' Rev. Beaver 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 7.) Beaver has promoted
an average of 200 concerts per year throughout North

America, the majority 9  of which have taken place in the
Greater New Orleans area. (Fox Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 3;
Dep. of Barry Leff, undated (“Leff Dep.”), Pls.' Beaver
Ex. 4, at 104.)

3. Booking Agency Defendants
Defendant WMA is a privately held company founded in
1898, with its principal offices in Beverly Hills, New York
City and Nashville. (WMA's Stmt. Undisputed Material
Facts Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 56.1, dated Feb.
28, 2003 (“WMA 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 1.) WMA represents
clients in various entertainment fields, including music,

television, books, theatre and movies. (Id. ¶ 2.) WMA's
music division has approximately sixty agents and
represents over 500 artists. (Id. ¶ 4.) When an agent in
WMA's music department receives a bid or bona fide offer
concerning an upcoming show or tour, WMA's policy is to
transfer the bid or offer to the artist or the artist's manager.

(Id. ¶ 5.) 10  The artist or the artist's manager makes the
final decision as to whether to accept the bid or offer. (Id.

¶ 6.) 11

Defendant CAA was incorporated as a limited liability
company under the laws of Delaware on or about August
18, 1995. (CAA's Stmt. of Undisputed Material Facts,
dated Feb. 28, 2003 (“CAA 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 1.) Its principal
place of business is Beverly Hills, California. (Am.Comp.¶
19.) CAA's music department represents musical artists
in the booking of live musical performances. (CAA
56 .1 Stmt. ¶ 5.) CAA currently employs approximately
twenty-eight music agents and represents over 200 musical
artists. (Id.) CAA's music clients include artists “whose
musical styles encompass many different genres of music,
including pop, rock, urban, R & B, jazz, country and
western, Latin, gospel and Christian music.” (Id. ¶ 6.)
Each year, CAA's music agents are involved in booking
thousands of concert dates for its music clients, both
nationally and internationally. (Id. ¶ 7.)

Defendant Renaissance was incorporated under the laws
of New York in February 1996. (Renaissance's Stmt.
Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1, dated Feb. 28, 2003
(“Renaissance 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 1.) David Zedeck was
the sole principal and president of Renaissance. (Id.
¶ 4.) On December 31, 1999, Renaissance ceased all
business operations and sold its assets to Evolution
Talent Agency, LLC, which was started by David Zedeck

and a partner. (Id. ¶¶ 3–4 .) 12  During its operation,
Renaissance provided booking agent services to musical
artists in connection with their live events. (Id. ¶ 5.) Before
November 1998, when this action was filed, Renaissance
employed no more than three booking agents and had
booked fewer than 90 domestic concerts for its represented
artists. (Id. ¶¶ 6–7.) After November 1998, Renaissance
added three more agents. (Id. ¶ 6.)

C. The Contemporary Music Concert Promotion
Business

*4  The concert promotion business evidently started in
the late 1960s or early 1970s. (Dep. of Stephen Alexander
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Cooley, dated Mar. 20, 2002 (“Cooley Dep.”), in Exs.
Pls.' Am. Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. of Disputed Facts in
Supp. of Pls.' Opp'n to Booking Agency Defs.' Mot. for
Summ. J., dated June 16, 2003 (“Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt.
Exs.”), Vol. II, at 97.) Plaintiffs' claims are founded on
disparities that have arisen since the beginning of this
industry. As Plaintiffs' counsel asked at the argument on
these summary judgment motions, why is it that all white
and black promoters started out at the same time and
“all of the white [dominant] promoters now have venues,
megabucks, all of the acts, and the vast majority of the
blacks do not?” (Hrg. Tr. 10/16/03 at 191.)

1. Allegations in Amended Complaint
In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs assert, “Artists
who perform live in concert generally engage booking
agencies to procure their engagements. These agencies
select and contract with promoters, functioning
in particular geographic locations, to present the
concerts.” (Am.Compl.¶ 59.) Furthermore,

[a] booking agent, acting on behalf
of an artist, contacts a concert
promoter in order to retain its
services to produce a concert at a
particular location, on an agreed
date. Sometimes two or more
promoters co-promote concerts, and
share profits and losses.... The
artist's fee is usually the greater of
(a) 85% of net concert revenues

(gross revenues less expenses, 13

which include rent, advertising,
stage hands, sound, lights, security
and the like), or (b) a minimum
guaranteed fee. Major artists can
command as much as 90% of net
concert revenues. A booking agent
typically receives between 5 and
10% of an artist's fee. A promoter
generally receives the remaining 15%
of net revenues, or the amount
remaining after the artist's minimum
guaranteed fee is paid.

(Id. ¶ 60.)

Under the contract between the artist and the promoter,
the promoter is obligated

[to] rent or otherwise secure
the venue where the concert
will take place. Venues include
small clubs, large clubs, college
gyms, auditoriums, outdoor
amphitheaters (commonly called
“sheds”), large sports arenas
and stadiums. Some promoters
own or have exclusive booking
arrangements with specific venues.
If another promoter wishes to
promote a concert in such a venue,
arrangements can be made with the
promoter controlling the venue.

(Id. ¶ 61.)

Once the artist or artist's manager and promoter enter
into a contract for a performance on a particular date at
a particular venue, the promoter “advertises the concert,
arranges security and performs other tasks to present the
concert,” including “sell[ing] tickets to the public, either
directly or through ticket sales outlets.” (Id.)

2. Role of Booking Agencies and Concert Promoters
It is undisputed that in the concert promotion business,
the concert promoters are the buyers of the talent or artist,
and the booking agencies are the sellers of the talent or
artist. (Beaver 56 .1 Stmt. ¶ 12; Pls.' Resp. Beaver 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 12; Jam's Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. Undisputed Facts
in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J., dated Jan. 29, 2003 (“Jam
56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 14; Dep. of Leonard Rowe, dated Aug. 14,
2001 (“Rowe Dep.”), attached as Ex. 6 to Decl. of Monica
Petraglia McCabe, Esq., dated Jan. 29, 2003 (“McCabe
Decl.”), at 1233; Dep. of Bernard Bailey, dated July 26,
2001 (“B. Bailey Dep.”) attached as Ex. 7 to McCabe
Decl., at 885; Dep. of Fred Jones, dated May 9, 2001
(“Jones Dep.”), attached as Ex. 9 to McCabe Decl, at 685–
86; Dep. of Lee King, dated May 2, 2001 (“King Dep.”),
attached as Ex. 10 to McCabe Decl., at 686–87.) The
concert promotion business is built on relationships that
develop over time among artists, managers, promoters,
agents, vendors and radio stations. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶

1.) 14
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*5  An artist's manager generally oversees all aspects of
the artist's career and may also engage a booking agent to
route and book concert tours for the artist. (Id. ¶¶ 2–3.)
The booking agent reports to the artist either directly or,
often, through the manager. (Id. ¶ 4.)

The artist or the artist's manager may designate the
number of concerts, the period during which they would
be performed, and the artist's preference for locale, for
venue and for promoter, among other aspects. (Dep. of
Ronald Weisner, dated Apr. 3, 2002 (“Weisner Dep.”), in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 21–26.) The agent at the booking agency
then solicits and obtains offers to present to the artist
or artist's manager, among other tasks. (Id. at 27.) As
Plaintiffs admit, “ ‘One important part of an agent's job
is to maximize opportunities to generate revenue for an
artist and to promote the artist's career, while minimizing
any potential downside risks.” ’ (Pls.' Local Civil Rule
56.1 Stmt. Resp. CAA's Mot. Summ. J., dated June 25,
2003 (“Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 9 (admitting in
part CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 9) (quoting Decl. of Robert Light,
dated Feb. 27, 2003, (“Light Decl. I”), ¶ 7).) Although the
ultimate decision as to whether to enter into a contract
with the concert promoter belongs to the artist or the
artist's manager, it is Plaintiffs' position that most artists
delegate this decision to their agents. (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 33.)

The concert promoter or co-promoter, as these terms are
used by the parties, shares in the profits and losses of
the concert. The concert promoter—sometimes referred
to as the “lead promoter”—is the entity that acquires
the act and contracts with the artist. (Joint 56.1 Stmt.

¶ 5.) 15  Generally, the promoter negotiates the terms of
the concert with the agent, subject to the approval or
direction of the artist or the artist's manager. (Gonzalez
Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 233.) The promoter is responsible
for all financial obligations of the show, including the
artist's guarantee, the building deposit, production cost

and advertising. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 6; 16  Rowe Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 81–82.) This includes the obligation to pay
for advertising and all show expenses, regardless of how
much money is generated by ticket sales. (Joint 56.1 Stmt.
¶ 7.) Due to this obligation, a promoter can end up losing
money on any concert, even when a concert was expected
to be profitable. (Id. ¶ 8.)

A lead promoter may retain the services of a “co-
promoter” to assist the lead promoter with certain

promotion tasks inside a particular market. (Id. ¶ 9.) 17

A promoter may be required to have a co-promoter
by the artist, the manager, or the booking agent, or a
lead promoter may retain a co-promoter because the co-
promoter has particular knowledge of the territory in
which the concert is performed. Promoters often select co-

promoters based on previous relationships. (Id. ¶ 10.) 18  A
co-promoter has a financial interest in the show and will
share in the profits or losses. (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV,
at 559.) A promoter also may retain “street promoters” or
“consultants” who typically receive a flat fee for assisting
in a local market with such tasks as advertising and poster
and flyer distribution. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 11.) Unlike co-
promoters, street promoters and consultants do not share
in the promotion risks. (Id.)

*6  In recent years, some artists or artists' managers
have asked booking agencies to solicit bids from concert
promoters to produce nationwide tours. A “national tour
promoter” is a promoter that procures and promotes
a tour across the entire country. (Id. ¶ 12.) In that
situation, a concert promoter bids for the entire tour
and pays the artist an up-front deposit or guarantee
based on the number of concerts to be performed. The
promoter also makes other payments based on the success
of the individual concerts or the aggregated success of
the individual concerts, a collateralized tour. (Gonzalez
Report, in J.A., Vol. I, ¶ 10(a), (b).) The “national tour
promoter” has exclusive rights to the artist's concert
performances and may negotiate for specific concerts with
“local promoters” instead of the artist or the agent. (Id.)
In some cases, the “local promoter” will pay a guarantee
versus a certain percentage of the profits of the concert,
and in others, the “local promoter” is paid a flat fee. (Id.)
The artist generally maintains the right to approve each
“local promoter” and the terms granted that promoter.
(Id.) Some artists have also chosen to contact a national
tour promoter directly without using a booking agency,
thereby avoiding the agency's commission. (Joint 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 13.)

3. Genres of Music
Within the music industry, distinct genres of music are
directed at different audiences. The Amended Complaint
relates to contemporary music, which includes urban
music (R & B, hip-hop and rap), pop music and rock
music, but not Latin, Christian, gospel, or country and
western. (Id. ¶ 15.) Additionally, the Amended Complaint

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1004649&cite=NYRCR56.1&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1004649&cite=NYRCR56.1&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. William Morris Agency, Inc., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d...

2005-1 Trade Cases P 74,684

 © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 6

refers to certain genres of music as “black music” and
other genres of music as “white music.” (Id. ¶ 14.)
Promoters may specialize in a particular field of music.

(Id. ¶ 16.) 19  Plaintiffs have specialized in R & B or “urban

music,” not pop or rock. (Id. ¶ 17.) 20  Booking agents
at the Defendant Booking Agencies may specialize in a
particular genre of music. (See Decl. of Cara Lewis, dated
Feb. 27, 2003, (“Lewis Decl.”), ¶ 3.)

4. The Bidding Process
To obtain an act, a promoter must first make an offer.

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 18.) 21  To ensure that they participate
in the bidding process, concert promoters “ ‘have to keep a
line of communication with the agencies” ’ to know which
artists are planning to tour. (Id. ¶ 19 (quoting Rowe Dep.,

in J.A., Vol. VI, at 114).) 22  The most important aspect
of promoting is “ ‘to be up on the situation about who is
coming, what artist is coming out, and to try to be a part
of the bidding process.” ’ (Id. (quoting Rowe Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. VI, at 115).)

The evidence shows that the booking agencies are not
the only sources of information about artists' plans to
go on concert tours. There are a variety of sources
which promoters use to learn whether an artist is going
on tour, “including rumor, internet websites, television,
periodicals, contact with other promoters and booking
agents, contacts with record companies and radio [station]

executives.” (Id. ¶ 20.) 23  If a particular act interests a
promoter, the promoter must call the booking agent to
express that interest and to inquire about specific dates
and the artist's availability to perform in certain areas.

(Id. ¶ 21.) 24  Additionally, the artists, whose concerts are
the subject of the Plaintiffs' complaint, have managers
whose names and addresses are available in Pollstar
directories. (See Dep. of Jonathan Edward Stoll, dated
Apr. 10, 2002 (“Stoll Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. VI, at 87 (noting
that Amusement Business and Pollstar publish guides on
artists' representation).)

*7  When seeking promotion opportunities, promoters
must be proactive and assertive and cannot wait for agents

to contact them. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 22.) 25  Successful
black concert promoters testify that they are proactive and
aggressive in searching out concert opportunities, not only
by calling agents, but also by calling the artists' recording
studios and managers. (See Dep. of Al Haymon, dated

Nov. 11, 2002 (“Haymon Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. IV, at
211–13; Dep. of Jerome Williams, dated Apr. 30, 2002
(“Williams Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. VI, at 39–40; Dep. of
Daryll Brooks, dated Apr. 12, 2002 (“Brooks Dep.), in
J.A., Vol. III, at 78–79; Dep. of Larry Bailey, dated Dec.
7, 2001 (“L. Bailey Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. III, at 32–33; see

also Stoll Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 87.) 26

At times, an agent may call a promoter with whom the
artist, the manager, or the agent has a prior relationship
to notify the promoter of an artist's plans to tour,
but agencies do not contact all promoters, regardless
of the race of the promoter, to inform them of every

artist's tour. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 23.) 27  The Booking
Agency Defendants assert that they do not give advance
notice to the Promoter Defendants of every tour of

every major white artist. (Id. ¶ 24; 28  see also Dep. of
Robert Light, dated Dec. 18, 2001 (“Light Dep.”), in J.A.,
Vol. V, at 353 (stating CAA “didn't give any advance
notice necessarily to black promoters” or other promoter
groups in connection with a particular music tour.) The
Independent Promoters Association, whose members are
white, is rarely solicited by an agent or manager to submit
an offer for a tour or a concert. (Dep. of Ben Liss, dated
June 17, 2003 (“Liss Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. V, at 129–130.)
The evidence submitted in this case gives no indication
that one promoter can prevent another promoter from
submitting an offer or a bid to the agencies for a concert

promotion opportunity. 29  (Haymon Dep., McCabe Decl.
Ex. 11, at 48–49, 189–90, 252, 438.)

5. The Elements of a Bid
Although a promoter may discuss the terms of his bid
over the telephone with a booking agent, the bid must

eventually be in writing. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 25.) 30  An
artist or manager will only consider a bid when it is in
writing and includes the amount of the guarantee, artist/
promoter split and other information that is necessary for
the artist or manager to assess the relative value of the bid.
This information includes production costs, the cost of
the building, participation in any ancillary revenue (such
as merchandising or concessions) and projected costs for
stagehands, rigging, limousines, catering and advertising.

(Id. ¶ 26.) 31  Without this information, the manager will
not be able to assess the offer. (Id.)
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The artist's guarantee is the amount of money the
promoter agrees to pay the artist for a particular
performance. (Id. ¶ 27.) This guarantee is the minimum
payment to the artist, who can negotiate a guarantee
versus a percentage of the net receipts and, thus, earn more
than the guarantee on a successful show. (Id. ¶ 28.) Many
major artists rely on the percentage, also referred to as the
“back-end split,” to receive earnings substantially greater
than the guarantee. (Id.) When promoters determine what
guarantee to offer, they consider expected ticket sales and
prices, expected expenses for the concert, and the amount

the artist generally expects. (Id. ¶ 29.) 32

*8  After the agent receives a written bid from a promoter,
the agent forwards the bid to the artist or the artist's

management for consideration. (Id. ¶ 30.) 33  The artist
then chooses whether to accept or reject the offer. (Id. ¶

31.) 34  If the artist rejects the offer, the promoter then
decides whether to submit a revised offer attempting to
meet the artist's criteria. (Id. ¶ 32.)

The artist has the ultimate authority to accept or reject an

offer by a concert promoter. (Id. ¶ 33.) 35  The artist may
not make the decision itself, but may rely on the artist's
manager or the booking agent to choose a promoter. (Id. ¶
34 (“Artists handle decisions with respect to the selection

of concert promoters in different ways.”).) 36

6. Selecting a Concert Promoter
Artists and artists' managers consider a variety of factors
when selecting a concert promoter. (Id. ¶ 41 (stating
factors include the promoter's “(a) experience with a
genre of music; (b) relationship with the artist; (c)
relationship with the manager; (d) financial wherewithal;
(e) relationships within a particular market or region;
(f) reputation; (g) production infrastructure; and (h)

relationship with the agency”); 37  see also Rowe Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1234–35, 1237–38 (stating factors
he would consider in selecting a co-promoter include
familiarity with local area, ability of promoter, length of
time in the business and previous shows promoted).)

In selecting a concert promoter, the promoter's
relationship and track record with the artist are
considered. (See L. Bailey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 28, 30.)
There is a preference for promoters who have worked with
the artist in the past. (See Casey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at

128, 139; Dep. of Bruce Kapp, dated Mar. 1, 2002 (“Kapp
Dep.”), in Dep. Tr. Exs. to Pls. Opp'n to CAA's Summ. J.
Mot., undated (received May 5, 2003) (“Pls.' CAA Dep.
Tr.”), Vol. I, at 94; Weisner Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
12–13 .) Relationships and past experience with managers
is also important in the selection of a concert promoter.
(Luster Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 73–74; Light Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. V, at 515.) When agencies are asked to recommend
a promoter, the promoter's relationship with the agency
is also relevant. (Casey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 139.)
Similarly, when a promoter seeks to retain a co-promoter,
the promoter's relationship with the co-promoter can be
very important. (See Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1234–
1235; Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 251.)

A promoter's relationships within a market, e.g.,
with advertisers, venues or other suppliers, is another
consideration in selecting a concert promoter. (See Casey
Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 120; Weisner Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. VI, at 13 (considering important factors to include
“relationships with the local people, [and] financially,
to be able to support and advertise and promote the
individual dates”).)

*9  In addition to the personal relationships discussed
above, the promoter's past experience and reputation in
terms of venue, genre and financial stability are also
relevant. A promoter's experience and familiarity with a
specific genre of music is important in selecting a concert
promoter. (Casey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 119 (“We
look for someone who understands the type of the music
that the artist performs.”); see also id. at 125 (stating
that he would not look for a promoter who did Christian
promotion to promote a rock and roll show because
“[t]hat promoter may not be able to focus his advertising
on a target demographic”).) Additionally, a promoter
with familiarity in a specific geographic area or venue
is preferred. (Id. at 119–20 (stating that “we look for
someone with a familiarity of the city or marketplace
where they are promoting in”); Haymon Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. IV, at 217).)

A promoter's financial capabilities are also crucial. (Casey
Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 120; Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V,
at 103–04 (stating that biggest issue in choosing a concert
promoter is whether the promoter is financially sound);
Weisner Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 13 (stating that when
choosing a promoter, he considers, among other things,
a promoter's financial ability “to be able to support and
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advertise and promote the individual dates”).) A promoter
cannot rely on ticket sales to cover financial obligations
(Bea Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 21), but rather needs to be
able “to not only promote the show, but in event of a loss,
to sustain that loss without the show going sideways or
canceling” (Casey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 120). In that
vein, a good credit history and professional reputation are
important to assure an artist and the artist's manager of
the promoter's financial stability. (L. Bailey Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. III, at 32–33; Bea Dep., in J.A. Vol. III, at 23.)

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Summary Judgment Standard

1. General Standard
Pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, a moving party is granted summary
judgment when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the
affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to
any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to
a judgment as a matter of law.”

The summary judgment standard is “well-settled” in the
Second Circuit. Marvel Characters, Inc. v. Simon, 310 F.3d
280, 285 (2d Cir.2002). The Second Circuit holds:

The party seeking summary
judgment has the burden to
demonstrate that no genuine issue of
material fact exists. In determining
whether a genuine issue of material
fact exists, a court must examine the
evidence in the light most favorable
to, and draw all inferences in favor
of, the non-movant.... Summary
judgment is improper if there is any
evidence in the record that could
reasonably support a jury's verdict
for the non-moving party.

*10  Id. at 286 (citations omitted).

However, as the Supreme Court has highlighted, “the
issue of fact must be ‘genuine.” ’ Matsushita Elec. Indus.
Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). The
party opposing summary judgment “must do more than
simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as
to the material facts.” Id. The non-moving party “may

not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the
adverse party's pleading,” but must set forth “specific facts
showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Fed. Rule
Civ. Proc. 56(e). “Where the record taken as a whole could
not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving
party, there is no ‘genuine issue for trial.” ’ Matsushita,
475 U.S. at 587 (quoting First Nat'l Bank v. Cities Serv.
Co., 391 U.S. 253, 289 (1968)).

B. The Antitrust Standard
Plaintiffs argue that the Defendants have committed a per
se violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act because they
have “ ‘divided the markets into territories” ’ and, “as a
group, ‘refuses to deal with a competitor,” ’ like Plaintiffs.
(Pls.' Mem. Opp'n Booking Agency Defs.' Joint Mot. for
Summ. J., dated Apr. 24, 2003 (“Pls.' Joint Mem.”), at
33 (citing Klor's, Inc. v. Broadway–Hale Stores, Inc., 359
U.S. 207, 211–12 (1959).) In Klor's, the plaintiff retail
store alleged a group boycott and a refusal by defendant
manufacturers to sell major household appliances to the
plaintiff to the advantage of its competitor, defendant
Broadway, which operated a chain of department stores,
one of which competed with plaintiff. Klor's, 359 U.S.
at 209. The defendants did not dispute this allegation,
but rather sought summary judgment and dismissal of
the complaint for failure to state a cause of action. (Id.)
The lower court had dismissed the complaint as a “purely
private quarrel ... which did not amount to a public wrong
proscribed by the Sherman Act.” Id. at 210 (internal
quotations omitted). The Supreme Court reversed the
lower court's dismissal of the complaint and remanded
for trial because the allegations in the complaint plainly
disclosed a concerted refusal to deal or group boycott in
violation of the Sherman Act. Id. at 212.

This case concerns a motion for summary judgment,
and Plaintiffs have presented no evidence of any refusal
to deal, group boycott, or division of territory by the
Defendants. See infra pp. 30–36. Instead, the evidence
reveals a long-standing scarcity of bids for contemporary
music concerts by Plaintiffs even when the Booking
Agency Defendants requested bids from them during the
last few years. See infra pp. 48–49, 52, 54–56, 59–60, 155–
57, 162–65. Thus, this case cannot be treated as a per se
violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. Accordingly,
the case is evaluated under the rule of reason, which
states that “defendants' conduct will be deemed illegal
only if it unreasonably restrained competition.” Geneva
Pharmaceuticals Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs. Inc., 386 F.3d

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR56&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_4b24000003ba5
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR56&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_4b24000003ba5
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002707169&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_285&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_285
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002707169&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_285&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_285
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002707169&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_286&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_286
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986115992&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_586&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_586
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986115992&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_586&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_586
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR56&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR56&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7fdd00001ca15
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986115992&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_587&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_587
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986115992&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_587&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_587
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1968131190&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_289&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_289
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1968131190&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_289&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_289
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1959123743&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_211&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_211
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1959123743&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_211&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_211
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1959123743&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_209&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_209
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1959123743&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_209&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_209
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1959123743&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_210&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_210
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2005347404&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_506&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_506
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2005347404&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_506&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_506


Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. William Morris Agency, Inc., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d...

2005-1 Trade Cases P 74,684

 © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 9

485, 506 (2d Cir.2004) (citing Atlantic Richfield Co. v. USA
Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328, 342 (1990)).

*11  Under the rule of reason, a plaintiff bringing
a private action under section 1 of the Sherman Act
bears the “initial burden to demonstrate the defendant's
challenged behavior ‘had an actual adverse effect on
competition as a whole in the relevant market.” ’ Geneva
Pharmaceuticals, 386 F.3d at 506–07 (quoting Capital
Imaging Assocs., P.C. v. Mohawk Valley Med. Ass'n. Inc.,
996 F.2d 537, 543 (2d Cir.1993) (emphasis in original)).
“[E]vidence that plaintiffs have been harmed as individual
competitors will not suffice.” Id. at 507 (citing Atlantic
Richfield, 495 U.S. at 343–44). “The antitrust laws ...
were enacted for ‘the protection of competition not
competitors.” ’ Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl–O–Mat,
Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 488 (1977) (quoting Brown Shoe Co. v.
United States, 370 U.S. 294, 320 (1962)).

After a plaintiff has established that there has been
an actual adverse affect on competition as a whole, a
plaintiff “must establish that there is a genuine issue
of material fact as to whether [defendants] entered into
an illegal conspiracy that caused [plaintiff] to suffer a

cognizable injury.” 38  Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 585–86
(citations omitted). A plaintiff must establish both that
there is a conspiracy in violation of the antitrust laws
and that the plaintiff suffered an injury resulting from the
illegal conduct. Id. at 586. Specifically, a plaintiff must
provide evidence, not speculation, that: “(1) there was an
agreement among ... [the defendants] in restraint of trade;
(2) [the plaintiff was] injured as a direct and proximate
result; and (3) its damages are capable of ascertainment
and not speculative.” Vkk Corp. v. Nat'l Football League,
244 F.3d 114, 131 (2d Cir.2001) (quotations and citations
omitted).

In antitrust cases, courts have applied special standards
to summary judgment motions due to their unique
circumstances. Some courts have expressed reluctance to
grant summary judgment motions in antitrust cases due
to the complicated factual nature of their claims and the
customary lack of explicit evidence of conspiracy. See,
e.g., H.L. Hayden Co. v. Siemens Med. Sys., Inc., 879
F .2d 1005, 1012 (2d Cir.1989) (“Summary judgment has
traditionally been granted sparingly in antitrust cases ...
because the claims ‘so integrally involve motive and
intent to conspire and injure.” ’ (citations omitted)).
“Indeed, antitrust conspiracies are rarely evidenced by

explicit agreements, but must almost always be proven by
‘inferences that may be fairly drawn from the behavior of
the alleged conspirators.” ’ Id. (citations omitted).

Although a court deciding a summary judgment motion
must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the
non-moving party and draw all inferences in its favor,
“antitrust law limits the range of permissible inferences
from ambiguous evidence in a § 1 case.” Matsushita,
475 U.S. at 588; see also id. at 594 (stating “mistaken
inferences in cases such as this one are especially costly,
because they chill the very conduct the antitrust laws
are designed to protect”). Thus, in order to withstand a
summary judgment motion in an antitrust case, “plaintiffs
must present evidence of an actual illegal combination,
and such evidence must satisfactorily cast doubt on
inferences of independent action or proper conduct by
defendants.” Geneva Pharmaceuticals, 386 F .3d at 507
(citing Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 588 (stating that these
inferences must be reasonable “in light of the competing
inferences of independent action or collusive action that
could not have harmed [plaintiffs]”)); see also Pepsico,
Inc. v. Coca–Cola Co., 315 F.3d 101, 105 (2d Cir.2002).
Additionally, “courts should not permit factfinders to
infer conspiracies when such inferences are implausible.”
Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 593. “[I]f the factual context
renders [plaintiffs'] claim implausible—if the claim is one
that simply makes no economic sense—respondents must
come forward with more persuasive evidence to support
their claim than would otherwise be necessary.” Id. at 587.

*12  To survive a motion for summary judgment, a
plaintiff seeking damages for a violation of section 1 must
present evidence “that tends to exclude the possibility”
that the alleged conspirators acted independently.
Monsanto Co. v. Spray–Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752,
764 (1984). “[C]onduct as consistent with permissible
competition as with illegal conspiracy does not, standing
alone, support an inference of antitrust conspiracy.”
Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 588.

III. ANTITRUST CLAIMS: SHERMAN ACT, 15
U.S.C. § 1

A. Plaintiffs Have Failed to Present Evidence to
Support Their Antitrust Claims

1. Plaintiffs Have Failed to Establish Antitrust Standing
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Plaintiffs have made a claim for damages and injunctive
relief under section 1 of the Sherman Act, which states
that “[e]very contract, combination in the form of trust
or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or
commerce among the several States, or with foreign
nations, is declared to be illegal.” 15 U.S .C. § 1.
The Amended Complaint alleges that the Defendants'
market dominance “provides the promoter defendants
and the booking agency defendants with the control
and power, which they exercise, to purposefully exclude
others, including plaintiffs, from competing in the concert
industry.” (Am.Compl.¶ 74.) The Amended Complaint
asserts that the conspiracy has an “anticompetitive
effect upon interstate trade and commerce” because it
“eliminates competition among promoters and prevents
concerts from being promoted at lower prices which would
benefit the artists and public.” (Id. ¶ 78; see also id. ¶
80 (stating that “[i]f plaintiffs were permitted to compete
with defendant promoters for the promotion of concerts
given by major acts, white and black promoters' fees
would decrease.... Reduced promoter fees would benefit
the public through lower ticket prices, or artists, through

greater net revenues, or both”).) 39

To determine whether a market injury exists for standing
under the Sherman Act, a plaintiff must first define the
relevant market and provide some evidence supporting
the definition. Pepsico, 315 F.3d at 105; see, e.g.,
Ezekwo v. Am. Bd. of Internal Med., 18 F.Supp.2d
271, 278 (S.D.N.Y.1998). The relevant market for § 1
purposes must be for all contemporary music concerts that
are “reasonably interchangeable” in use for consumers.
United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S.
377, 395 (1956); see also Pepsico, 315 F.3d at 105.

The Amended Complaint alleges that the Defendants have
market dominance in the market of live contemporary
music concerts in venues with more than 3,000 seats
throughout the United States (Am.Compl.¶¶ 65, 78)
and that, for live concerts of contemporary music, the
“entire United States is a single national market wherein
promoters compete for the rights to obtain contracts to
promote concerts” (id. ¶ 58). Plaintiffs also allege that
“there are local regional markets, generally incorporating
the metropolitan areas surrounding each major city, for
the promotion of concerts within each such region.” (Id.)

*13  Plaintiffs have offered no evidence to show that the
alleged relevant product market for contemporary music

concert promotions in venues with 3,000 or more seats is
not reasonably interchangeable with concerts conducted
in smaller venues. Thus, Plaintiffs have not provided any
evidence to support their relevant market definition.

Even assuming there is a distinct market for contemporary
concert promotions in the United States in venues
with 3,000 or more seats, Plaintiffs have not provided
evidence to support their allegation that the Booking
Agency Defendants and the Promoter Defendants have
control and power over that market. Plaintiffs rely
on an extrapolation made by Plaintiffs' former counsel

from Pollstar Magazine 40  data for the period from
June 1998 to May 1999 for the claim that the total
market share of the Booking Agency Defendants named
in the Amended Complaint and uncharged booking
agency co-conspirators was 71%, or 1,630 of the major

concerts. 41  (Id. ¶ 71.) Plaintiffs state that: WMA
artists gave approximately 11% of the major concerts;
CAA artists gave approximately 26.4% of the major
concerts; and Renaissance artists gave less than 4% of
the music concerts. (Id.) Based on these calculations, the
present Booking Agency Defendants together account
for less than 42% of the concerts performed in the
alleged market. Beaver and Jam, the only remaining

Promoter Defendants, 42  are alleged to have engaged in,
respectively, the promotion or co-promotion of 73(3%),
and of 111 (4.5%) of the 2460 major concerts in Plaintiffs'

test period. 43  (Id. ¶ 67.)

The extrapolation by Plaintiffs' former counsel is cited in
the Amended Complaint but is not offered in evidence or
supported by expert testimony. Thus, there is not evidence
to support Plaintiffs' claim of Defendants' control of
the market for contemporary music concerts in the

United States in venues with 3,000 or more seats. 44

Plaintiffs provide no other evidence to support their

claim of market control. 45  Thus, Plaintiffs have offered
insufficient evidence from which a reasonable juror could
infer that the Booking Agency Defendants, or Beaver
or Jam, either individually or by concerted action with
others, have the market power to exclude Plaintiffs from
promoting concerts in the contemporary music concert
market in the United States, the market alleged in the
Amended Complaint.

Even assuming that Plaintiffs' alleged market serves as
the relevant market and that the Defendants have power
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and control of that market, Plaintiffs have presented no
evidence to support the claim that competition among
promoters in that market has been eliminated, other
than by former defendant SFX's acquisition during
the pendency of this action of a number of former
defendant concert promoters, against all of whom
Plaintiffs have dismissed their claims. No evidence has
been submitted showing a division of markets by the
Promoter Defendants even though the Plaintiffs have
had full discovery, including emails retrieved from the
hard drives of the Defendants. Nor is there evidence that
any Promoter or Booking Agency Defendant prevented
the Plaintiffs, or anyone else, from submitting bids on
concerts.

*14  The Amended Complaint asserts that the alleged
conspiracy among the Defendants “makes entry into the
booking agency market far more difficult.” (Am.Compl.¶
79.) Plaintiffs have not provided any evidence indicating
that entry into the booking agency market is difficult. On
the contrary, the evidence shows that one Booking Agency
Defendant, Renaissance, entered the concert promotion
market within a year prior to the filing of the complaint
and was successful enough to attract top acts and be made

a defendant in this action. 46

Plaintiffs assert that there is an antitrust injury because
the conspiracy prevents Plaintiffs from competing in the
market, and if they were allowed to compete “concerts
could profitably be promoted at rates of 5% of revenues,
or even less,” in contrast to the 15% of the net sales
revenues they allege that Promoter Defendants currently
receive. (Id. ¶ 80.) The Plaintiffs further allege that these
reduced promoter fees “would benefit the public through
lower ticket prices, or artists, through greater revenues, or
both.” (Id.) Not only have Plaintiffs provided no evidence
to support this claim that concerts would be promoted

at lower rates if they were “allowed” to compete, 47

Plaintiffs have not provided evidence showing that any
change in promoter fees would affect competition among
promoters.

In short, no evidence has been presented to suggest market
injury and, accordingly, antitrust standing has not been
established.

2. Plaintiffs Have Provided No Evidence of a
Conspiracy in Restraint of Trade

Even if the Plaintiffs could show an antitrust injury to the
relevant market, their claim under § 1 would fail on the
merits. Plaintiffs allege that the conspiracy “is conducted
by defendants in order to benefit white promoters,
particularly the promoter defendants, by eliminating
black promoters as competitors, and to maintain a
market for the promotion of concerts which can be
controlled and ordered by the conspirators.” (Id. ¶ 78.)
The alleged conspiracy consists mainly of two purported

agreements. 48  The Amended Complaint first alleges that
“[a]s a part of the conspiracy, the promoter defendants
are designated specific territories and venues, allowing
them great dominance and control in these areas, to the
exclusion of plaintiffs and others.” (Id. ¶ 76.) Second, it
states that the Booking Agency Defendants “assur[e] the
promoter defendants that they will always be given the
opportunity, to the exclusion of all others, of promoting
the defendant booking agents' top acts in the promoter
defendant's assigned territory, at highly profitable rates,”
in exchange for agreeing to promote lesser talents at

possible loss. 49  (Id. ¶ 79.)

(i) The Alleged Territory Allocation Conspiracy
Plaintiffs assert that each of the dominant promoters
is a member of a horizontal conspiracy to exclude
Plaintiffs and restrain competition by honoring each
others' market areas, which the Booking Agency
Defendants also honor. (Hrg. Tr. 10/17/03 at 64–
72.) The Amended Complaint sets forth the market
areas each of the promoter defendants are allegedly
designated to dominate. (Am.Compl.¶¶ 29–54.) Plaintiffs
have submitted no evidence that supports the allegation
that the promoter defendants are “designated” specific
areas as opposed to being physically located in specific
areas. Plaintiffs make their claims of dominance based
on Plaintiffs' former counsels' extrapolation, not offered
in evidence, which is based on Pollstar's published
information for the period June 1998 through May

1999, 50  but offer no evidence, including inferential
evidence, of the alleged horizontal conspiracy agreement
between concert promoters named in the Amended
Complaint to divide these markets. Review of the evidence
Plaintiffs have offered follows.

*15  Plaintiffs cite to the January 19, 2001, affidavit
of Richard Johnson to support their claim that each
of the current and former Promoter Defendants in the
Amended Complaint has a territorial monopoly. (Pls.'
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Joint Mem. at 7.) Mr. Johnson was employed in the
music division of Defendant WMA as a booking agent
from 1982 to 1986, twelve years before the filing of
this complaint, and has been employed in an unrelated
economic area ever since. (R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Beaver
Ex 9, ¶ 1.) Mr. Johnson does not identify Beaver or Jam as
the dominant promoters in any particular territory. Mr.
Johnson states in his affidavit that the highly competitive
industry described by the Defendants (in supporting their
unsuccessful motion opposing the disclosure of certain
documents on the grounds of exposure of trade secret
information to competitors) simply did not exist. (Id. ¶ 3.)
Mr. Johnson states:

On the contrary, each major market
in the United States was controlled
essentially by one primary or
dominant promoter, whose identity
is well known among all the major
booking agents.... When a white
artist represented by WMA wanted
to have a concert in one or more
cities, or stage a nationwide tour,
there was no competitive “bidding”
process, in which WMA engaged in
arms length bargaining with several
promoters in each major venue
in order to get the best deal for
themselves and their artists. [The
booking agents of WMA], who were
also organized by territory, instead
were instructed to book their artists
through the dominant promoter in
his or her market. Agents would
typically not reach out to any
promoter other than the one that
controlled his respective territory,
and if any unsolicited offer or bid
came to an agent from a secondary
promoter, it would very likely never
leave his or her desk.

(Id. (emphasis added).)

Mr. Johnson's affidavit about WMA's practice of selecting
primary or dominant promoters in each major city
contains no evidence of the existence of an agreement
among the “dominant concert promoters” to divide the
market, to exclude competition, or to restrain trade in
the United States. Nor does he state that WMA was

party to an agreement with any concert promoter or
booking agency to direct concerts to a single promoter in
a market area. Indeed, Mr. Johnson's knowledge is limited
to WMA's procedures for booking agents for the period
of 1982 to 1986 and to his personal knowledge of WMA's

internal practices. 51  Mr. Johnson's affidavit does not
demonstrate that he has knowledge of how other booking
agencies, both defendants and non-defendants, selected
concert promoters. Furthermore, little other evidence
before the Court relates to the time period cited by Mr.
Johnson.

Plaintiffs also cite to the testimony of Bruce Kapp, a
SFX executive who is a former concert promoter at Pace
and Magicworks, concerning the manner in which various
promoters achieved dominance in particular markets
as support for their claim of a horizontal conspiracy.
(Hrg. Tr. 10/17/03 at 64–65.) Mr. Kapp testified that
Bill Graham came to “dominate” the San Francisco
market because he owned or had exclusive booking
arrangements with specific venues. According to Mr.
Kapp, Bill Graham “[b]uilt venues in San Francisco, the
Philmore [sic], with his own money or partner's money,
whatever; promoted and bought the shows—almost all
the shows; took the risk; and same way that every other
promoter did it” (Kapp Dep., Pls.' Joint Mem. Ex. 12, at
231–32); Larry Magid established his dominance in the
Philadelphia market the same way that Bill Graham did
in San Francisco (id. at 232–33); Don Law in Boston did
similarly (id. at 235); and all these promoters probably
dominated their markets by the mid 1980's” (id. at 236).

*16  Similar to the testimony of Mr. Johnson, Mr. Kapp's
testimony about the dominance promoters have over
concert promotions in these cities contains no evidence
of the existence of an agreement among the “dominant
concert promoters” to exclude competition or restrain
trade in the United States, as claimed in paragraphs
74 and 75 of the Amended Complaint. Nor does he
assert that other promoters or booking agencies assisted
these promoters in gaining their positions of dominance.
Mr. Kapp's testimony is limited to his knowledge as
a former concert promoter at Pace and Magicworks.
Even accepting the proof of promoter dominance based
on the Plaintiffs' counsel's statistical extrapolation and

assuming Mr. Kapp could testify as an expert, 52  Mr.
Kapp's testimony is that the alleged dominant promoters
achieved dominance in the early 1980s by taking risks,
buying almost all the shows and building venues. Mr.
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Kapp's testimony does not suggest any agreement between
the Promoter Defendants to divide the market in the
United States, nor does it suggest the Booking Agency
Defendants agreed together or with any concert promoter
that the market should be so divided. In fact, neither
Defendant Renaissance nor Defendant CAA existed
during the time period discussed by Mr. Kapp and by Mr.
Johnson.

As evidence of the alleged conspiracy between the booking
agencies and the dominant concert promoters, Plaintiffs
cite two letters, dated February 25, 1998, and March 2,
1998, from a booking agent, WMA's agent Shelly Schultz,
to Sherry Wasserman and Greg Perloff of Bill Graham

Presents, a former promoter defendant. 53  (Pls.' Joint
Mem. at 21 (citing Pls.' Joint Mem. Exs. 41, 42).) The
February 25, 1998 letter attempts to persuade Wasserman
and Perloff to promote Culture Club–Human League–
Howard Jones concerts in Graham's “market” of the San
Francisco Bay area. (See Am. Compl. ¶ 31.) Mr. Schultz
states, “I thought I would never, ever think about moving
into the Bay Area with another promoter. But then again,
the winds are blowing and changes are happening. Don't
mistake this for a threat. If you don't get it, there are others
who do.” (Pls.' Joint Mem. Ex. 41.) Earlier in the letter, he
stated, “you need to understand that there are others who
are chomping at the bit to move into your marketplace and
want this show.” (Id.) The March 2, 1998, letter reads in
full as follows: “I am sorry you chose to ignore the Culture
Club matter for the Bay area. This agency still has to do
business. If the walls are down around the Bay area it's
because you allowed that to happen ... with your friends

no less.” 54  (Pls.' Joint Mem. Ex. 42.)

There is also evidence in the record that shows that Mr.
Schultz made efforts to get other promoters to promote
Culture Club in the Bay Area. Mr. Schultz wrote Mr.
Perloff on August 13, 1998, about the Culture Club
concert stating, “I told you the whole package would be
$50,000 and the purchaser provides local sound and lights
to Artist specifications. This figure is for CULTURE
CLUB and the support Artist. If that's not the case, let me
know. I have no problem using another promoter in the
Bay Area.” (Exs. to Pls.' Opp'n to WMA's Summ. J. Mot.,
undated (received May 5, 2003) (“Pls.' WMA Exs.”), Ex.
151.) On August 14, 1998, Mr. Schultz of WMA wrote
Mr. Vallon, a concert promoter from Los Angeles, stating
“I feel very strongly about opening up the San Francisco
marketplace to other promoters. Therefore, would you

like to be considered for a Culture Club date plus support
in the Bay area in October?” (Pls.' Hrg. Ex. 14.) In a letter
dated August 18, 1998, Jeff Trisler of Universal makes an
offer for a Culture Club concert at a venue in the Bay
Area to Guy Richard of WMA and copies the letter to Mr.
Schultz and Mr. Vallon. (Pls.' WMA Ex. 91.)

*17  These letters allow the inference that Mr. Schultz
of WMA may have favored Bill Graham Presents as
a concert promoter in the Bay Area prior to February
1998. However, the correspondence on the Culture Club
concert does not evidence: (1) an agreement among
the Promoter Defendants; (2) an agreement between
the Booking Agency Defendants; or (3) an agreement
by WMA and Bill Graham Presents to exclude other
promoters from Bill Graham's “market.” The inference
raised by Mr. Schultz's letter to Mr. Vallon, attempting
to interest him in buying the promotion for a Culture
Club concert in the Bay Area, is that Mr. Schultz had
no agreement with Bill Graham Presents to exclude other
promoters from that market.

The other evidence Plaintiffs point to for support of their
claim of a territorial agreement is a letter dated May 22,
1996, from Rob Light of CAA to Mitch Slater of Delsener/

Slater, a former promoter defendant, 55  stating, “You're
always asking me to protect you in the market.” (Pls.'
Hrg. Ex. 17.) At most this letter shows that Delsener/
Slater had asked CAA to give it a preference in the market.
There is no showing of any agreement to any territorial
arrangement.

In addition, Plaintiffs' exhibits contradict their claims
of a horizontal agreement to divide markets. Those
exhibits include contracts between the Booking Agency
Defendants and alleged dominant concert promoters in
cities where the Amended Complaint asserts that another
concert promoter is dominant. (See e.g., Pls.' Joint Mem.

Ex. E.) 56  In the face of evidence showing that the
artists represented by the Booking Agency Defendants
contract with other concert promoters for concerts in the
“designated markets” of the alleged dominant concert
promoters, Plaintiffs' claim of an agreement between
the Booking Agency Defendants and the Promoter
Defendants to restrain trade in the designated areas
throughout the United States is too implausible to be

inferred by the trier of fact . 57  See Matsushita, 475 U.S.
at 593.
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(ii) The Alleged Reciprocal Agreement
The Amended Complaint asserts that:

[t]he booking agency defendants
are able to maintain ultimate
control over the concert promotion
market, and guarantee promotion
of all their acts, including the less
successful ones, by assuring the
promoter defendants that they will
always be given the opportunity,
to the exclusion of all others, of
promoting the defendant booking
agents' top acts in the promoter
defendant's assigned territory, at

highly profitable rates. 58  In
exchange for this lucrative, anti-
competitive agreement, the booking
agency defendants are able to assure
artists that the promoter defendants
will guarantee the sale of tickets for
concerts given by less successful acts
on the booking agency defendants'
talent rosters.

(Id. ¶ 79 (emphasis added).)

Although Plaintiffs have had complete discovery of
the Defendants' files, including email and hard drive
discovery, Plaintiffs have offered no evidence showing
that any Booking Agency Defendant has made any
assurance to any Promoter Defendant that it will have
exclusive access to that booking agency's top acts. Nor
have Plaintiffs have offered evidence of any assurance to
any artist that a Promoter Defendant will guarantee the
sale of tickets for concerts of less successful acts.

*18  Additionally, Plaintiffs have failed to present
evidence to show that the Booking Agency Defendants
and Promoter Defendants have an economic rationale to
participate in this alleged exchange, even considering the
alleged “interrelated and interdependent conduct.” (Id. ¶
81.) Plaintiffs allege that:

[i]n furtherance of the conspiracy,
all of the booking agency defendants
are willing to forego the enhanced
compensation they would receive

from major artists through reduced
promoter fees which would result
from unrestrained competition,
although it is apparently against
their economic self-interest. This
is because the conspiracy ensures
that all of their acts, including
their less stellar acts, will be
accepted and promoted by the
promoter defendants within each
of their geographically allocated
territories. The promoter defendants
are uniformly willing to promote
the lesser acts in exchange
for promoting the successful
acts and for their continuing
dominant presence in their assigned
geographic territories. The acts of
all of the defendants are thus
interrelated and interdependent, and
the success of the conspiracy
depends upon all of the defendants
consciously pursuing the identical
parallel conduct, which they have
done.

(Id.)

As to the Booking Agency Defendants, Plaintiffs have
failed to offer evidence that any Booking Agency
Defendant has been willing to forego this enhanced
compensation. Additionally, Defendants provide expert
evidence by Dr. Williams, who states that due to
competitive factors, the Booking Agency Defendants
could never recoup their losses from agreements such
as the one described by the Plaintiffs. (Williams Report,
J.A., Vol. I, ¶¶ 16–22, Exs. 1, 1a, 1b.) Furthermore,
such an agreement could result in the booking agency's
client, the artist, not receiving the most lucrative concert
contract with a resulting loss of income to the artist
and to the Booking Agency Defendant. According to
Dr. Williams's report, competition between the booking
agencies is intense, and artists often switch to other
booking agencies. (Id. ¶¶ 26–29.) Thus, the alleged
conspiracy would be against the economic interest of the
Booking Agency Defendants because artists who were not
receiving competitive contractual terms would switch to
another agency.
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As to the Promoter Defendants, Plaintiffs have failed
to offer evidence to support their allegation that the
Promoter Defendants promote lesser acts in exchange
for the promotion of successful acts and territorial
dominance. Again, Plaintiffs rely on Mr. Johnson's
affidavit, which states that:

WMA's interest in giving as much
lucrative business as possible to
the same promoter ensured that
the promoter would also promote
less prominent (but potentially more
promising) acts.

(R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 9, ¶ 4.)

Mr. Johnson does not state that WMA artists agreed,
or that WMA caused them to agree, to less favorable
financial terms for a concert if the promoter agreed to
promote less prominent acts. (Id .) Mr. Johnson only
states that WMA recognized that a concert promoter
benefiting from receiving prominent acts for promotion
would be more willing to promote less prominent acts.
(Id.) This testimony, while evidence of a business practice
by WMA in 1986, well prior to the limitations period,
does not show any “agreement” by WMA with any of
the Promoter Defendants to restrain trade in the United
States, which is the claim in the Amended Complaint.
Nor does it show any agreement among the concert
promoters to restrain trade in the contemporary music
concert promotion market in the United States as alleged
in the Amended Complaint and restated at oral argument.

*19  Plaintiffs also rely on the deposition testimony of
Mr. Kapp, in which he stated that when he was in the
concert promotion business, promoters “promoted acts
they otherwise would not want to promote, in the hope
or expectation that they would obtain other acts from [the
booking] agencies” (Kapp Dep., Pls.' Joint Mem. Ex. 12,
at 230) and that 20 to 30 years ago he and Defendant Jam
(Arny Granat and Jerry Mickelson) had competed in this
manner in Chicago (id. at 226–28).

Although Mr. Kapp testified that promoters do take on
“baby acts” in the hopes that they would “get another
act,” his testimony is that he and other promoters did
so not because of an ongoing arrangement between the
dominant promoters and the booking agencies or because
the marketing power of booking agencies forced them
to take on such acts, but rather because they hoped to

improve their competitive position and prestige in the area
and to receive more business from the booking agency.
(Id. at 173, 226–30.) Thus, Mr. Kapp's testimony does not
support Plaintiffs' allegation, but rather raises the strong
inference that competition among promoters led to their
taking on “baby acts” and that promoters seek to gain
an edge on their competition in the area by occasionally
taking on baby acts, even though such acts could increase
their potential liabilities. (Id.)

Additionally, Plaintiffs assert that Beaver has an
economic rationale to participate in the conspiracy
because:

[t]he promoters earn enormous
profits by reason of their control
over specific territories. The agents,
who guarantee the promoters
market exclusivity, profit by
requiring promoters to promote acts
they otherwise would not take,
a practice which provides concert
outlets for their lesser known or
new talent to become groomed for
future stardom. Attached to the
Rowe Decl. as Comp. Exhibits A
and B, respectively, are contracts
which show that Beaver has
promoted concerts with extremely
low guarantees to the artists,
sometimes as low as $1.00, and
Beaver's contracts for the superstar
acts such as Celine Dion, Eric
Clapton, Michael Bolton, Bette
Midler, among others, which Beaver
is given in exchange for promoting
the lesser known or new talent.

(Pls.' Resp. Beaver Mem. at 7 (emphasis in original)
(citations omitted).)

Exhibit A, referred to above, is a single contract on a
WMA form for the artist Protein to perform as a special
guest at Howlin' Wolf in New Orleans on April 15, 1997,
for $100 flat guarantee (not $1.00) with no deposit. (Rowe
Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, Ex. A.) The contract
contained in Exhibit A refers to Beaver as the “purchaser”
but is executed by Howlin' Wolf. Exhibit B contains
various contracts on CAA forms and a single contract on
a WMA form for the artist Korn to perform in St. Louis,
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Missouri, on April 24, 1999, with a $101,500 guarantee
(versus the right to 85% of the gross box office receipts
after the approved expenses with a deposit of $10,150)
to be paid to WMA by April 9, 1999 and the balance of
$91,350 plus $23,000 for production to be paid to Korn
prior to the first performance. (Id. Ex. B.) The Court's
review of all of the exhibits did not reveal any testimony
showing that CAA gave Beaver the various contracts
contained in Exhibit B in exchange for Beaver agreeing to
the Howlin' Wolf contract on the WMA form. Nor is a
reward from CAA likely for an alleged benefit to WMA.
Nor could the Court find any evidence linking the contract
on the WMA form for the artist Protein with the contract
on the WMA form with Beaver for the artist Korn, a

concert which occurred two years later. 59

*20  Plaintiffs have also failed to present evidence which
would tend to exclude the possibility of independent
action by the Defendants. See Monsanto, 465 U.S. at
764. Plaintiffs allege that the actions of the Defendants
were interrelated and interdependent. (Am.Compl.¶ 81.)
“Actions against the apparent individual economic self-
interest of the alleged conspirators may raise an inference
of interdependent action.” Modem Home Inst., Inc. v.
Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 513 F.2d 102, 111 (2d
Cir.1975). Evidence of actions, which are “only in one's
self interest if done in concert with others, may also
provide the basis for an inference of illegal conspiracy.” Id.
Although Mr. Kapp's testimony that concert promoters
did take on less successful acts in the hopes of receiving
other acts may show actions against the apparent self-
interest of those promoters, this conduct is “as consistent
with permissible competition as with illegal conspiracy”
and cannot, “standing alone, support an inference of
antitrust conspiracy.” See Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 588.
Mr. Kapp testified that a promoter would take this action
to improve its competitive position. (Kapp. Dep., Pls.'

Joint Mem. Ex. 12, 173, 225–30.) 60

3. Plaintiffs Have Failed to Provide Evidence of Any
Injury Resulting from the Alleged Conspiracy

Although Plaintiffs allege that they have been excluded
from promoting contemporary music concerts, Plaintiffs
have presented no evidence to show that any of the
Plaintiffs have ever been excluded from promoting in the
geographic areas designated for Jam and Beaver in the
Amended Complaint, or in any other area. Each of the
Plaintiffs do business in areas different than Jam and

Beaver. Furthermore, the Plaintiffs have seldom, if ever,
presented the Booking Agency Defendants with bids to
promote concerts. See infra pp. 48–49, 52, 54–56, 59–60,
155–57, 162–65. When Plaintiffs have made bids, Plaintiffs
have not provided evidence to show that they have been
damaged by any concerted action of the Defendants. See
infra pp. 69–71, 110–15, 148–51.

Plaintiffs assert that there is an antitrust injury because
“concerts could profitably be promoted at rates of 5% of
revenues or less,” in contrast to the 15% of the net sales
revenues they allege that Promoter Defendants currently
receive. (Am.Compl.¶ 80.) Not only have Plaintiffs offered

no evidence to support this alleged antitrust injury, 61

such an injury does not support a § 1 claim because higher
promoter fees in the industry tend to benefit Plaintiffs as
promoters. Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 585 n. 8.

Even if Plaintiffs had antitrust standing, taking the
evidence as a whole, no showing of conspiracy is plausible
and no reasonable jury could infer a conspiracy in
restraint of trade from the evidence Plaintiffs have
provided. Thus, Defendants' motions for summary
judgment as to the section 1 of the Sherman Act are
granted.

IV. DISCRIMINATION CLAIMS
*21  In addition to their claim under the Sherman

Act, Plaintiffs have brought claims for compensatory
and punitive damages and injunctive relief under three
provisions of the Civil Rights Acts of 1866 and of 1991, 42
U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1985(3) and 1986.

A. Legal Standard for Summary Judgment Motion

1. Applicable Statutes
Section 1981 provides, in pertinent part, that all persons
“shall have the same right ... to make and enforce
contracts ... and to the full and equal benefit of all
laws and proceedings for the security of persons and

property as is enjoyed by white citizens .” 62  42 U.S.C.
§ 1981(a). In order to succeed under § 1981, a plaintiff
must present evidence to “show both that he was subjected
to intentional discrimination, and that this discrimination
interfered with a contractual relationship.” Murray v.
Nat'l Broad. Co., 844 F.2d 988, 995 (2d Cir.1988) (citations
omitted); see also Runyon v. McCrary, 427 U.S. 160, 170–
71 (1976) (“[Section 1981] right to ‘make and enforce
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contracts' is violated if a private offeror refuses to extend
[on account of race] the same opportunity to enter into
contracts as he extends to white offerees.”); Gant v.
Wallingford Bd. of Educ., 195 F.3d 134, 139–40 (2d
Cir.1999) (“In order for plaintiff to prevail on his claims
for violation of ... 42 U.S.C. § 1981, proof of racially
discriminatory intent is required.”).

Section 1985(3) prohibits, in pertinent part, conspiracies
undertaken “for the purpose of depriving, either directly
or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the
equal protection of the laws, or of equal privileges or
immunities under the laws” and provides for “an action
for the recovery of damages occasioned by such injury or
deprivation, against any one or more of the conspirators.”
42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). To prevail on a claim under § 1985(3),
a plaintiff must demonstrate that defendants “(1) engaged
in a conspiracy; (2) for the purpose of depriving, either
directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons the
equal protection of the laws, or the equal privileges and
immunities under the laws; (3) acted in furtherance of
the conspiracy; and (4) deprived such person or class of
persons the exercise of any right or privilege of a citizen
of the United States.” N.Y. State Nat'l Org. for Women v.
Terry, 886 F.2d 1339, 1358 (2d Cir.1989); see also Griffin
v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102–03 (1971).

As in § 1981, a showing of intent is crucial in a §
1985(3) claim. “[I]n order to prove a private conspiracy in
violation of the first clause of § 1985(3), a plaintiff must
show, inter alia, (1) that some racial, or perhaps otherwise
class-based, invidiously discriminatory animus lay behind
the conspirators' action, and (2) that the conspiracy aimed
at interfering with rights that are protected against private,
as well as official, encroachment.” Bray v. Alexandria
Women's Health Clinic, 506 U.S. 263, 267–68 (1993)
(internal quotations omitted).

*22  Section 1986 provides a private cause of action
for neglect to prevent conspiracy. Specifically, it states
that “[e]very person who, having knowledge [of a §
1985 conspiracy] and having power to prevent or aid in
preventing the commission of the same, neglects or refuses
so to do, ... shall be liable ... for all damages caused by such
wrongful act, which such person by reasonable diligence
could have prevented.” 42 U.S.C. § 1986. An action for
neglect to prevent a conspiracy must be “commenced
within one year after the cause of action has accrued.” Id.

2. Discrimination Summary Judgment Standard
In “a discrimination case where intent and state of
mind are in dispute, summary judgment is ordinarily
inappropriate.” Carlton v.. Mystic Transp., Inc., 202 F.3d
129, 134 (2d Cir.2000). Accordingly, “a trial court should
exercise caution when granting summary judgment to a
[defendant] where ... its intent is a genuine factual issue.”
Id.

Nonetheless, at times summary judgment can be
appropriate in discrimination cases. “For a plaintiff in
a discrimination case to survive a motion for summary
judgment, he must do more than present ‘conclusory
allegations of discrimination,’ he must offer ‘concrete
particulars' to substantiate his claim.” Murphy v. Bd.
of Educ., 273 F.Supp.2d 292, 299–300 (quoting Meiri
v. Dacon, 759 F.2d 989, 998 (2d Cir.1985)). As the
Second Circuit has pointed out, “To allow a party
to defeat a motion for summary judgment by offering
purely conclusory allegations of discrimination, absent
any concrete particulars, would necessitate a trial in all
Title VII cases.” Meiri, 759 F.2d at 998; see also Abdu–
Brisson v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 239 F.3d 456, 466 (2d
Cir.2001) (“It is now beyond cavil that summary judgment
may be appropriate even in the fact-intensive context
of discrimination cases.”); Bickerstaff v. Vassar Coll.,
196 F.3d 435, 452 (2d Cir.1999) (“Statements that are
devoid of any specifics, but replete with conclusions, are
insufficient to defeat a properly supported motion for
summary judgment.”).

In determining summary judgment motions under § 1981,
the courts have generally applied the same analysis utilized
in Title VII cases, following the burden-shifting scheme
established by McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411
U.S. 792, 802 (U.S.1973) and Texas Dep't of Cmty. Affairs
v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 252–53 (1981). See St. Mary's
Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506 n. 1 (1993)
(assuming that the “McDonnell Douglas framework is
fully applicable to racial-discrimination-in-employment
claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983”); Patterson v. McLean
Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 186 (1989) (stating that
the McDonnell Douglas/Burdine scheme of proof “should
apply to claims of racial discrimination under § 1981”).

Under McDonnell Douglas, “the plaintiff has the [initial]
burden of proving by the preponderance of the evidence a

prima facie case of discrimination.” 63  Burdine, 450 U.S.
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at 252–53. The burden then shifts to the defendant to
articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its
employment action. Raytheon Co. v.. Hernandez, 540 U.S.
44, 50 n. 3 (2003); McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.
If the defendant satisfies this burden, the presumption
of intentional discrimination disappears. Raytheon, 540
U.S. at 50 n. 3; McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.
The plaintiff then “must be afforded the ‘opportunity
to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the
legitimate reasons offered by the defendant were not its
true reasons, but were a pretext for discrimination.” ’
Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc., 530 U.S.
133, 143 (2000) (quoting Burdine, 450 U.S. at 253)).
“[A] plaintiff's prima facie case, combined with sufficient
evidence to find that the employer's asserted justification
is false, may permit the trier of fact to conclude that the
employer unlawfully discriminated.” Reeves, 530 U.S. at
148.

*23  Under the McDonnell Douglas standard, the
Supreme Court has found summary judgment on behalf
of a defendant appropriate when (1) “the plaintiff
created only a weak issue of fact as to whether
the employer's reason was untrue and there was
abundant and uncontroverted independent evidence that
no discrimination had occurred;” or (2) “the record
conclusively revealed some other, nondiscriminatory
reason for the employer's decision.” Reeves, 530 U.S. at
148.

B. General Claims Regarding Bidding and
Contemporary Music Concert Promotion

The Amended Complaint alleges that the Defendants
prevented and conspired to prevent Plaintiffs from
entering concert promotion contracts for white artists and
major black artists because of their race. (Am.Compl.¶
5.) As for Plaintiffs' prima facie case under § 1981, it is
uncontroverted that Plaintiffs are members of a racial
minority, and thus, meet the first element of proof set forth
in McDonnell Douglas.

As to the second element of McDonnell Douglas, whether
Plaintiffs applied and were qualified for a position, the
Amended Complaint alleges that Plaintiffs are “skilled,
experienced and financially sound concert promoters,”
who “are regularly retained by booking agents, including
booking agency defendants named herein, to promote
concerts throughout the United States” (id. ¶ 4), and that
“[d]uring the last several years, plaintiffs have accounted

for most of the business done by black concert promoters
within the United States” (id. ¶ 1). These allegations have
been shown to be largely false and misleading.

1. Promotion Records of Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs have admitted that for several years they
have submitted only a few bids for concert promotions
and that they have not had a record of successful
contemporary music concert promotion remotely equal
to that of the concert Promoter Defendants. Plaintiffs
also have presented no evidence that they have been
regularly retained to promote concerts throughout the
United States or in the Amended Complaint's designated
territories for the Promoter Defendants Jam and Beaver.
Furthermore, other black promoters have accounted for
most of the business done by black promoters in the
United States. The following facts, unless otherwise noted,
are undisputed.

(i) Leonard Rowe, Rowe Entertainment
Leonard Rowe has worked in the concert promotion
business for over twenty-six years. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 52.)
He is currently president of Rowe Entertainment, Inc.,
which was incorporated in 1998 and is located in Atlanta,
Georgia. (Id. ¶¶ 53–54.) Mr. Rowe mainly specializes in R
& B music, not pop or rock. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI,
at 237.) Rowe Entertainment employs one other person,
LaShonda Goodwin, who serves as secretary to Mr. Rowe

and Rowe Entertainment. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 54.) 64

(a) Bids
Mr. Rowe does not remember having submitted any
written proposals to promote concerts from 1988 to 1998.

(Id. ¶ 60.) 65  From 1998 to 2001, he submitted at most
three written offers, not for concerts, but for national

tours. 66  Mr. Rowe has never submitted a written bid to

promote a white artist. (Id. ¶ 61.) 67  Additionally, he has
never bid for any concert that a white promoter bid on at

the same time. (Id. ¶ 63.) 68

(b) Track Record as a Promoter
*24  Plaintiffs acknowledge that Plaintiff Rowe

promoted no more that ten shows per year and most of
those were co-promotion arrangements. (Pls.' Rev. Jam

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 35.) 69  All of the shows he worked on were
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co-promotions, and most were done through Mr. Alex
Haymon, a successful black promoter. (Rowe Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 88.) Mr. Haymon would take financial
responsibility for the tour, while Mr. Rowe was involved
primarily with facilitating advertising and doing general
street promotion. (Id. at 697–699; Haymon Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. IV, at 498–99.) Mr. Haymon testified that while
working with Mr. Rowe during the period from 1990 to
2002, Mr. Rowe never put any of his own money at risk.

(Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 499.) 70

In the period from 1991 to 2001, Mr. Rowe was involved in
the promotion of live contemporary music performances
outside the state of Georgia on only two occasions. (Joint

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 55.) 71  Mr. Rowe has not acted as the lead
promoter for any concert since the mid–1980s, when he
promoted two shows for the Temptations in Georgia

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 56; 72  Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
64, 67–68, 1117), nor has he paid an artist deposit or a

venue deposit (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 88–89). 73

Mr. Rowe did promote a concert tour for the Jacksons in
1979. (Aff. of Mahlon Jackson, dated Apr. 10, 2003, Pls.'
Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. Ex. 2, ¶ 4.) In 1979, Rowe stopped
payment on a check for the Jacksons for $150,000. (Rowe
Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 329–30.) He was not called on to
promote the Jackson Tours in 1981 or 1984. (Id. at 1129–
30.) The Jacksons have not used Mr. Rowe for concert
promotion since 1979. (Id. at 333.)

(c) Financial Capabilities

In 1984, Mr. Rowe filed for bankruptcy. (Id. ¶ 68.) 74

His gross income that year was $20,000, and he owed at
least $312,000 to the Columbus Bank and Trust, which
sued him that year for $600,000. (Id.) Mr. Rowe also had
a number of civil lawsuits filed against him for smaller
outstanding debts, several tax liens issued against him,
and approximately $50,000 in other secured debt. (Id.)
At the time of his deposition in 2002, Mr. Rowe had an
outstanding balance owed to Columbus Bank and Trust
in the amount of approximately $600,000 in principal and
interest. (Id. ¶ 70.)

In 1986, Mr. Rowe was indicted by a grand jury for
passing a check drawn on a non-existent bank account.
(Id. ¶ 72.) Mr. Rowe pleaded guilty and was ordered to
serve three years probation. (Id.) The terms of Mr. Rowe's
probation included paying restitution in the amount of

$5,833 by May 1, 1987. (Id.) Mr. Rowe was arrested on
or about June 8, 1987, for failing to pay the restitution
and was subsequently sentenced to serve six months in
state prison for violating the terms of his probation. (Id. ¶
73.) Mr. Rowe was convicted of wire fraud for his role in
the cashing of a fraudulent insurance check in or around
1984 and sentenced to five years in a federal penitentiary.
(Id. ¶ 74.) He was incarcerated from October 1990 to
April 1992. (Id.) Mr. Rowe has been arrested on other
occasions for writing bad checks. (Id. ¶ 75.) Additionally,
Mr. Rowe had at least seven tax liens issued against him
from 1979 to 1995. (Id.) Mr. Rowe's accountant ultimately
negotiated a deal with the federal government, and, after
the commencement of this litigation, Mr. Rowe had paid
a portion of his debt and was released from the liens by
1999. (Id.; Rowe Dep., J.A., Vol. VI, at 474–75.)

*25  Before the start of this lawsuit, Mr. Rowe earned
$52,000 in income from concerts in 1996, and he earned

$79,000 from concerts in 1997. 75  (Id. ¶ 71.)

(ii) Jesse Boseman, Sun Song Productions
Plaintiff Boseman formed Sun Song Productions, Inc.
(“Sun Song”) in 1976. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 97.) Mr.
Boseman is its sole shareholder and chief executive.
(Am.Compl.¶ 14.) In addition to Sun Song, Mr. Boseman
has formed two other businesses: Harlem International
Records and Black Expo. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol.
III, at 79–80.) Black Expo is a consumer exposition for
entrepreneurs seeking to develop their businesses. (Id.
at 80.) Sun Song is located in New York and has two
full-time employees, Mary Cassaberry, who serves as
office manager and Shahana Williams, who serves as a
receptionist. (Boseman Dep., in Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt.
Exs., Vol. II, at 127–30.) About half of Ms. Cassaberry's
time is spent working on Black Expo matters. (Cassaberry
Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 40.) Additionally, Sun Song
has several independent contractors it uses to work on
promotions. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 130–32.)

(a) Bids
Mr. Boseman does not know if Sung Song has submitted
a written bid to any booking agency in the last five years.

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 112.) 76  In discovery, Mr. Boseman
produced only three concert contracts for performances
and all were for concerts after the commencement of
this action. (Id. ¶ 113.) One of these concerts was by an
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artist represented by WMA. (J.A. Vol. II, Ex. 35 (Letter
from Berkeley Reinhold of WMA to Phil Robinson, Jesse
Boseman and Brian O'Connell, dated Aug. 17, 1999,
regarding a Maxwell concert).) During his thirty-year
career, Mr. Boseman has never submitted a written bid to
any booking agency to promote any white artist. (Joint

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 111.) 77

(b) Track Record as a Promoter
Plaintiffs acknowledge that Mr. Boseman has promoted
an average of ten shows per year for the last decade,
almost all of which were co-promotions. (Pls.' Rev.
Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 36.) Mr. Boseman works on concerts
almost exclusively in his local market of “New York
and along the East Coast of the United States.” (Joint

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 100.) 78  He has never promoted a national

tour. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 101.) 79  According to Ms.
Cassaberry, approximately 90% of Sun Song's business is
co-promotion, 75% of which is done through Al Haymon.
(Cassaberry Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 27.) In the last
twenty years, Mr. Boseman has worked almost exclusively
as a “consultant” or “street promoter” for Al Haymon,
distributing flyers and hanging up posters in the New

York area for a fixed fee. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 104.) 80

As a consultant, Mr. Boseman provides “promotional
expertise” and gets paid whether the show makes or loses
money. (Id. ¶ 108.)

(c) Financial Capabilities
Sun Song has a line of credit with Chase Bank with a
maximum authorized amount of $50,000, from which it
has never drawn. (Id. ¶ 115.) Typically, Mr. Boseman's
investors in shows are his accountant, his doctor, and
sometimes his lawyer. (Id. ¶ 116.) The largest deposit Sun
Song has ever paid was $100,000 in connection with an R.
Kelly show on May 8, 2000, of which Sun Song only paid
half, or $50,000. (Id. ¶ 117.)

*26  Mr. Boseman's tax returns for 1996 to 1999 show
that his adjusted gross income for each tax year was a
negative number (i.e., negative $1,992 for 1999 and as
low as negative $17,511 for 1996). (Id. ¶ 118.) Sun Song's
financial statements for 1994 to 2000 show that its net
income was negative for all but one year. (Id. ¶ 119.) In
1997, which was Sun Song's most successful year, its net
income was $12,464. (Id. ¶ 120.)

(iii) Lee King, King Productions
Mr. King is a local promoter in Jackson, Mississippi, and
has been in the concert business for approximately thirty
years. (Id. ¶ 79.) Mr. King formed Lee King Productions in
1978. (Id. ¶ 81.) Lee King Productions has no regular, full-
time employees, and its offices are located in Mr. King's

home. (Id. ¶ 84.) 81

(a) Bids
Mr. King has said that he either never submitted, or has
no recollection of submitting, a bid to CAA (Aff. of Lee
King, dated Apr. 24, 2003 (“King CAA Aff.”), attached
as Ex. 4 to Exs. Pls.' Resp. in Opp'n to CAA's Mot. for
Summ. J., undated (received May 5, 2003) (“Pls.' CAA
Exs.”), ¶ 21), WMA (King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 1065–
66), or Renaissance (id. at 813–15). Mr. King could cite
no example of when he submitted a bid for a major black
act which he “believes” was turned down because of a
conspiracy on the part of Defendants. (Id. at 218.) Mr.
King testified that since he has been a concert promoter
he has never put in a bid on a major white act. (Id.)

(b) Track Record as a Promoter
Plaintiff King has promoted an average of four shows per
year. (Pls.' Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. of Disputed Facts in
Supp. of Resp. Renaissance's Mot. for Summ. J., dated
Apr. 24, 2003 (“Pls.' Renaissance 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 10.) Mr.
King has not been the lead promoter in any concert since
he promoted the Gap Band from 1983 to 1984 and has
never been the lead promoter for a national tour. (Joint
56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 88–89.) All concerts for which Mr. King
was the lead promoter were in Mississippi, except for two
concerts in Louisiana in 1983. (Id. ¶ 90.)

Mr. King testified that he has had no promotion contracts
since 1998 and that most of his work has come through Al
Haymon. (King Dep ., in J.A., Vol. V, at 103.) Although
Mr. King consults on Mr. Haymon's national tours, Mr.
King's work generally is performed in Mississippi, which
is his local market. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 92.) Mr. Haymon
would consult with Mr. King regarding issues like ticket
prices, media and street promotion in the Mississippi
market. (Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 37.) In the last
20 years, Mr. King has not put up money for an artist or
venue deposit, nor did he risk have any of his own money
while working with Mr. Haymon. (Id. at 33–35.) Mr. King
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produced a total of five concert contracts during discovery

for this action. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 94 .) 82

(c) Financial Capabilities
Mr. King owns real estate valued at $52,000, but does not
own stock worth over $10,000 or have a bank account with
a balance in excess of $10,000. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol.
V, at 212.) Lee King Productions has never applied for
a loan and did not have a credit card until 2001. (Joint

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 85.) 83  Lee King Productions relies on cash
reserves and individual investors for capital. (King Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. V, at 151–52.) The largest guarantee that
Lee King Productions has paid is approximately $12,500.
(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 87.) Mr. King's financial records show
that his net income for 1993, 1995, and 1996 were all in the
negative (respectively, negative $5,168, negative $25,446,
and negative $26,197). (Id. ¶ 96.)

(iv) Fred Jones, Summitt Management Corporation

(a) General
*27  Mr. Jones has promoted concerts since 1976, initially

under the name Star Entertainment, a company he formed
in 1981. (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 12–13.) Star
Entertainment declared bankruptcy and went out of
business in 1982 or 1983 after a series of shows promoted
by Mr. Jones were not profitable. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶

121 .) 84  Mr. Jones then formed Summitt in 1984 85  (Pls.'
Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 122; Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV,
at 19), which focuses on event management for corporate
clients (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 18–20). Most of
its business is pulling in events for corporate sponsors

as opposed to concert promotions for artists. 86  In this
capacity as consultant for corporate-sponsored events,
Mr. Jones usually receives a fixed fee for his services and
does not assume any financial risk in the success or failure
of the concert engagements on which he consults. (Id. at
213–19.)

Plaintiffs acknowledge that Plaintiff Jones has promoted
an average of three to four shows per year but only in
the capacity of co-promoter. (Pls.' Rev. Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶
37.) During the entirety of his career, Mr. Jones, through
Summitt, has never submitted a bid to promote a concert

involving a white artist. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 128.) 87  Mr.
Jones testified that no one at any time has ever prevented

him from submitting a bid for a white act. (Jones Dep., in
J.A., Vol. IV, at 227–28.)

Mr. Jones promotes almost exclusively in Memphis,
Tennessee, and has not actively sought to promote any
concerts outside of Memphis since the early 1980s. (Joint
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 130.) Mr. Jones has not submitted a bid for

an entire tour for any artist since 1981. (Id. ¶ 127.) 88

In 2000 and 2001, the only concert event that Mr. Jones
personally promoted, i.e., assumed the financial risk, was
the “Southern Heritage Classic,” an annual weekend event
Mr. Jones started in 1990 that involves a football game
between two historically black colleges and performances

by musical artists at different venues in Memphis. 89  (Id.
¶ 125.)

(b) Island Events
In 1992, Summitt Management and Mid–South Concerts,
a company owned by white promoter Bob Kelley, formed
a partnership called Island Events. (Jones Beaver Decl.,
Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 5.) Plaintiffs assert that Mid–South
Concerts was the dominant promoter in Memphis. (Pls.'
Resp. Beaver Mem. at 21.) Island Events, in which
Mr. Jones was a one-third partner, promoted numerous
concerts of white and black artists at the Mud Island
Amphitheatre in Memphis, Tennessee. (Joint 56.1 Stmt.

¶¶ 139–41.) 90

2. Promotion Records of Other Successful Black
Promoters

The evidence shows that other black concert promoters

have been far more successful than Plaintiffs. 91  Non-
party Alex Haymon, a black promoter, testified that his
company promoted an average 150 shows per year since

1985. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 168, 170; 92  Haymon Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. IV, at 26–27.) Plaintiff King testified that
Mr. Haymon has a bigger volume of business than the
Plaintiffs collectively. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at
208.) Mr. Haymon testified that his success has been
greater than that of most “white” concert promoters.

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 170.) 93  Mr. Haymon has offices in
Boston and Atlanta, in which he employs eight to ten
full-time employees to handle all aspects of promotion
and production. (Id. ¶ 176.) He also employs eight to
ten contract employees for tours. (Id.) Mr. Haymon has
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put up pre-performance deposits of $1,000,000. (Haymon
Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 139–40.)

*28  Non-party Darryl Brooks, a black promoter,
testified he promotes 100 to 200 concerts per year. (Joint

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 189.) 94  His company, CD Enterprises,
has seven employees that handle all aspects of concert

production and promotion. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 190.) 95

Non-party Larry Bailey, a black promoter, has been
promoting since 1962, mainly on the West Coast. (Joint
56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 181–82, 184.) Mr. Bailey testified that
approximately 50% of the concerts he, or his company
Lar–Vic, has promoted in his career have been for white

artists. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 186; 96  L. Bailey Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. III,. at 21–22.)

Non-party Bill Washington, a black promoter, promoted
forty-three concert events in 1999, thirty-two concert
events in 2000, thirty-nine concerts events in 2001, and
nineteen concert events from January through May of
2002. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 191, 193.) Mr. Washington
testified that he has paid pre-performance deposits in the
amount of $100,000. (Id. ¶ 192.)

Non-party Earvin “Magic” Johnson, Jr., a black
promoter, owns Magic Johnson Productions (“MJP”)
which, since 1998, has profitably promoted or co-
promoted several national concert tours for major artists.
(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 194–95.)

3. Promotion Records of Promoter Defendants
In their motion papers replying to Jam's motion, Plaintiffs
assert that concert Promoter Defendant Jam promotes on
average 600 or 700 shows per year, and in 2001 and 2002,
promoted 400 to 1,200 shows. (Pls.' Rev. Jam 56.1 Stmt.
¶ ¶ 3–4.) Jam counters that this figure included all shows,
not only contemporary music events, and events in other
cities, and that in the Chicago area, it promotes 200 to 300
or more contemporary music concerts a year. (Mickelson
Decl. II, Roberts Decl. Ex. 1, ¶ 18.) Plaintiffs assert that
Jam has dominated the Chicago area since the late 1970s
or early 1980s. (Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex.
1, ¶ 11.)

Beaver, on average, has promoted 200 concerts per year
throughout North America. (Leff Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex.
4, at 104.) The majority of these concerts have occurred

in the greater New Orleans area. (Fox Decl., Beaver Ex.
1, ¶ 3) Plaintiffs assert that Beaver has been dominant in
the areas designated in the complaint since the early 1980s.
(Pls.' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 22.)

4. Plaintiffs Have Not Shown They Submitted Bids
to Booking Agency Defendants as Required Under
McDonnell Douglas

Plaintiffs have presented virtually no evidence
demonstrating that they submitted bids to any Booking
Agency Defendant for a concert later promoted by

any Promoter Defendant, or any other promoter. 97

In fact, the unrebutted evidence is that Plaintiffs had
little contact with the Booking Agency Defendants until
immediately before this lawsuit was filed. According to
Peter Grosslight, senior vice president of WMA, Plaintiffs
“were not, at least in the past 10 years, among the concert
promoters who actively sought to promote concerts by
WMA's clients.” (Grosslight Decl. I ¶ 17.) Rob Light,
director of CAA's music division, testified that the first
contact he had with Mr. Rowe was in 1996; that prior
to this litigation, he knew that Mr. Boseman was a
promoter in New York, but believed he did not promote
shows by himself; and that prior to this litigation he
had no knowledge of Mr. King or Mr. Jones. (Light
Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 435–37.) Also, David Zedeck,
president of Renaissance, stated that prior to the service
of the complaint he had no knowledge of Plaintiffs Rowe,
Boseman or King as concert promoters or otherwise and
recalled Plaintiff Jones as a producer of corporate events
not as an independent concert promoter. (Zedeck Decl. I
¶¶ 13–14.)

*29  Plaintiffs themselves have repeatedly admitted their
own lack of bids. They take the position that, given the
long-standing discrimination in the industry and the lack
of a true competitive atmosphere, submitting bids would
have been a worthless endeavor on the part of black

promoters. 98  (See, e.g., Boseman Dep., in Pls. Am. Joint
56.1 Stmt., Vol. II, at 370; Jones Dep., in Pls.' Am. Joint
56.1 Stmt., Vol. II, at 226–28; King CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA
Ex. 4, ¶ 21; Aff. of Leonard Rowe, dated Apr. 24, 2003
(“Rowe CAA Aff .”), Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 200.)

As part of this alleged long-standing discrimination, the
Amended Complaint asserts that “[n]o black promoter,
including plaintiffs, has been able to contract to promote
a contemporary music concert given by a white artist,
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or even been given the opportunity to bid on such
promotion,” and “plaintiffs are regularly excluded from
the promotion of concerts given by top-drawing black
performers.” (Am.Compl.¶ 1.) The evidence shows,
however, that black concert promoters have promoted
concerts for well-known white artists as well as well-
known black artists. Although Mr. Haymon focuses
his business on urban music by major black artists, he
has promoted white artists, including Jean Luc Ponte,
Charles Aznavour, Steely Dan, Vanilla Ice, Christina
Aguilera, Jessica Simpson, Dream, Cleo Laine and John
Dankworth. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 202.) Also, contrary
to the allegations in paragraph one of the Amended
Complaint, black promoters have promoted major black
artists. Mr. Haymon promoted the following major black
artists: Janet Jackson when she was represented by CAA;
Whitney Houston when she was represented by WMA
(Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 124); Destiny's
Child with CAA (id. at 176–77); New Edition with CAA
(id. at 204–05); and Stevie Wonder with CAA (id. at
205). Mr. Brooks has promoted or co-promoted the
following white acts: Rolling Stones, Conway Twitty,
Waylon Jennings, Willie Nelson, and Eminem. (Brooks
Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 26–29, 40.) Mr. Bailey has
promoted numerous white acts over the course of his
career, including Steppenwolf, Three Dog Night, Johnny
Winter, Robin Trower and Edgar Winter, Harry Connick,
Jr., Kenny G, War and the Average White Band, and
the rock groups Styx, Rush, Kiss and the Young Rascals.

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 201.) 99  Mr. Washington has promoted
or co-promoted the following white acts: New Kids on the
Block (Washington Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 245–246);
Joan Baez (id. at 294); Michael Franks, Rare Earth, The
Average White Band, and Santana (id. at 141–47). (Joint
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 203.)

Plaintiffs also assert that submitting bids would be futile
because concert Promoter Defendants are automatically
awarded concerts without submitting bids. Plaintiffs
maintain that “Beaver has willingly accepted the
promoting opportunities the agencies have given to
it without even having to bid, knowing that black
promoters, including the Plaintiffs, were never told about
these dates, much less given an opportunity to bid for

them.” 100  (Pls .' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 18.) Similarly,
Plaintiffs claim there is not competitive bidding in Jam's
territory and that this is well known to Jam. (Rowe Jam
Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 9.) Plaintiffs, however,
cite to no evidence that Jam or Beaver did not submit

bids for concerts. Beaver, on the other hand, produced
copies of bids submitted containing the date and venue,
the amount of the artist guarantee and artist/promoter
split of gross less expenses plus a list of expenses. (Court
Ex. A (handed in at Hearing on 10/16/03); see also Aff. of
Steven Mark Grishman, dated Mar. 13, 2003 (“Grishman
Aff.”), attached as Ex. 1 to Beaver Reply Mem., ¶ 8
(stating that the documents with Bates numbers matching
those of Court Exhibit A contain ninety-seven separate
and distinct bid sheets).)

*30  Mr. Rowe asserts that he has examined the files of
the Defendants and that Defendant Promoters are not

required to submit written bids . 101  (Rowe CAA Aff.,
Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 11; Aff. of Leonard Rowe, dated Apr.
21, 2003 (“Rowe WMA Aff.”), Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 1,
¶ 12; Aff. of Leonard Rowe, dated Apr. 24, 2003 (“Rowe
Renaissance Aff.”), Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 1, ¶ 9.) WMA
has produced to the Court data based on its computer
files, furnished to Plaintiffs in discovery, showing the
number of bids received, accepted, and rejected, as well
as documents showing that bids of the so-called dominant
promoters had been rejected. (Decl. of Peter Grosslight,
dated May 22, 2003 (“Grosslight Decl. II”), ¶ 14, Ex. 5;
see also Lewis Decl. ¶ 12, Exs. 5, 6.)

In addition to the aforementioned evidence contradicting
his assertion, Mr. Rowe's claim of no bids is implausible.
Artists and artists' managers would not enter into a
contract without receiving information from the concert
promoter about the back end split, the venue, venue
seating capacity, the artist's guaranteed profit and deposit
arrangement and agreed upon expenses to be deducted
from gross profits. Additionally, if they did not prefer the
promoter for other reasons, the artist or artist's manager
would want to see evidence that the bid was competitively
priced. Defendants have a policy to pass on all bona fide
bids to artists or artists' managers. (Grosslight Decl. I
¶ 17; Light Decl. I ¶ 10.) Furthermore, the independent
evidence from artists' managers is that they received the
bids when selecting promoters, and this testimony has
not been challenged by Plaintiffs. (Azoff Decl., Grosslight
Decl. I Ex. 1, ¶ 5; Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 103;
Brown Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 23–29; Weisner Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 8, 12, 26–27, 29.)

(i) Conclusion
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Plaintiffs have not presented evidence that they applied
to be the promoters of contemporary music concerts that
the Defendant Promoters Jam and Beaver were successful
in contracting. Furthermore, the undisputed evidence
strongly suggests that Plaintiffs Rowe, Boseman and King
did not have the capital, credit record, financial resources
or record of successful concert promotion to compete
for major acts with established black or white concert
promoters. The evidence shows only that Plaintiffs have
marginal backgrounds as independent concert promoters.

Plaintiffs have also failed present evidence of a general
conspiracy among the Booking Agency and concert
Promoter Defendants to discriminate against Plaintiffs
because of their race.

C. Claims Against the Promoter Defendants
As discussed below, the specific incidents which Plaintiffs
claim demonstrate racial discrimination by Jam and
Beaver in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 are not supported
by evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact
sufficient to survive the Defendants' summary judgment
motions. Jam and Beaver were purchasers of artist talent.
Plaintiffs have not shown that Jam or Beaver took any
action in violation of § 1981 that affected Plaintiffs' ability
to purchase artist talent. Nor have Plaintiffs provided
any evidence to support their claim that Jam or Beaver
were members of a conspiracy with the Booking Agency
Defendants to exclude Plaintiffs from the contemporary
music concert promotion market in violation of § 1985(3).
Therefore, Plaintiffs have no basis for their § 1986 claim
against Jam and Beaver.

1. Jam Productions Ltd.'s Motion for Summary
Judgment

*31  The claims of discrimination against Plaintiffs by
Jam in the Amended Complaint are based on two alleged
overt acts by Jam in connection with the Maxwell tours
in 1998 and 1999 and the Kenny G/Toni Braxton tour
in 1997. (Am.Compl.¶¶ 87(d), 87(f).) Additionally, the
Plaintiffs' Revised Memorandum of Law in Opposition to
Jam's Motion for Summary Judgment claims that “Jam
has never permitted a black promoter to work with it
on a single white act” and that this is evidence of Jam's
intent to discriminate against Plaintiffs in violation of
§ 1981. (Pls.' Rev. Jam. Mem., dated Mar. 12, 2003, at
6.) Also, Plaintiffs allege that Jam has participated in
a conspiracy to exclude black concert promoters from

promoting white and top-drawing black artists and cite
Jam's alleged dominance in the Chicago area and receipt
of more favorable contract terms, such as deposit and
method of payment requirements in Jam's contracts, as
evidence of this conspiracy to discriminate. (Id. at 15–17.)

Plaintiffs have not presented any direct evidence to
support any of these claims. Accordingly, the Court will
examine the evidence presented by Plaintiffs to determine
if they have provided evidence from which it may be
inferred that Jam has violated §§ 1981, 1985(3), or 1986.

(i) The 1998 and 1999 Maxwell Tours

(a) Amended Complaint Claim
Plaintiffs' claim of discrimination in paragraph 87(d) of
the Amended Complaint reads as follows:

Prior to the filing of this action,
plaintiffs sought the opportunity to
promote concerts given by black
R & B artist Maxwell, Rolling
Stone Magazine's Breakthrough
Artist of 1996. The BPA contacted
Jeff Frasco in or about June
1998, an agent at William
Morris's Beverly Hills office, who
verbally committed to having black
promoters involved in Maxwell's
concerts. Shortly thereafter,
however, plaintiffs discovered that
promoter defendants had been
retained to promote concert dates
for Maxwell, and that plaintiffs
were excluded. After this action was
filed, defendants William Morris,
BGP, Bill Silva Presents, Jam,
Ltd., Cellar Door, SFX, Electric
Factory, Delsener/Slater, Pace, Don
Law and co-conspirator Universal
Concerts excluded plaintiffs from
bidding on the contracts for the
promotions of the concerts on
the 1999 tour given by Maxwell.
These defendants, acting in concert,
“engaged” a company called Magic
Johnson Enterprises (MJE), named
after a black basketball star, Magic
Johnson, as purported co-promoter

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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of the Maxwell tour, in lieu of
engaging any of the plaintiffs.
Neither Magic Johnson nor MJE
has any experience in the concert
promotion business. Defendants'
conduct is a maneuver designed
to create the false illusion that
defendants' have engaged a black
promoter on the Maxwell tour. In
reality, defendants' act evidences
their intention to perpetuate the
conspiracy.

(Am.Compl.¶ 87(d).)

(b) Review of Facts
The Court's review of the facts in evidence as to the
Maxwell tour are as follows and are undisputed unless
otherwise noted. In 1998, Plaintiff Rowe sought the
opportunity to promote a tour of seven or more concerts
to be given by black R & B artist Maxwell, Rolling Stone
Magazine's Breakthrough Artist of 1996. In or about

June 1998, the Black Promoters Association (“BPA”) 102

through Plaintiff Rowe contacted Jeff Frasco, an agent in
WMA's Beverly Hills office, who verbally committed to
having black promoters involved in Maxwell's concerts.
(Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls. Rev. Jam Ex. 1, ¶ 16.) Subsequently,
on July 20, 1998, Plaintiff Rowe Entertainment wrote
Mr. Frasco, stating that it was making a “firm offer” for
several markets associated with the Maxwell tour. The
markets and remainder of the letter read as follows:

*32  If any additional markets are added to the
Maxwell tour, we would appreciate notification so that
we may have the privilege of submitting offers for those
as well. Also, please direct these offers to the responsible

agent for each market. 103

(Rowe 1998 Maxwell Offer, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1A,
at 1.)

Following oral negotiations, on about September 1, 1998,
Magic Johnson Productions (“MJP”) received a written
offer to be the tour promoter with local concert promoters
for the 1998 Maxwell tour for a 50% interest in the profit
or loss of each concert. (Letter from Matthew Burrows
of WMA to Ervin Johnson of MJP, dated as of Sept.
1, 1998 (“Maxwell Letter from WMA to MJP, dated
Sept. 1, 1998”), attached as Ex. 1E to Pls.' Rev. Jam

Mem. Exs.) 104  MJP is owned by Magic Johnson, who
is black. (E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex. 3, ¶ 4.)
Mr. Johnson confirms that he had been “retained as the
lead promoter” for a 1998 tour by Maxwell. (Id. ¶ 8.) Mr.
Johnson states that in creating MJP he “assembled an
experienced and capable concert promotion staff” headed
by Phil Robinson, who is black and had numerous years of
experience in the music industry prior to coming to MJP as
manager. (Id. ¶ 6.) Earlier WMA schedules, dated August
5 and August 15, 1998, for Maxwell's 1998 fall tour, show
Magic Johnson Enterprises (MJE), which is also owned by
Mr. Johnson, scheduled for specific concerts with various
local promoters, including Jam for October 9 and 10,
1998, at the Arie Crown Theater, an arena of 4,302 seats,
in Chicago. (Pls. Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1A at 2, Ex. B at

1.) 105

On August 24, 1998, Mr. Rowe, as Executive President
of the BPA, wrote Mr. Johnson to congratulate him
on having “been assigned exclusive rights to promote
the upcoming Maxwell tour” and thanking him “for
offering participation to our members where [he] saw
fit.” (Maxwell Letter from BPA to Mr. E. Johnson,
Pls.' Rev. Jam. Mem. Ex. 1F; see also E. Johnson
Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex. 3, ¶¶ 4, 8.) This letter notes
that Mr. Johnson had decided to use white promoter
participation in some markets and requests that Mr.
Johnson become a member of the BPA. (Maxwell Letter
from BPA to Mr. E. Johnson, Pls.' Rev. Jam. Mem.
Ex. 1F.) On September 3, 1998, Mr. Rowe, again on
behalf of the BPA, wrote a letter to Randy Hoffman,
Maxwell's manager, copied to Mr. Johnson and various
newspapers and magazines, claiming that there was no
black promoter involvement of the upcoming Maxwell
tour and announcing the BPA's intention to stage public
demonstrations in protest. (Maxwell Letter from BPA
to Mr. Hoffman, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1G; see also
E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Ex. 3, ¶ 7.) On September
8, 1998, Mr. King for First Class Productions and as
Secretary of the BPA, sent another letter to Mr. Hoffman
stating: “YOU NOW HAVE BUT ONE CHOICE. STOP
YOUR WICKED WAYS OR FUEL OUR POWER
WITH YOUR RACIST TACTICS....” (Pls.' WMA Ex.
128 at 2.)

*33  The 1998 Maxwell tour was cancelled, but a tour was
rescheduled in 1999. (E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex.
3, ¶ 8.) Mr. Johnson states specifically that, “with respect
to the 1999 Maxwell tour, MJP submitted a competitive
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offer to booking agency [WMA] that was accepted by
Maxwell's management.” (Id. ¶ 5.)

A letter dated June 15, 1999, to all promoters from
Jeff Frasco of WMA reflects that MJP was the 1999

tour promoter. 106  Mr. Frasco instructed the promoters
that all ticket advertising and ticket faces read “Magic
Johnson Productions in association with [local promoter]
Presents Maxwell.” (Letter from Jeff Frasco of WMA
to All Promoters, dated June 15, 1999, attached as
Ex. 6 to Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt.) In unrebutted
deposition testimony, Mr. Frasco stated that Maxwell and
his manager, Randy Hoffman, wanted Magic Johnson
involved in the whole tour (Frasco Dep., in J.A., Vol.
IV, at 97, 100) and that he had sent all the offers from
promoters and expressions of interest in concerts on
the tour to Mr. Hoffman (id. at 119). Additionally, he
stated that Mr. Hoffman's “main concern ... was that
the appropriate promoters in the local markets were Mr.
Johnson's partners” (id. at 125) and this would include
involvement for Plaintiff Fred Jones “if [Maxwell] played

markets that Fred [Jones] normally plays” (id. at 127). 107

Contrary to the suggestion in paragraph 87(d) of the
Amended Complaint that none of the Plaintiffs were
“engaged” in the 1999 Maxwell Tour, Plaintiff Sun Song
(Jesse Boseman) was one of the local co-promoters who
shared the proceeds with MJP of the Maxwell concert
on September 8, 1999, at the Landmark Theater in
Richmond, Virginia. (E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl.
Ex. 3, ¶ 8; see also Letter from Berkeley Reinhold, of
WMA to Phil Robinson of MJP, Jesse Boseman of Sun
Song, and Brian O'Connell of Cellar Door Concerts,
dated Aug. 17, 1999, (amending the contract between
Maxwell, MJP and Sun Song dated July 21, 1999), in
J.A., Vol. II, Ex. 35.) Also, non-plaintiff black promoters
Bill Washington, Lionel Bea and Clarence Jones co-
promoted, respectively nine, two and two concerts on the
1999 Maxwell tour. (E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex.
3, ¶ 8.)

(c) Plaintiffs Have Presented No Evidence Supporting
Their Claims Against Jam in Relation to Maxwell

Jam has submitted sworn declarations from its two
principals, Mr. Mickelson and Mr. Granat, denying
Plaintiffs' claims. First, Jam claims to have done “nothing
to prevent any of plaintiffs from bidding on any show,
let alone the Maxwell shows in Chicago where Magic

Johnson was the lead promoter.” (Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 31;
Decl. of Jerry Mickelson, dated Jan. 24, 2003 (“Mickelson
Decl I.”), attached as Ex. 4 to McCabe Decl., ¶¶ 5, 9–
11; Decl. of Arny Granat, dated Jan. 24, 2003 (“Granat
Decl.”), attached as Ex. 5 to McCabe Decl., ¶¶ 5, 9–11).
Second, Jam denies taking “any action to prevent, exclude
or hinder, in any way, any of the plaintiffs from submitting
bids to promote or co-promote any of the concerts during
Maxwell's 1999 concert tour.” (Jam's 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 40;
Mickelson Decl. I, McCabe Decl. Ex. 4, ¶ 5; Granat Decl.,
McCabe Decl. Ex. 5, ¶ 5).

*34  Plaintiffs offer no evidence to contradict paragraph
31 of Jam's 56.1 Statement. Plaintiffs state:

It is not true that Jam did nothing
to prevent Plaintiffs from submitting
bids on any show or for Maxwell's
tour. Jam's participation in the
conspiracy, a question of fact for the
jury, resulted in the virtual exclusion
of the Plaintiffs from competing
in the concert promotion industry.
And it is through Jam's participation
in the conspiracy to exclude
Plaintiffs that the Plaintiffs were
repeatedly rejected over the years,
and it is that repeated rejection that
ultimately dissuaded the Plaintiffs
from uselessly submitting bids.
Therefore, Jam's participation in the
conspiracy prevented Plaintiffs from
submitting bids on many shows,
including Maxwell.

(Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 31, (citing Rowe Dep., in
Ex. 2 to Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt., at 1283).)

The sole evidence relied on by Plaintiffs, Mr. Rowe's
deposition testimony, reads as follows:

Q. Besides their mere presence in the industry, do you
have any knowledge that they have ever acted in a
way to try to prevent you from submitting bids? Once
again just to clarify, besides the fact that they are part
of the industry.

A. Their actions is the only thing I can go by. The way
that they have been able to do business and the facts
and the proof is all I could go by.
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(Rowe Dep., Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 2, at 1283.)

Plaintiffs' response to paragraph 40 of Jam's 56.1
Statement takes the same position as their response to
paragraph 31, and again cites Rowe's testimony to support
their position. Mr. Rowe's testimony does not contain
any specific facts, and thus is “insufficient to defeat a
properly supported motion for summary judgment.” See

Bickerstaff, 196 F.3d at 452. 108

Plaintiffs have also failed to present evidence that
Jam interfered with any contractual or any potential
contractual relationship of any Plaintiff in relation to the
1999 (or the 1998) Maxwell tour, let alone evidence that
would give rise to an inference of discriminatory intent
by Jam. See Murray, 844 F .2d at 995. Plaintiffs have not
provided any evidence that they bid on any concert on
the tour in competition with Jam. The only bids Plaintiffs
made were for concerts not in Jam's alleged territory.
Mr. Boseman contracted for a concert in Richmond,
Virginia, and Mr. Jones bid on a concert on the 1999
Maxwell tour in Nashville, Tennessee. (Letter from Fred
Jones of Summitt to Jeff Frasco of WMA, dated July 23,

1999, attached as Ex. 39, in J.A., Vol. II.) 109  Plaintiffs'
lack of bids precluded the possibility of Jam taking any
action, in concert or otherwise, to interfere with any
potential contractual relationship in connection with the
Maxwell tour in violation § 1981. Plaintiffs have provided
no evidence of a conspiracy against them in relation to
the Maxwell tour as would be required to sustain a §
1985(3) and § 1986 claim. Thus, a rational juror could
not find that Jam directly or indirectly excluded Plaintiffs
from promoting or co-promoting the Maxwell tour. See
Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 587.

(ii) Toni Braxion Tour

(a) Amended Complaint Claim
*35  Paragraph 87(f) of the Amended Complaint reads as

follows:

Black artist Toni Braxton was
promoted by plaintiffs Rowe and
Boseman before she became a
superstar. Once she became a star,
however, plaintiffs were excluded
from promoting her shows. In
connection with a tour she was

scheduled to perform with white
artist Kenny G in 1997, CAA
made misrepresentations to plaintiff
Rowe. After Rowe made inquiry
concerning plaintiffs' [sic] being able
to promote her concerts, Rowe was
advised by Mike Piranian of CAA in
October 1996, that minimum artist
guarantees of $225,000 to $275,000
per show were required from any
of the plaintiffs, with a fifty (50%)
deposit required upon contract
signing. Plaintiffs later learned that
the defendant promoters, who were
actually retained to promote these
concerts, were required to guarantee
only $150,000 to $175,000 per show.
No white promoter, including any of
the promoter defendants promoting
this tour, was required to submit
a deposit of any more than 0–10%
of the $150,000–175,000 guarantee.
The effect of this discriminatory
and disparate practice was intended
to eliminate all black promoters,
including all of the plaintiffs, from
the bidding process on the Toni
Braxton tour. In order for plaintiffs
to have bid successfully for 10 of
the Toni Braxton shows, at $250,000
per show, plaintiffs would have been
required to deposit not less than
$1,250,000. In contrast, defendant
promoters were required to deposit
either nothing or, at maximum,
10% of $175,000, or a total of
$175,000 for 10 shows. The booking
agency defendants William Morris
and CAA (who each represented
one of the two acts), thus required
that plaintiffs post over $1,000,000
more than the promoter defendants
for 10 shows by Toni Braxton.
Plaintiffs became enraged upon
learning of this treatment, and
announced that they intended to
picket the concert. CAA and
William Morris eventually allowed
plaintiffs to co-promote a few of

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999253521&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_452&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_452
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1988051247&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_995&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_995
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1985&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_d08f0000f5f67
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1985&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_d08f0000f5f67
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1986&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986115992&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_587&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_780_587


Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. William Morris Agency, Inc., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d...

2005-1 Trade Cases P 74,684

 © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 28

the Toni Braxton shows with the
defendant promoters. The promoter
defendants who promoted the Toni
Braxton concerts were aware of
the plaintiffs' inquiry, and were
forced to co-promote certain shows
with plaintiffs, over their objections.
Certain of the promoter defendants
were particularly insistent about
excluding plaintiffs. Belkin, the
owner of Belkin Productions,
vigorously sought to exclude
plaintiffs from the show in the
Gund Arena in Cleveland, Ohio,
even after CAA and William Morris
agreed to permit plaintiffs to co-
promote the show, and even though
plaintiffs explained to Belkin that
they had previously promoted Toni
Braxton. Similarly, Don Fox of
Beaver Productions refused to allow
any of the plaintiffs to promote Toni
Braxton in his territory, the Lake
Front Arena in New Orleans, telling
Rob Light of CAA that he would
not allow it. Fox was able to exclude
them, even as co-promoters. Rob
Light communicated this refusal
to Rowe. Another principal of a
promoter defendant, Larry Maggot
[sic] of Electric Factory, was also
successful in excluding plaintiffs
from even co-promoting the Toni
Braxton show in Philadelphia. The
other promoter defendants who
were well aware of the Toni
Braxton incident, and who were
forced, over their objections, to
co-promote 10 of Toni Braxton's
shows with plaintiffs in their
respective territories were Don Law
(Boston, MA); DeCesare–Engler
(Pittsburgh, PA); Contemporary
Productions (St.Louis, MO);
Fantasma (Florida); Cellar Door
(Detroit); Jam Ltd. (2 shows
in Chicago); Concert/Southern
Promotions (Atlanta); Delsener/

Slater (New York); and Belkin
Productions (Cleveland).

*36  (Am.Compl.¶ 87(f).)

(b) Review of Facts
The evidence presented relevant to the 1997 Kenny G/
Toni Braxton tour is as follows. As to the claimed
representation of Ms. Braxton prior to her 1997 tour with
Kenny G, Plaintiffs have provided little evidence showing
that they in fact ever served as “promoters” for Toni
Braxton. Mr. Rowe testified that, in 1995, Al Haymon
was the lead promoter for Ms. Braxton's concerts and that
Mr. Rowe was a “co-promoter.” (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol.
VI, at 778–79.) Mr. Rowe states that in 1995, he worked
with Mr. Haymon to involve Ms. Braxton on the Frankie
Beverly tour. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 214; Pls.'
Stmt. of Contested Material Facts Pursuant to Local Rule
56.1, dated Apr. 25, 2003 (“Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 319.)
Mr. Rowe also stated that he provided advertising for part
of that tour. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 214)
Mr. Boseman testified that he was involved in providing
advertising for that tour. (Boseman Dep., in Pls.' CAA
Dep. Tr., Vol. I, at 1190–91; Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 319.)

As to the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour, Mr. Rowe states,
in his affidavit dated April 21, 2003, submitted in support
of Plaintiffs' Counter Jam 56.1 Statement, that:

[i]n late 1996, 110  I learned that
an upcoming 1997 Toni Braxton/
Kenny G tour had been sold
to dominant white promoters
without the knowledge and resultant
opportunity for the black promoters

to participate. 111  ... When I called
CAA about it to protest and insist
on black promoter involvement,
Mike Piranian told me the minimum
guarantee required to promote Toni
Braxton and Kenny G would be
between $225,000–$275,000 and the
usual 50% deposit. The price CAA
quoted was inflated beyond reason
and it was apparent that I and
the other members of the BPA
were being shut out of a fair
bidding process on the basis of our
race. Because of this exclusionary
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tactic, I threatened to protest if
black promoters were not allowed
to participate. I communicated this
to CAA and drew up fliers that
I planned to use if we were not
included. I sent those fliers to CAA
in late 1996. In early January, only
after and on account of my threats
to make the discrimination public,
were we granted a 33 1/3% interest in
nine cities out of approximately fifty
on the 1997 Toni Braxton tour. A
tenth show was subsequently added
to the Chicago date because the
first one had sold out. Jam insisted
that this second show should not
be subject to the same agreement
which forced it to co-promote the
first Ms. Braxton date with me.
In the end, Jam was forced to
partner with me on both shows,
but only after I threatened to go to
court and ask a Judge to settle the
issue. I thereafter learned that white
promoters promoted Toni Braxton/
Kenny G for minimum guarantees
of between $150,000–$175,000, far
less than the falsely inflated figure

that I had been quoted. 112

(Aff. of Leonard Rowe, dated Apr. 21, 2003 (Rowe Jam
Aff. II”), attached as Ex. 8 in Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt.,
¶ 29.)

*37  It is not disputed that the minimum artist guarantees
of $225,000 to $275,000 plus the usual 50% deposit were
the early bid requirements. These guarantee amounts were
the amounts Kenny G's manager, Turner Management,
asked CAA to request. (Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at

49; Light Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 475.) 113

According to Rob Light of CAA, after Mr. Rowe sent a
letter to Kenny G's manager, with copies sent to leading
black activist figures, threatening to boycott and picket
the Kenny G/Braxton shows, Kenny G's manger asked
Mr. Light to attempt to fix the situation. (Light Dep.,
attached as Ex. 13 to Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt., at
487–89.) Mr. Light testified that when he spoke to Mr.
Rowe, Mr. Rowe complained that he had not being given

a fair opportunity to bid, that he had been given an
unjustifiably high price, and that he had later found out
that other promoters had paid less. (Id. at 487–88.) Mr.
Light testified that he told Mr. Rowe, “Leonard, you need
to put in offers. No matter what Mike quoted you, you
know you are not precluded from putting in any offer
that you want to put in.” (Id. at 488.) Mr. Light also
testified that Mr. Rowe stated that he felt he was entitled
to serious consideration for participation based on his

prior involvement in Toni Braxton concerts. 114  (Id.) Mr.
Light stated that he responded “that it was a Kenny G
tour, not a Toni Braxton tour,” and that Rowe should
know “from his experience that there is no precedent for
the support act dictating who the promoter was,” and that
the manager of the headliner chooses the promoter. (Id.)

Mr. Light further testified that because Kenny G's
manager was afraid Kenny G would be hurt by the
protests, Mr. Light negotiated a written settlement with
Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman for a one-third promoter
participation in nine markets for shows already confirmed
to certain local promoters. (Id. at 489–90, 493; Letter
Agreement from Mr. Light to Mr. Rowe and Mr.
Boseman, dated Jan. 6, 1997, attached as Ex. 14 to Pls.'
Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt.) Mr. Light's letter had been pre-
approved by Kenny G, Toni Braxton and their respective
managers. (Light Dep., Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. Ex.
13, at 497.) Thereafter, when Kenny G decided to do a
second show in Chicago, a dispute arose between Mr.
Light and Mr. Rowe as to whether the letter agreement
of January 6, 1997, gave Plaintiffs any right to participate
in the second concert. Mr. Rowe then threatened to go
to court for his one-third participation, and Mr. Light
agreed that Plaintiffs would get a one-third participation
in the second show. (Rowe Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at
1418–20; Boseman Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 8, at 1016–
17.) Mr. Rowe does not dispute Mr. Light's testimony on
this subject.

(c) Plaintiffs Have Presented No Evidence Supporting
Their Claims Against Jam in Relation to Toni Braxton

There is no evidence in the record after oral discovery and
exhaustive document discovery—including review of the
computer files and e-mails retrieved from the computer
hard drives of CAA, WMA, Renaissance and Jam—of
Jam taking any action to exclude Plaintiffs or other black
promoters from promoting concerts in Chicago, including
the 1997 Kenny G/Toni Braxton tour. Plaintiffs have also
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failed to present evidence of any interference with any
contractual relationship by Jam in relation to the 1997
Kenny G/Braxton tour, let alone evidence that would
give rise to the inference that there was interference due
to discriminatory intent. See Murray, 844 F.2d at 995.
Paragraph 42 of Plaintiffs' Counter Jam 56.1 Statement
states that Mr. Boseman submitted a bid for a concert in
an unspecified city on the Kenny G/Braxton Tour, citing
Mr. Boseman's deposition as support for this assertion.
(Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 42 (citing Boseman Dep.,
Pls.' Jam 56.1 Stmt. Ex. 9, at 916–17, 1034).) Mr. Boseman
testified, however, that he had made an “inquiry about
playing some Kenny G dates, and “we eventually wound
up with some dates for Kenny G” and Toni Braxton
through conversations with Mr. Light and Mr. Phillips.
(Boseman Dep., Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. Ex. 9,
at 916–17.) As Mr. Light testified, these conversations
took place after the concert had been confirmed to Jam.
The contract between Jam and Turner Management for
the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton concert in Chicago is dated
November 25, 1996. (Contract between Jam and Turner
Management for a Kenny G/Braxton concert on Jan. 18,
1997 on a CAA form, dated Nov. 25, 1996, attached in
Ex. A to Decl. of Pierre Armand, dated May 23, 2003
(“Armand Decl.”), attached to Light Decl. II.) Also, Mr.
Boseman in his testimony did not state that he placed a
bid or offer on the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour, but rather
responded to the question “Besides the Kenny G and Toni
Braxton tour, have you ever submitted a bid or put an
offer in on a show that Jam promoted?” with a “No.” (Id.
at 1034.) Plaintiffs do not show that this testimony by Mr.
Boseman, which Plaintiffs assert relates to a bid for the
Kenny G/Braxton tour, refers to anything more than the
discussion with Mr. Light settled by the January 6, 1997
letter agreement. It does not state Mr. Boseman submitted
a bid.

*38  Nor can Plaintiffs complain that they were unaware
of the opportunity to bid, or that Jam in any way
prevented them from learning of any bidding opportunity.
Although Mr. Rowe presents contradictory testimony
within his own deposition, the evidence indicates that
he, and the black promoters he claims to represent, had
an opportunity to bid. The beginning of Mr. Rowe's
deposition testimony on this issue reads as follows:

Q. So your position at the time, I want to be clear,
was not that you had to participate in the tour, but
that you simply wanted an opportunity to bid against
others, is that correct?

A. We thought we should have received that
opportunity, yes.

(Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1380.)

Mr. Rowe, however, later states that he was told of
the parameters requested by Mr. Piranian ($225,000 to
$275,000 and a 50% deposit). (Id. at 1382.) Mr. Rowe then
testified that he and Mr. Haymon discussed the requested
terms and found them “too risky” and decided to “let it
go for the time being.” (Id. at 1383.) Thus, Mr. Rowe
acknowledged that he had the opportunity to bid.

Plaintiffs have also presented no evidence that Jam
interfered with the Plaintiffs' co-promotion of Toni
Braxton. Mr. Rowe asserts that Jam was forced over
its objections to co-promote with Plaintiffs due to the
agreement between Mr. Light and Plaintiffs and that “Jam
insisted that the second show should not be subject to the
same agreement.” (Rowe Jam Aff. II, Pls.' Counter Jam

56.1 Stmt. Ex. 8, ¶ 21). 115  These are only Mr. Rowe's
conclusions. Plaintiffs cite no evidence indicating that Jam
played any role in the later negotiations between CAA and
Plaintiffs regarding co-promotion, but rather argue that
“a jury may well conclude, that Jam would not give up a
piece of a concert for which the work was already done to
a promoter with whom it had never co-promoted without
being told the reason.” (Pls.' Counter Jam Stmt. 56.1 ¶¶ 36,
39.) Plaintiffs cite nothing in Mr. Rowe's affidavit and no
testimony by Rob Light of CAA, by Jam employees, or by
anyone else, to show that Jam objected to either of the co-
promotions. Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman have testified
that Jam tried to “exclude” Plaintiffs when Kenny G
decided to do a second show in Chicago two months after
the first show, but their conversations were solely with
Mr. Light. (Rowe Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at 1418–
20; Boseman Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 8, at 1016–17.) The
cited testimony of Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman contains
no reference to the Plaintiffs or Mr. Light discussing the
second show with Jam.

Even if one were to speculate (1) that Mr. Light would
not have reached an agreement with Mr. Rowe and Mr.
Boseman with respect to the second show scheduled for
Chicago without discussion with Jam and (2) that Jam
objected to the Plaintiffs being made co-promoters for the
second show, the record is clear that the letter agreement
of January 6, 1997 (Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. Ex.
14) was entered into when all parties were of the belief
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there would be only one show in Chicago. The letter
agreement of January 6, 1997, also provides that Plaintiffs
“will not have any claim for involvement in any future
Kenny G dates in this tour.” (Id.) Accordingly, if there
were evidence that Jam tried to exclude Mr. Rowe and
Mr. Boseman from the second show, the dispute over the
meaning of the January 6, 1997 letter would, at most,
be a bona fide contract dispute, a matter of contract
interpretation. Thus, if Jam had objected, Jam would have
been acting in its own economic interest, which would be
a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. See
Raytheon, 540 U.S. at 50 n. 3.

(iii) Other § 1981 Claims by Plaintiffs
*39  Plaintiffs claim that an inference of an intent

to discriminate can be drawn against Jam because the
evidence shows that Jam has never co-promoted a white
act with a black promoter prior to the filing of this lawsuit.
(Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. at 5 (citing Granat Dep ., Pls.' Rev.
Jam Mem. Ex. 2, at 55, 75–79).) Thus, Plaintiffs claim
that this pattern and practice would allow a jury to infer
discrimination, because “the disparity has no reasonable
business explanation.” (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. at 6 (citing
Sweat v. Miller Brewing Co., 708 F.2d 655, 658 (11th

Cir.1983)).) 116  Mr. Granat's testimony, however, does
not support Plaintiffs' assertion because he testified that
he believed that he has co-promoted acts with several
black promoters whom he named (Granat Dep., Pls.'
Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 2, at 34), but was unable to name
any white artists involved (see, e.g., id. at 76 (responding
to the question of whether he had ever co-promoted a
white artist with A1 Haymon with “You know I think
I did, and I can't remember the name”)). Mr. Granat's
testimony is not adequate support for Plaintiffs' assertion
that Jam has never co-promoted a white act with a black
promoter. Additionally, Mr. Mickelson, Mr. Granat's
partner, testified that he believed that Jam had used Jerry
Dickerson, a black promoter, in a city other than Chicago,
to co-promote a white act or acts. (Mickelson Dep., Pls.'
Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 9, at 112–13.) He testified, “I am
pretty sure that we have copromoted every black show we

have ever done with a black promoter.” 117  (Id. at 111.)
Mr. Mickelson also testified that “[w]e'll copromote with
anybody, regardless of what race they are if they bring us
something that we don't already have. So if it is in a market
that we are not in or that we don't regularly like to go in
and they have an expertise and a knowledge that we don't

have, we would be glad to work with them.” 118  (Id. at
111.)

Jam submitted an affidavit dated December 4, 2000, long
before this motion, from a black promoter, Al Kennedy
of Dance Contests International, with his letter dated
January 27, 1999 attached, which contains a list of many
artists whom he has co-promoted with Jam, including
Rosie O'Donnell and the Average White Band. (Letter
from Al Kennedy to Arny Granat & Jerry Michaelson
[sic], dated Jan. 27, 1999, attached as Ex. 1 to Aff. of Al
Kennedy, dated Dec. 4, 2000, attached as Ex. 3 to Decl.
of James D. Roberts, Esq., dated Mar. 13, 2003 (“Roberts
Decl.”).) Plaintiffs' claim that Jam has never used a black
promoter for concerts by white artists is not supported by
any evidence, and no inference of discrimination by Jam
can be drawn from this unsupported assertion.

(iv) Claims Against Jam Under § 1985
Jam states that it “has not tried to exclude black
concert promoters from promoting concerts for white
and top-drawing black artists” (Jam's 56.1 Stmt ¶ 43;
(citing Mickelson Decl. I, McCabe Decl. Ex. 4, ¶ 10;
Granat Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex. 5, ¶ 10), and “has not
participated in any conspiracy to exclude black concert
promoters from promoting concerts for white and top-
drawing black artists” (id. ¶ 44 (citing Mickelson Decl.
I, McCabe Decl. Ex. 4, ¶ 11; Granat Decl., McCabe
Decl. Ex. 5, ¶ 11).) Plaintiffs counter these statements by
claiming that “Jam's participation in the conspiracy [is]
a question of fact for the jury based on the totality of
evidence,” and that this evidence includes Jam's “virtual
exclusivity in the Chicago territory [citing Pls.' Rev. Jam
56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 2–6] and the lack of competition in the
promotion industry [citing R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Counter

Jam. Ex. 15, ¶ 5 119 ].” (Pls.' Counter 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 44.)
Also, as evidence supporting the conspiracy, Plaintiffs
state that “Jam was automatically awarded contracts in its
territory free from competition [citing Pls.' Rev. Jam 56.1
Stmt. ¶¶ 2–6; Rowe Dep., Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt.
Ex. 2, at 1283],” and was “awarded more favorable terms
than those which were made available or known to the

Plaintiffs [citing Pls.' Rev. Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 14–21].” 120

(Id.)

*40  The evidence cited by Plaintiffs to support their
allegation of Jam's virtual exclusivity in the Chicago
territory does support this position. The number of years
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Mr. Granat has been a promoter, the information in
paragraph 2 of Plaintiffs Revised Jam 56.1 Statement, and
the claimed raw numbers of shows that Jam has promoted,
the information in paragraphs 3 and 4 (which is disputed
by Jam), cannot raise any inference of dominance without
further information. As stated previously, the Pollstar
extrapolation, which Plaintiffs offer as support for their
claims of Jam's virtual exclusivity in Chicago in paragraph
5, is not supported by expert testimony and is apparently
incomplete since Mr. Haymon testified he did not submit
his concert results to Pollstar. (Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol.
IV, at 38.) The handwritten notes, which Mr. Rowe states
were written by CAA agent Carol Kinzel, cited as evidence
of a conspiracy to have Jam dominate the Chicago area in
paragraph 6, also includes “Joseph Entertainment” under
the heading of Chicago, Illinois. Furthermore, although
Mr. Rowe claims that these notes were written by Ms.
Kinzel (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 10), Ms.
Kinzel has submitted a declaration, in which she states
that these notes are not her handwriting (Decl. of Carole
Kinzel, dated May 20, 2003 (“Kinzel Decl.”), attached
to Light Decl. II, ¶ 4). Plaintiffs have offered nothing to
contradict her statement, nor anything to show that Mr.
Rowe is familiar with her handwriting. Furthermore, his
testimony about her handwriting is conclusory and is not
admissible evidence.

Even assuming Plaintiffs could show Jam's “virtual
exclusivity,” they have not provided any evidence
linking this alleged dominance to a conspiracy. Plaintiffs
provide no evidence showing that Jam's alleged
dominance as a promoter in Chicago is a result of
discrimination rather than due to legitimate business
reasons, e.g., trust in promoter's experience in promoting
concerts, ability in advertising and marketing concerts,
the promoter's financial viability, and the promoter's
exclusive arrangements for venue. (Cf. Gonzalez Report,
Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 10, ¶ 12; Kapp Dep., Pls.' Joint
Mem. Ex. 12, at 231–36.)

As to the other cited evidence of Jam's dominance, in
paragraph 3 of Mr. R. Johnson's affidavit, he states,
“When a white artist represented by WMA wanted to have
a concert in one or more cities, or stage a nationwide tour,
there was no competitive ‘bidding’ process.... Agents, who
were also organized by territory, instead were instructed
to book their dates through the dominant promoter in his
or her market.” (R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Counter Jam. Ex.

15, ¶ 3.) Mr. R. Johnson does not mention Jam, or Jam's
alleged virtual exclusivity in the Chicago territory.

Plaintiffs also cite paragraph 5 of Mr. Johnson's affidavit,
discussing the division at WMA of white and black
acts, and again, Mr. Johnson makes no reference to
Jam or any other particular promoter. Additionally, as
stated previously, Mr. Johnson is not an expert and his
knowledge is limited to his personal knowledge of actions
taken by WMA booking agents from 1982 to 1986, well
before the statute of limitations for this action.

*41  As to the claim that Jam was awarded contracts in
its territory free from competition, paragraphs 2 through
6 of Plaintiffs' Revised Jam 56.1 Statement cite no
evidence in support of this allegation and page 1283 of
Mr. Rowe's deposition testimony does not contain any
evidence indicating that Jam was awarded contracts free
from competition.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs' claim that Jam was awarded
contracts with terms that were not made available or
known to Plaintiffs. However, the evidence they cite
to support this claim, paragraphs 14 through 21 of
Plaintiffs Revised Jam 56.1 Statement, (Pls.' Counter Jam
56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 44–45), does not support their claim of a
conspiracy to discriminate. The cited paragraphs of the
Plaintiffs' Revised Jam 56.1 Statement maintain that: (1)
the industry standard requires a promoter to deposit 50%
of the guarantee upon contract (citing Rowe Jam Aff. I,

Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 18; 121  Gonzalez Report,
Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 10, ¶ 5); (2) the industry standard
is to deposit funds by cashiers check or money order
(citing Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1,
¶ 18; Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 15 (containing contracts
with preprinted language requiring a deposit of 50% of
the artist' guarantee); and (3) Jam's contracts required no
deposit or a 10% deposit or other more favorable terms

(citing Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Exs. 15, 16, 19, 23, 25). 122

Even assuming that Plaintiffs' allegations are true, Jam's
contracting on more favorable terms than those made
available or known to Plaintiffs is not evidence of a
conspiracy to exclude Plaintiffs based on race without
additional evidence which Plaintiffs have failed to submit.
Receipt of more favorable terms would affect any white
promoters in competition as much as black promoters.
Furthermore, although a booking agency may negotiate
the terms of a contract with a promoter, usually an
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artist or an artist's manager retains ultimate authority
to accept or reject these terms. (Gonzalez Report, J.A.,
Vol. I, ¶ 7.) Additionally, in this commercial context, the
most prominent promoter is likely to have demonstrated
to the booking agent or artist's manager to have
expertise in advertising and marketing concerts, to have
demonstrated financial integrity and, as acknowledged
in the Amended Complaint paragraph eighty-two, to
have exclusive venue arrangements, all explanatory of
favorable terms obtained. (Kapp Dep ., Pls.' Rev. Jam
Mem. Ex. 4, at 245; Gonzalez Report, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem.
Ex. 10, ¶ 12.)

Plaintiffs claim to have raised an inference of race
discrimination based on examples of Jam's contracts as
compared to Mr. Haymon's contracts. (Pls.' Rev. Jam
Mem. at 17.) Plaintiffs' example of a Jam contract for two
Lauryn Hill concerts (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 30 (which
is the exact same as Ex. 17)) contains alterations reflecting
Jam's counter offers as to amounts of guarantee, deposit
and terms for payment. (Mickelson Decl. II, Roberts Decl.
Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5–17 (describing the process for negotiating
a contract between Jam, the booking agencies and the
artists and stating that Jam's proposed changes to a draft
contract are accompanied by a box stating “initial here”
to indicate where changes are located, similar to those

in Exhibit 30).) 123  Plaintiffs' copies of three Haymon
contracts for Lauryn Hill concerts (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem
Ex. 14) do not reflect any of Mr. Haymon's proposed
alterations to the draft contract and are not signed by any
of the parties. Thus, the exhibits are at different points of
contract negotiations. In any event, it is not an act of race
discrimination to negotiate and obtain more favorable
contract terms in an offer than the “industry standard.”

*42  Furthermore, comparing the terms offered to Jam
(id. Ex. 30) and Mr. Haymon (id. Ex. 14) for the Lauryn
Hill concerts in different cities shows that the booking
agency, Defendant WMA, proposed a deposit of 50% of
the guarantee on those contracts. Since both Mr. Haymon
(black) and Jam (white), both of whom are very successful
promoters, were offered the same deposit as a percent of
guarantee, an inference of a conspiracy with the booking
agency to discriminate against black promoters on the
basis of race by requiring more onerous terms from them
is not supported by the evidence.

Review of Plaintiffs' selected examples of other Jam
contracts (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 15) shows that Jam

was required to pay no deposit or 10% of its guarantee
for some concerts due to its rejection of a 50% deposit
term in the proffered contract and sometimes because the
performances were by supporting acts for the headline
act. Many such contracts also allow payment by company
check and are for concerts in cabarets or small theaters
or are for guest appearances. This contrasts with the 50%
guarantee to be made by certified check or cash, which
Plaintiffs Rowe (Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem.
Ex. 1, ¶ 18) and Boseman (Boseman Aff., Pls. Rev. Jam
Mem. Ex. 8, ¶ 14), assert they were uniformly required

to deposit by the booking agents. 124  Mr. Boseman and
Mr. Rowe, however, have not submitted evidentiary
support for the assertion that they make bids on individual
concerts or that they have the same track record for
successful concerts, connections with venues and financial
integrity as Jam.

In short, Plaintiffs have not shown a tacit agreement
between Jam and the Booking Agency Defendants to
give Jam more favorable terms than black promoters as
claimed by Plaintiffs. They have merely shown that Jam
is often able to negotiate more favorable terms than the
Plaintiffs have been offered.

(v) Plaintiffs Have Presented No Evidence Supporting
Their Claim that Jam Violated § 1986

Plaintiffs have not provided sufficient evidence for their
§ 1985 conspiracy claim, as required to bring a claim for
a violation of § 1986. 42 U.S.C. § 1986. Even if Plaintiffs
had provided evidence of a conspiracy in violation of §
1985, the evidence presented does not show that Jam had
any knowledge of the alleged conspiracy to discriminate
against black promoters. Thus, this claim must fail. See
Buck v. Bd. of Elections of City of New York, 536 F.2d 522,
524 (2d Cir.1976) (holding that defendants' knowledge of
allegedly discriminatory acts is a prerequisite to suit under
§ 1986).

Jam states, “Before the commencement of this litigation,
Jam did not have any knowledge of the conspiracy alleged
by plaintiffs.” (Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 35 (citing Mickelson Decl.
I, McCabe Decl. Ex. 4, ¶¶ 6–8; Granat Decl., McCabe
Decl. Ex. 5, ¶¶ 6–8).) Furthermore, “Jam did not attend a
public meeting or read an article in which plaintiffs' [sic]
claimed the existence of an alleged conspiracy.” (Jam 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 37 (citing Mickelson Decl. I, McCabe Decl. Ex.
4, ¶ 8; Granat Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex. 5, ¶ 8).) Plaintiffs
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argue that the truth of the declarations of Mr. Mickelson
and Mr. Granat is a question of fact for the jury, but
cite no evidence contradicting these declarations or from
which an inference of knowledge of the conspiracy by

either declarant or Jam can be drawn. 125  (Pls.' Counter
Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 35, 37.)

*43  Plaintiffs' response argues that “[a] jury may
attribute knowledge [by Jam] of the Plaintiffs' allegations
of conspiracy to Jam due to the publication in major
and widely distributed publications, namely, “Black
Promoters Say They're Excluded From Top R & B Gigs,”
Billboard Magazine, June 21, 1997, and “Black Music
Promoters Being Muscled Out of the Business by Whites,”
Jet, April 5, 1979. (Id. ¶¶ 35, 37, Exs. 10, 11.) The 1997
article in Billboard Magazine states that Plaintiff Rowe
and the BPA assert that WMA and CAA discriminate
against black promoters when black acts become famous
R & B acts. (J.R. Reynolds, “Black Promoters Say They're
Excluded from Top R & B Gigs,” Billboard, June 21, 1997,
attached as Ex. 10 to Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt.) The
1997 article does not contain any conspiracy allegation,
nor does it claim that white concert promoters take
part in the discrimination. The 1979 article in Jet cites
Mr. Rowe, stating that black performers “usually have
White managers who owe other White promoters big
favors. So when the manager's Black group gets big,
the White promoter comes to collect.” The article also
quotes Quentin Perry, a black promoter, as stating, “Black
performers defect to the White promoters ... because ‘there
is some belief white folk can do it better’....” (“Black
Music Promoters Being Muscled Out of the Business
by Whites,” dated Apr. 5, 1979, attached as Ex. 11 to
Pls.' Jam Counter 56.1 Stmt.) The article does not allege
that white promoters are members of a conspiracy with
booking agencies to discriminate against black promoters.
No reasonable jury could infer from either of those
articles that Jam was aware that Plaintiffs' were alleging
a conspiracy between the booking agents and white
promoters as argued by Plaintiffs in this case.

There is no evidence that Jam knew that Plaintiffs
were claiming the promoters were part of a conspiracy
with the booking agents to discriminate against the
Plaintiffs. To further support this lack of knowledge of
the alleged conspiracy, Jam points out that Mr. Rowe
acknowledged in his deposition testimony that his “letter-
writing campaign to convince the industry to break the
alleged conspiracy was directed to the booking agencies,

not to Jam or the other concert promoter defendants,
because it is the booking agencies who control the
selection of promoters.” (Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 38 (citing Rowe
Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at 1285).)

Q. Did you write any letters to Beaver, Jam or
Fantasma?

A. No, I didn't write any letters to any promoters
because the agencies was the one I figured could help
straighten this situation out because the agency serves
as the gatekeepers. They are the liaison between the
promoters and the artists, the selling of the artist, and
I figured if I could get the agency to straighten out
their conduct, the conduct of all would probably be
straightened out.

(Rowe Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at 1285.)

Plaintiffs respond to paragraph 38 of Jam's 56.1
Statement, citing Mr. Rowe's further testimony, which
states:

*44  Q. Why didn't you write letters to the promoters,
then?

A. Well, because the promoters was reaping the benefits
of this conspiracy and the discriminating, and they
wasn't about to give that up. They was in Disneyland
with it. It was great to them. They didn't have to
worry about bidding against black promoters.

They didn't have to worry about sharing with black
promoters. If a black artist came out that was a huge
ticket-seller, they didn't have to worry about having
a history with it. The agencies automatically gave it
to them. They loved that. They loved it.

(Id. at 1286.)

This testimony by Mr. Rowe consists of purely conclusory
statements and is not evidence admissible to show that
Plaintiffs put Jam on notice of their claims that there
was a conspiracy to exclude Plaintiffs from promoting
or co-promoting concerts. As to Jam's knowledge of the
Toni Braxton incident or any other claim of conspiracy,
paragraph 29 of Jam's 56.1 Statement states, “There is
no testimony from the plaintiffs, that they discussed with
Jam their belief that there existed some ‘conspiracy’ to
exclude black promoters from promoting, whether in
connection with the Maxwell tour, the Toni Braxton
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concerts, or any other concert or setting.” (Jam 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 39 (citing Rowe Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at
765–66, 1279–83; Boseman Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 8,
at 1011–15).) Similarly, in paragraph 36 of Jam's 56.1
Statement, Jam's owners assert that “Jam did not have
any conversations with any of the plaintiffs, or receive
any letters from any of the plaintiffs, about any alleged
conspiracy to exclude black promoters from the concert
promotion business.” (Id. ¶ 36 (citing Mickelson Decl.
I, McCabe Decl. Ex. 4, ¶ 7, Granat Decl., in McCabe
Decl. Ex. 5, ¶ 7).) Plaintiffs' Counter Jam 56.1 Statement
in response dispute in part paragraphs 39 and 36 of
Jam's 56.1 Statement. However, paragraphs 39 and 36 of
Plaintiffs' Counter Jam 56.1 Statement are the same and
are simply argumentative, stating, “Even though Plaintiffs
communicated with Jam only indirectly through CAA
regarding this matter [co-promotion of Toni Braxton], it
is not conceivable, and for that reason a jury may well
conclude, that Jam would not give up a piece of a concert
for which the work was already done to a promoter with
whom it had never co-promoted without being told the
reason.” (citing Rowe Jam Aff. II, Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1
Stmt. Ex. 8, ¶¶ 18–20; Light Dep., Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1
Stmt. Ex. 13, at 486–90, 493–98; Letter Agreement from
Mr. Light to Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman, dated Jan.
6, 1997, Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. Ex. 14 (emphasis
added).)

Plaintiffs' response is deemed an admission (1) that
Plaintiffs did not communicate with anyone at Jam
regarding the Plaintiffs' claim of a conspiracy or about
their alleged exclusion from the second Kenny G/Braxton
concert in Chicago and (2) that Plaintiffs did not obtain
evidence from which an inference can be drawn that Jam
acted in a discriminatory manner. Review of the testimony
cited by paragraphs 39 and 36 of Plaintiffs' Responses
to Jam's 56.1 Statement does not support the conclusion
that Jam knew, or was part of, any alleged conspiracy to
exclude Plaintiffs from the concert promotion business.

*45  First, the cited paragraphs of Mr. Rowe's affidavit,
dated April 21, 2003, submitted in support of Plaintiffs'
Counter Jam 56.1 Statement, do not show Jam was made
aware of any claim of an alleged conspiracy between the
booking agents and dominant white promoters to exclude
black promoters from the concert promotion business.

Second, review of the cited testimony of Mr. Light of CAA
similarly does not provide evidence that Jam was made

aware of any claims of a conspiracy to discriminate against
Plaintiffs.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs' claim, as made in their responses
to paragraphs 39 and 36 Jam's 56.1 Statement, that Jam
would not have agreed to allow Mr. Rowe and Mr.
Boseman to be co-promoters without being aware that
Plaintiffs were alleging a conspiracy to exclude them
from concert promotion on the basis of race is sheer
speculation, unsupported by Mr. Light's testimony or
other evidence from which such an inference could be
drawn. One could equally speculate that Mr. Light told
Jam that Kenny G's manager insisted on co-promotion
with Plaintiffs because Ms. Braxton's music was directed

to black audiences. 126  In view of the foregoing discussion,
Jam's motion for summary judgment on each claim in the
complaint is granted.

2. Beaver Productions Inc.'s Motion for Summary
Judgment

The claims in the Amended Complaint that Beaver
discriminated against Plaintiffs are based on three alleged
overt acts by Beaver. First, Plaintiffs allege that Don Fox,
president of Beaver, refused to allow any of the Plaintiffs
to promote Toni Braxton in 1997 at the Lake Front
Arena in New Orleans. (Am.Compl.¶ 87(f).) Second,
Plaintiffs allege that in late summer 1997, Mr. Fox
refused to allow Plaintiff Rowe to co-promote the 1997
Luther Vandross show. (Id. ¶ 87(h).) Third, Plaintiffs
claim that Beaver interfered with Plaintiff Fred Jones's
potential exclusive agreement to promote shows at the
Mud Island Amphitheatre in Memphis and conspired with
other Defendants to interfere with this contract. (Id. ¶
87(k) .) Plaintiffs also allege that Beaver has participated
in a conspiracy to exclude black concert promoters from
promoting white and top-drawing black artists and cite
Beaver's alleged dominance in the greater New Orleans
area, automatic receipt of contracts without bidding,
and receipt of more favorable contract terms, such as
deposit and method of payment requirements in Beaver's
contracts, as evidence of this conspiracy. (Pls.' Revised
Response in Opp'n to Beaver's Mot. for Summ. J., dated
Mar. 12, 2003 (“Pls.' Resp. Beaver”), at 18–22.)

Plaintiffs have not presented any direct evidence to
support any of these claims. Accordingly, the Court will
examine the evidence presented by Plaintiffs to determine
if they have provided evidence from which it may be
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inferred that Beaver has violated §§ 1981, 1985(3) and
1986.

(i) Toni Braxion Concert
The Amended Complaint alleges that in 1997, Mr. Fox
“refused to allow any of the plaintiffs to promote Toni
Braxton in his territory, the Lake Front Arena in New
Orleans, telling Rob Light of CAA that he would not
allow it.” (Am.Compl.¶ 87(f); see also Rowe Beaver Decl.,
Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 19.) The general facts related to the
Kenny G/ Braxton 1997 tour are reviewed in the Jam
section. Supra pp. 73–76. In relation to Beaver specifically,
Mr. Rowe did not approach Beaver or Mr. Fox with
a request to co-promote, but had discussions with Rob
Light, head of the music department at CAA, about
co-promoting the Braxton performances. (Rowe Beaver
Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 19; Pls.' Rev. Beaver 56.1 Stmt.
¶ 56.) When Mr. Rowe approached Mr. Light, Beaver had
already contracted to promote the Kenny G/Toni Braxton

concert in New Orleans. 127  (Rowe Beaver Decl. ¶ 19; Pls.'

Rev. Beaver 56.1 Stmt ¶ 57.) 128  According to Mr. Rowe,
Rob Light told him that Don Fox of Beaver would not
allow him to co-promote in New Orleans, but he could
participate in the tour in other markets. (Rowe Beaver
Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶¶ 20–21.) Plaintiffs provide no
testimony from Mr. Light confirming that he did in fact
have such a conversation with Mr. Fox. Accordingly, Mr.
Rowe's statement about that conversation is hearsay and
not admissible evidence. F.R. Civ. P. 56(b).

*46  Mr. Fox has submitted a sworn declaration stating
that he did not tell anyone, including Rob Light of CAA,
that Beaver would not allow any of the Plaintiffs to co-
promote Toni Braxton. (Fox Beaver Decl., Beaver Ex.
1, ¶ 19.) Rather, Mr. Fox states that “[p]romoting Toni
Braxton was not a possibility with respect to this concert
because Kenny G was the lead act, with Toni Braxton
as the supporting act.” (Id. ¶ 18.) “Beaver purchased
the services of Kenny G as the lead act, and Kenny
G selected Toni Braxton as the supporting act. Beaver
had no control, authority or role in the selection of
Toni Braxton as the supporting act for this concert, as
supporting acts are selected by the artists themselves.” (Id.
¶ 38.)

Even assuming Mr. Light's alleged statement to Mr.
Rowe that Mr. Fox had refused to allow Mr. Rowe
to co-promote Toni Braxton is not hearsay and could

be admitted in evidence, Plaintiffs have not provided
evidence showing that Beaver's alleged refusal to co-
promote could form the basis of a prima facie case
of discrimination under McDonnell Douglas. Even if

Plaintiffs had requested to co-promote, 129  Plaintiffs
have presented no evidence showing that Beaver was
seeking co-promoters or decided to use a white co-
promoter instead of Mr. Rowe. Furthermore, Beaver had
a legitimate business reason not to co-promote since it
had already been awarded the concert and was under
no obligation to relinquish to Mr. Rowe a share of any
of the benefits of its contract with Kenny G. Beaver
merely behaved in a competitive manner, acting in its
own self-interest. Plaintiffs do not cite any evidence to
demonstrate that Beaver's offered business reason was
pretextual. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.

(ii) Luther Vandross Concert
The Amended Complaint also alleges that Beaver denied
Plaintiff Rowe a role as promoter of a 1997 concert by
Luther Vandross in New Orleans, and further alleges
that even after Mr. Rowe explained to Mr. Fox that
he had previously promoted Luther Vandross, Mr. Fox
did not allow him to co-promote a Luther Vandross
show in New Orleans, Louisiana. (Am.Compl.¶ 87(h).)
To provide evidentiary support for these claims, Mr.
Rowe has submitted a declaration in Plaintiffs' Response
to Beaver's Motion in support of this allegation (Rowe
Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶¶ 22–25), in which Mr.
Rowe's factual statements make clear that he never had
any personal discussions with Mr. Fox or Beaver about
the August 1997 Vandross concert.

Mr. Rowe states that he had promoted Luther Vandross
in 1986, 1987 and 1988. (Id. ¶ 22.) Similar to the Toni
Braxton incident, Mr. Rowe states that he found out
about the 1997 Vandross concert in New Orleans after the
concert date was already “sold to Beaver.” (Id.) Mr. Rowe
states that he contacted Dennis Arfa, Luther Vandross's

booking agent at QBQ Entertainment, 130  who asked Mr.
Rowe to choose which markets he wanted to be involved
in. (Id. ¶ 23.) Mr. Rowe states he chose New Orleans and
called Mr. Fox to discuss co-promoting the concert, but
Mr. Fox did not return his call. (Id. ¶ 24.) According
to Mr. Rowe, Mr. Arfa then informed him “that Don
Fox had refused to agree to allow me or any other
black promoter to co-promote Luther Vandross/Vanessa

Williams with him.” (Id. ¶ 25.) 131  Again, according to Mr.
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Rowe, Mr. Arfa did not require Mr. Fox to co-promote
that concert, and Mr. Rowe was not involved. (Id.)

*47  Mr. Fox corroborates that Beaver received a call
from Mr. Rowe towards the end of July 1997. (Fox Beaver
Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 20; Fox Dep., Beaver Ex. 5, at 112.)
Mr. Fox states that at that time, he “suspected that Mr.
Rowe wanted to co-promote concerts involving Luther
Vandross and Vanessa Williams,” and he “elected not
to return [the] phone call.” (Fox Beaver Decl., Beaver
Ex. 1, ¶¶ 21–22.) In his deposition testimony, Mr. Fox
states that “the only reason [Mr. Rowe] called me was
just to get in and be a partner on a show when the
show was already confirmed.” (Fox Dep., Beaver Ex.
5, at 107.) Mr. Fox further explains in his declaration
that “[s]ince the concert had already been confirmed to
Beaver, there was no economic reason for Beaver to co-
promote the concert with any other promoter ... and for
this reason, Beaver declined to co-promote the concert
with Leonard Rowe.” (Fox Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 23.) After
his call to Mr. Fox, Mr. Rowe wrote a letter on BPA
letterhead, dated July 24, 1997, to Mr. Arfa with copies to
black leaders stating that Mr. Fox “exerts racist behavior
toward black people and black promoters” and “declaring
economic warfare on any and all of Beaver Promotions
that embrace African–Americans Artists.” (Beaver Ex. 3.)
On July 25, 1997, Mr. Fox wrote a letter to Mr. Rowe
denying racist behavior. (Beaver Ex. 4.)

While it appears that Beaver determined not to take
actions that would inure to Mr. Rowe's benefit, there
is no showing of a prima facie case of discrimination
under McDonnell Douglas. As with the Kenny G/Braxton
concert, Beaver already had obtained the Vandross

contract, 132  and Plaintiffs provide no evidence that
Beaver was seeking co-promoters or opted to co-promote
with a white co-promoter instead of Mr. Rowe. Beaver
had a legitimate business reason not to co-promote and
was perfectly justified in choosing to not share the benefits
of the Vandross concert with Mr. Rowe. Plaintiffs do not
provide any evidence to demonstrate that Beaver's offered
business reason was pretextual. McDonnell Douglas, 411
U .S. at 804. Accordingly, these facts do not show actions
which give rise to an inference of racial discrimination in
violation of § 1981.

(iii) Mud Island Amphitheater Exclusivity Agreement

(a) Amended Complaint Claim

Plaintiffs claim of discrimination in relation to the Mud
Island Amphitheatre reads as follows:

While still negotiating the terms of
an exclusive agreement to promote
shows in the venue Mud Island
Amphitheatre in Memphis, Fred
Jones and Summitt wrote to many
of the booking agency defendants
and others ... advising them of his
expected role as concert promoter
at the venue. Beaver Production's
executive Barry Leff, however, then
wrote to the Memphis Director of
Parks Commission, urging the city
not to enter into any agreement
with Fred Jones and Summitt, and
informing the city that Beaver would
be opening an office in Memphis,
where it had not previously done
business, expressly at the request
of the top talent agencies in the
county. Fred Jones and Summitt
lost the agreement to promote at
Mud Island and all ensuing business.
Beaver is now the predominant
promoter in Memphis.

*48  (Am.Compl.¶ 87(k).)

(b) Review of Facts
The chronology of the events is as follows and is
undisputed, unless otherwise noted. In 1992, Mid–South
Concerts, an alleged dominant promoter owned by a white
promoter, Bob Kelley, and Summitt Management, owned
by Plaintiff Jones, formed a partnership by the name of
Island Events, which Mr. Kelley (a two-thirds owner)
operated. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 5; Aff.
of Fred Jones, dated Apr. 24, 2003 (“Jones CAA Aff.”),
Pls.' CAA Ex. 2, ¶¶ 20, 21, 59; Jones Dep., Pls.' Resp.
WMA Ex. 49, at 50.)

In Memphis, the mayor serves as the sole contracting
authority for the municipality. (Dep. of Willie W.
Herenton, Mayor of Memphis, dated Oct. 15, 2001
(“Herenton Dep.”), Beaver Ex. 9, at 13.) Mud Island
itself is under the jurisdiction of the Memphis Park
Commission, but any contract with respect to Mud Island
has to be finalized and approved by the Mayor. (Id.
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at 27.) As a matter of procedure, a proposal normally
would be first sent to the Park Commission, who then
makes a recommendation to the Park Board regarding the
proposal. (Id. at 38–39.) The Park Board then votes to
either approve or reject the contract, and if approved, it
goes to the mayor for final approval. (Id. at 39.)

In March 1993, Mayor Herenton, had approved a
two-year exclusive promotion agreement at Mud Island
between Island Events and the City of Memphis. (Jones
Beaver Decl., Pls. Beaver Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5–6.) When the
agreement expired in 1995, it was renegotiated and again
approved by the Mayor to last through 1997. (Id. ¶ 8.)

In early 1998, Island Events negotiated the draft of an
exclusive contract, which was approved by the staff of
the Park Commission. (Id. ¶ 9). On March 4, 1998, Bob
Fouche, acting manager at Mud Island, sent a draft of the
agreement to the Park Commission Board for its review.
(Id. ¶ 10.) On March 27, however, Bob Kelley committed
suicide. (Id. ¶ 11.) As a result, a new agreement was drafted
in which Summitt was to have an exclusive promotion
agreement at Mud Island for two years, with a potential
third year contingent on Summitt's performance. (Id. ¶
12.)

Mr. Jones testified that on April 17, 1998, he told the
Mayor that the Park Board had approved his exclusive
agreement for Mud Island. (Jones Dep., Beaver Ex. 8, at
363.) At that point, according to Mr. Jones, the Mayor
said that he was fine with the contract going along as
planned. (Id. at 363–65.) In Mayor Herenton's deposition,
the Mayor agreed that he and Jones “did have some
discussion about this,” but did not acknowledge the time
or the content of his statement. (Herenton Dep., Pls.'
Beaver Ex. 2, at 36.) Three days later, on April 20, 1998,
the Board of the Memphis Park Commission approved the
agreement with Summitt. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver
Ex. 1, ¶ 14.)

On April 20 and 21, 1998, Mr. Jones faxed two letters to
various booking agents, including agents employed by the
Booking Agency Defendants, other than Renaissance. (Id.

¶¶ 15–16.) 133  The letters were identical and stated, in part,
that “[a]s of today, my company Summitt Management
Corporation, will exclusively book the [Mud Island]
amphitheater. We have a multi-year agreement with the
city of Memphis into the next millennium.” (Pls.' Beaver
Ex. 1B (“Jones letter”).) These letters were not sent to any

concert promoters. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex.
1, ¶ 18.) When Mr. Jones faxed his letters, the Mayor had
not yet officially approved the agreement, as required by
the Memphis Charter.

*49  On April 20, 1998, Barry Leff, vice-president of
Beaver, sent a letter to Wayne Boyer, Director of the
Memphis Park Commission. (Pls .' Beaver Ex. 1C (“Leff
letter”) at 1.) His letter is included here in full because the
Plaintiff Jones considers it so central to his arguments.

I understand today you are considering an exclusive
agreement on the future of Mud Island this summer.
I want to inform you that because of the unfortunate
circumstances with Mid–South Concerts, my company
has been asked by the top talent agencies in the country
to establish an office in Memphis and begin immediately
booking all venues in the area. We produce about 200
shows across North America every year, and because
of our relationship with Bob Kelly [sic] we have always
stayed out of your market.

As of this past Friday, we have hired Susan Green,
former V.P. of Mid–South Concerts. We are in the
process of opening an office in Memphis and plan to
hire additional staff members. We have already begun
to actively pursue shows in the market and are very
much looking forward to doing shows in your facility.

If however, an exclusive agreement is entered into with
any other party, it will cause us to take our shows to
other facilities in the market. I want to make it clear
that we understand your concern for getting shows into
Mud Island this summer, and we can and will help you
do that. I would like to suggest because of the timing
of all the events that have surrounded the 1998 season,
that you keep your facility open to all promoters this
summer. This will allow you to judge the true intent of
all outside promoters.

Beaver Productions is very excited about our future in
Memphis. Please keep your doors open and allow us to
show you what a great business relationship we can have
together.

(Id. (emphasis in original).)

Mr. Jones received a letter, dated April 22, 1998, from
John Malmo, chairman of the Board of the Memphis Park
Commission. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 19.)
In this letter, Mr. Malmo wrote:
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Mayor Herenton told me yesterday that he believes it
is unwise for the Memphis Park Commission Board
to sign an exclusive contract for booking the Mud
Island amphitheater for the 1998 season. Further, that
he believes it unwise for the Board to sign a multi-year
agreement of any kind with any firm for such bookings.

He has asked that we invite a variety of promoters to
book events in the amphitheater this season to sample
the opportunities that may be available to us that would
not be under an exclusive agreement with any one firm.

The Mayor has assured me that he will not sign an
exclusive and/or multi-year contract for 1998 under any
circumstances....

(Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1D (“Malmo letter”), at 1.)

On April 23, the Mayor issued a press release stating in its
entirety:

Fred Jones is a competent and well-
respected promoter. However, at
this time I support an open contract
regarding the use of the Mud
Island Amphitheater. I encourage
Fred Jones and other promoters to
bring numerous entertainment acts
to Memphis. A myriad of musical
acts would best serve the citizens
of Memphis and generate a greater
return of investment to the Memphis
Park Commission.

*50  (Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1E at 1.)

Thereafter, Beaver promoted fourteen concerts at Mud
Island. (Fox Beaver Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶¶ 34–35.)
Summitt did not promote any. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.'
Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 22.) Mr. Jones testified that Summitt did
not make any effort to promote at Mud Island for the rest
of the season, nor from 1999 to 2001. (Jones Dep ., Beaver
Ex. 8, at 366–67.) Mr. Jones maintains that without the
revenue from parking, food, and souvenir concessions,
which were part of the exclusive agreement, it was not
economically feasible for him to promote concerts on a
non-exclusive basis. (Jones Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex.
1, ¶ 22.)

(c) Plaintiffs Have Presented No Evidence in Support
of Their Claims Under §§ 1981 and 1985(3) Against
Beaver in Relation to Mud Island

The undisputed evidence is that Mayor Herenton, the
black Mayor of Memphis, was not aware of the Leff
letter to Wayne Boyer, Director of the Memphis Park
Commission, at the time he decided not to approve
an exclusive agreement for Mud Island with Summitt.
(Herenton Dep., Beaver Ex. 9, at 40 (stating that he
was seeing the Leff letter for the first time in that
deposition).) The Mayor had no recollection of any
communications with Mr. Boyer or Mr. Malmo regarding
Beaver (Herenton Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 2, at 76), and
testified that he did not hear about Beaver's interest in
promoting in Memphis until after he decided not to
approve the exclusive agreement with Summitt (id. at 77–
78). Mayor Herenton also testified that the Leff letter had
nothing to do with his decision (Herenton Dep., Beaver
Ex. 9, at 46), but rather that he “thought it was in the best
interest of the City of Memphis and that facility that we
open up participation to a variety of promoters” (id. at 47).

The Plaintiffs offer no testimony by Mr. Malmo, Mr.
Boyer, or anyone else showing that the Mayor was
aware of the Leff Letter or casting any doubt about or
contradicting Mayor Herenton's testimony. Accordingly,
the uncontradicted evidence is that Mr. Jones was denied
the exclusive contract at Mud Island based only on
the independent decision of the Mayor and that the
Leff letter had no effect on that decision, either directly
or indirectly. Thus, the Plaintiffs have not shown that
Beaver's actions involving Mud Island injured Mr. Jones
or any of the Plaintiffs or interfered with a potential
contractual relationship in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.
See Murray, 844 F.2d at 995.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs offer no evidence from which it
can be inferred that any action by Beaver was motivated
by Mr. Jones's race. Mr. Fox, owner of Beaver, testified
that he had never heard of Fred Jones before learning of
the proposed exclusive agreement, did not know Mr. Jones
was Mr. Kelley's partner in promoting concerts at Mud
Island (Fox Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 5, at 39), and did not
know Mr. Jones was an African American (id. at 38). Mr.
Leff did know of a promoter in Memphis named Fred
Jones but had never met him and could not recall if he
knew Mr. Jones was black. (Leff Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 4,
at 33.) Mr. Jones did not offer contradictory testimony.
Furthermore, by April 17, 1998, Beaver had decided to

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1985&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_d08f0000f5f67
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1988051247&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_995&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_995


Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. William Morris Agency, Inc., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d...

2005-1 Trade Cases P 74,684

 © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 40

open an office in Memphis with Susan Green, former vice
president of Mid–South Concerts. (Id. at 50–52; see also
Pls.' Hrg. Ex. 26 (Letter from Shelly Schultz of WMA
to Susan Green and copied to Don Fox, dated Apr. 17,
1998 (discussing cancelling the James Taylor concert at the
Mud Island Amphitheatre and rescheduling with “Don
Fox in conjunction with you and your new organization”

for a concert at Mid–South Coliseum).) 134  Having made
the decision to open an office in Memphis, it was in
Beaver's economic interest not to have Mud Island subject

to an exclusive contract. 135  (Leff Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex.
4, at 10–12.)

*51  Plaintiffs cite the statement in the Leff letter that
“my company has been asked by the top talent agencies in
the country to establish an office in Memphis” as evidence
that “the Defendant agencies ... conspired with the
dominant white promoter Defendants, including Beaver,
to prevent all black promoters, including the Plaintiffs,
from promoting white and superstar black acts.” (Pls.'
Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 15.)

Although the Leff letter does state that Beaver had been
asked by the top booking agencies in the country to
establish an office in Memphis and to begin immediately

booking all venues in that area, 136  Plaintiffs provide no
evidence from which one could infer that this decision
to open an office in Memphis was racially motivated or
in furtherance of a conspiracy to discriminate. Whether
Beaver had remained out of the Memphis market
because of Mid–South's exclusivity contracts at Mid–
South Coliseum and Mud Island, or because of Mr.
Kelley's reputation with artists, artists' managers and
booking agencies and his greater familiarity with the
Memphis market is beside the point. Beaver's actions
were taken after the death of a concert promoter, whom
Plaintiffs assert was the dominant promoter in Memphis,
and Beaver moved into a newly created vacuum with
one of Mr. Kelley's top employees. While these actions
could be consistent with a racially motivated conspiracy
to interfere with a contractual relationship, Beaver's
hiring of one of Mr. Kelley's top employees to open
a Memphis office was obviously in Beaver's economic
interests. Beaver points out that Mr. Leff urged fewer
restrictions on trade, not less, in furtherance of their
economic interests. (Hrg. Tr. 10/17/03 at 83.) Accordingly,
Plaintiffs have presented no evidence giving rise to an

inference of racial motivation to sustain their claims under
42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 or 1985(3).

(iv) Other §§ 1985(3) and 1986 Claims Against
Beaver

Plaintiffs have offered no direct evidence of a conspiracy,
such as when the conspiracy started, how Beaver joined
the conspiracy and how Beaver was aware of the

conspiracy's objectives, 137  to support their conclusory
allegation that Beaver participated in a conspiracy to
exclude black concert promoters from promoting concerts
for white and/or top-drawing black artists in violation of
§ 1985(3) and § 1986.

Beaver states that it “has not attempted to prevent any of
the plaintiffs, or any black promoter, from submitting a

bid to promote or co-promote any concert.” 138  (Beaver
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 18 (citing Fox Decl.).) Beaver also asserts it
has “not participated in any conspiracy, combination or
agreement to exclude black promoters from promoting
any concerts.” (Id. ¶ 19 (citing Fox. Decl.).) Plaintiffs
counter, as with Jam, by claiming that “the facts when
taken as a whole demonstrate that Beaver in fact
prevented the Plaintiffs and other black promoters from
submitting a bid to promote or co-promote concerts” (Pls.'
Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 18) and that “[t]he facts when
taken as a whole prove that Beaver has participated
in a conspiracy combination or agreement to exclude
black promoters from promoting concerts of white and
superstar black acts” (id. ¶ 19). Plaintiffs claim that
Beaver's participation in the conspiracy is proven by
Beaver's alleged territorial dominance, the alleged lack of
competition in the industry, and the alleged automatic

awarding of contracts to Beaver. 139  (Id.) However,
the only evidence cited to support these allegations in
Plaintiffs' Response to Beaver's 56.1 Statement is Mr.
Rowe's declaration, dated February 27, 2003, which does
not contain statements supporting these claims shown to
be based on personal knowledge. As stated previously,
Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence demonstrating that
Mr. Rowe is qualified to give expert testimony on the
concert promotion industry and when he speaks on
matters beyond his personal knowledge, these statements
are inadmissible under the Federal Rules of Evidence.
See Fed.R.Evid. 602. Thus, Plaintiffs have submitted no

evidence to support these conclusory allegations. 140
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*52  As for Plaintiffs' claim that Beaver receives favorable
contract terms, which are unavailable to black promoters,

(Pls.' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 7–9), 141  as in discussed
in the Jam section, see supra pp. 83–86, the evidence shows
that these are negotiated terms, which are approved by
artists and their managers and do not raise an inference
of discrimination based on race. Plaintiffs offer as exhibits
a multitude of copies, many of which are duplicates,
of contracts between the artists and Beaver. (Pls.' Resp.
Beaver Mem. Ex. 6E, 6F.) Plaintiffs do not show that they
bid on any of the concerts to which the exhibit contracts
pertain; thus, the Promoter Defendants' negotiation of
these contracts are not evidence of disparate treatment
with respect to any specific contract that Plaintiffs sought.
Furthermore, the contracts' disparate terms would affect
other white promoters just as much as the Plaintiffs.
Accordingly, no inference of discrimination based on race
can be made.

In the Plaintiffs' Response to Beaver's Memorandum,
Plaintiffs cite Mr. Rowe's review of “thousands of
‘confidential’ contracts between the other former and
current promoter Defendants” (Rowe Beaver Decl., Pls.'
Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 14; see also Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev.
Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 19) to assert that Beaver was almost
always only required to pay a 10% deposit or no deposit
at all. (Pls.' Resp. Beaver Mem. at 9.) Based on his review,
Mr. Rowe asserts that he has “personal knowledge of two
different deposit standards, one for white promoters and
one for black promoters” and that “[e]ach was well known
to Beaver and the agency Defendants who conspired
to exclude black promoters from the competition by
making the price to promote an act too steep.” (Rowe
Beaver Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 14; see also Rowe
Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 19.) Plaintiffs
have not shown that Mr. Rowe is qualified an expert
witness, and no expert report stating that these contracts
are a representative sample or supporting Mr. Rowe's
conclusions has been submitted on this motion. (See
also Jaynes Dep., in J. Reply A., at 288; see also Rowe
Entertainment, Inc. v. The William Morris Agency, Inc.,
No. 98–8272, 2003 WL 22124991, (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15,
2003.)

Nonetheless, in a large number of those contracts, Beaver
was required to pay no deposit or a 10% deposit. In others,
Beaver was required to pay the 50% guarantee deposit.
Thus, the Plaintiffs' selection of contracts shows that the
lower deposit is not uniformly offered to Beaver. In some

contracts Beaver evidently was able to negotiate a lesser
deposit or other more favorable terms (such as payment
by a company check rather than a certified check). Since
the standard terms are often crossed out and initialed,
the Court's review of the contracts in question show that
the Booking Agency Defendants generally used a form of
contract which asked concert promoters to pay a deposit
of 50% of the artist's guarantee, but that the Beaver
and other concert promoters would negotiate the deposit

down to a lesser amount. 142  (See Mickelson Decl. II,
Roberts Decl. Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5–17 (describing the process for
negotiating a contract between Jam, the booking agencies
and the artists and stating that Jam's proposed changes
to a draft contract are accompanied by a box stating
“initial here” to indicate where changes are located);
see also Dep. of Bill Washington, dated July 11, 2002
(“Washington Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. VI, at 192 (a black
promoter explaining that he has been able to negotiate
lower deposit terms based on a prior relationship with
the artist or the artist's manager); L. Bailey Dep., in
J.A., Vol. IV, at 69–71 (a black promoter who has a
personal relationship with Kenny G, explaining that he
also had been able to receive a lower deposit requirement
in contracts with Kenny G).)

*53  Plaintiffs have presented no expert evidence or
other evidence to negate the conclusion that there are
good business reasons for the different terms negotiated
in the contracts of the Promoter Defendants with the
artist. Mr. Rowe's review of documents cannot create an
inference of “two different deposit standards” used by the
Booking Agency Defendants, particularly when review of
the selected contracts presented to the Court shows that
the different standard claimed is generally not offered to
the Promoter Defendants and often is not negotiated to a
lower standard by the Promoter Defendants.

D. Claims Against the Booking Agency Defendants

1. William Morris Agency, Inc.'s Motion for Summary
Judgment

Plaintiffs allege specific acts of discrimination and
participation in a conspiracy to discriminate by WMA
in the Amended Complaint and in their Response in
Opposition to WMA's Motion for Summary Judgment.
First, Plaintiffs allege that WMA and other Defendants
excluded them from promoting Toni Braxton in
connection with the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour.
(Am.Compl.¶ 87(f).) Second, Plaintiffs allege that WMA
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and other Defendants excluded them from promoting
concert dates in 1998 and 1999 for Maxwell. (Id. ¶ 87(d).)
Third, Plaintiffs allege that WMA excluded Plaintiff
Boseman from promoting a concert by Erykah Badu in
1997 and excluded Plaintiffs generally from promoting
Ms. Badu's concerts in 1998 in favor of the concert
Promoter Defendants. (Id. ¶ 87(c).) Fourth, Plaintiffs
claim that in the late 1980s and the 1990s, WMA
allegedly “excluded plaintiffs from promoting shows given
by [its] black artists the Temptations, Barry White,
Earth Wind & Fire, War and Lauren [sic] Hill.” (Id.
¶ 87(e).) Additionally, in their Response in Opposition
to WMA's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs
further elaborate on their allegation of discrimination
in relation to Lauryn Hill concert promotion and also
allege that WMA prevented Plaintiff Jones from securing
an exclusive at Mud Island and from promoting James
Taylor at Mud Island. (Pls.' Resp. in Opp'n to WMA's
Mot. for Summ. J., dated Apr. 24, 2003 (“Pls.' Resp.
WMA”), at 19–21, 23–24.) Plaintiffs also allege various

general claims of discrimination against WMA. 143  (Id. at
5–17.)

(i) Plaintiffs' Claims of Exclusion from Promoting Toni
Braxton on the 1997 Kenny G/Toni Braxton Tour

With respect to the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour, 144

Plaintiffs have not provided any evidence to establish a
prima facie case of racial discrimination by WMA under
§ 1981. Nor have Plaintiffs provided evidence which raises
an inference that WMA conspired with other Defendants
to exclude Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs have not offered any
evidence that Mr. Rowe, Mr. Boseman, or any other
Plaintiff had contact with any WMA agent regarding the
Kenny G/Braxton tour. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
1230 (stating that he had no contact with WMA “because
CAA was the sole lead agency for the tour”); Boseman
Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 815, 916, 945, 961–62, 1331,
1347 (discussing his conversations with CAA concerning
Ms. Braxton, but never mentioning WMA).) Nor did Mr.
King have any contact with any WMA agents regarding
the Kenny G/Braxton tour. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at
1120.) Plaintiff Jones makes no assertion of discrimination
in regards to the Kenny G/Braxton Tour.

*54  Moreover, the evidence does not show that WMA
had any involvement in choosing the lead promoters for
concerts on the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour, which is the

subject of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. As Brandon
Phillips, Ms. Braxton's manager, testified:

Well, basically, we didn't want to pay William Morris
Agency a commission since she'd just gone there, and
they really had nothing to do with this tour. We didn't
need two agencies booking the tour.

So we accepted CAA as the tour agent, but only Kenny
G paid them a commission. Toni was able to avoid
paying an agent's commission on her part of the tour....

And, structurally, it just meant that Mike Peranian [sic]
and CAA went out there and either solicited or received
the offers for the tour, for the Kenny G/Toni Braxton
tour.

(Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 33–34; see also Light
Decl. I, Ex. 6 (showing two Kenny G contracts, dated
November 7 and 21, 1996, on CAA forms between
Turner Management, Kenny G's manager, and promoters
requiring Turner Management to produce artist Braxton
and splitting artists' net revenues between Braxton and
Kenny G 34%/51%); Armand Decl., attached to Light
Decl. II, Ex. A (showing additional Kenny G contracts,
dated in November 1996, December 1996 and January
1997, with similar terms to the above contracts).)

Therefore, Plaintiffs have documented no evidentiary
basis from which to infer any acts of racial discrimination
by WMA in connection with the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton

tour. 145

(ii) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding the 1998 and 1999
Maxwell Tours

With respect to Plaintiffs' claim that WMA excluded and
conspired to exclude Plaintiffs from promoting concert
dates for Maxwell in 1998 and in 1999, the evidence shows
that, in or about July 1998, Mr. Rowe called Jeff Frasco,
WMA's agent assigned to black artist Maxwell, learned
that Maxwell was going on tour, and was promised black
promoter involvement in the tour. (Aff. of Leonard Rowe,
dated Apr. 21, 2003, (“Rowe WMA Aff.”), attached as
Ex. 1 in Pls.' Resp. WMA Exs., ¶ 21.) Mr. Rowe then sent
a letter, dated July 20, 1998, to Mr. Frasco (Pls.' Resp.
WMA Ex. 18), but received no response. Exhibit 18, a
letter on Rowe Entertainment letterhead, lists seven cities
and states it is making a “firm offer” for:

Minneapolis, MN $ 60,000.00/Per show
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Chicago, IL
 

$100,000.00/Per show
 

Detroit, MI
 

$100,000.00/Per show
 

Washington, DC
 

$ 60,000.00/Per show
 

New York, NY
 

$125,000.00/Per show
 

Atlanta, GA
 

$100,000.00/Per show
 

Los Angeles, CA
 

$125,000.00/Per show
 

(Id.) 146

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 19, a WMA draft tour schedule for
Maxwell, shows that by August 5, 1998, WMA had also
received firm guarantees for venues in five cities at an
equal or higher price to those offered by Mr. Rowe, and
shows the venue with seating capacity from a number
of the Promoter Defendants with the name “Magic” or

“Mag” scripted in for three of these cities. 147  (Id.)

*55  On August 24, 1998, Mr. Rowe, as Executive
President of the BPA, wrote to Magic Johnson and
congratulated him on being assigned exclusive rights to
promote the upcoming Maxwell tour and offered Mr.
Johnson membership in the BPA. (Maxwell Letter from
BPA to Mr. E. Johnson, dated Aug. 24, 1998, Pls.' WMA
Resp. Ex. 24; see also E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl.
Ex. 3, ¶¶ 4, 8.) A letter dated as of September 1, 1998,
from WMA acting as agent for Maxwell to MJP asked
MJP to confirm its agreement that in exchange for a
$350,000 advance to Maxwell, MJP would contract with
each local promoter to receive 50% of any promoter
profit and to assume 50% of any promoter loss incurred.
(Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 23.) A later WMA tour schedule,
dated September 11, 1998, shows sixteen cities with firm
offers from MJE (Magic Johnson Enterprises) and local
promoters, in which eight shows had black local co-
promoters. (Id. Ex. 20.)

On September 3, 1998, Mr. Rowe wrote Randy Hoffman
of Hoffman Entertainers, Maxwell's managers, on BPA
letterhead, stating the BPA would protest and boycott
the Maxwell tour. The letter indicates copies were sent
to Magic Johnson, Maxwell, WMA, various publications

and a number of civil rights leaders. 148  (Letter from BPA
to Mr. Hoffman, dated Sept. 3, 1998, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem.
Ex. 1G; see also E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex.

3, ¶ 7.) On September 8, 1998, Mr. King for First Class
Productions and as Secretary of the BPA sent another
letter to Mr. Hoffman stating, “YOU NOW HAVE
BUT ONE CHOICE. STOP YOUR WICKED WAYS
OR FUEL OUR POWER WITH YOUR RACIST
TACTICS....” (Pls.' WMA Ex. 128.)

The Maxwell 1998 tour was cancelled, but a tour was
rescheduled in 1999. (E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex.
3, ¶ 8.) Magic Johnson states specifically that, with respect
to the 1999 Maxwell tour, MJP “submitted a competitive
offer to booking agency [WMA] that was accepted by
Maxwell's management.” (Id. ¶ 5.) On June 15, 1999, Jeff
Frasco of WMA sent a memo to “all promoters” stating
MJP is a 50% co-promoter on all dates and:

All advertising must read, “Magic Johnson Productions
in association with [local promoter] Presents Maxwell.”

BET (Black Entertainment Television) is the tour
sponsor....

All marketing plans, radio promotion, and advertising
must be approved by Billy Sparks prior to the on-sale....

(Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 25.)

In connection with the 1998 Maxwell tour, Plaintiffs have
failed to present a prima facie case of discrimination under
McDonnell Douglas. Plaintiffs have failed to provide
evidence to contradict Mr. Frasco's testimony that
Maxwell's management, not WMA, rejected their offers.
Even assuming that there was evidence showing that
WMA had contributed to that decision, the circumstances
do not give rise to an inference of racial discrimination
because, instead of Mr. Rowe, a black promoter was
hired as the national promoter for the 1998 Maxwell
tour. In their Memorandum of Law in Support of their
Motion for Summary Judgment, WMA acknowledges
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Mr. Rowe's offer for seven cities (Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex.
18), and Mr. Jones's offer for three cities (Memphis,
Nashville, Norfolk/Hampton) “whenever there is a tour
for Maxwell” (Letter from Fred Jones to Jeff Frasco
of WMA, dated July 6, 1998, in J.A., Vol. II, Ex. 5).
(WMA Mem. at 8 n. 5.) However, it is unrebutted that,
as Mr. Frasco testified, he forwarded any offer expressing
interest in the tour to Mr. Hoffman, Maxwell's manager
(Frasco Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 119–20), and that Mr.
Hoffman and Maxwell were the ultimate decision makers
in choosing promoters for Maxwell's tour engagements

(WMA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 57; 149  Frasco Dep., in J.A., Vol.
IV, at 97). It is also unrebutted that Mr. Hoffman and
Maxwell hired MJP as the national tour promoter for the

1998 Maxwell tour 150  (WMA 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 57–59; King
Dep., in J.A., Vol.V, at 588, 597, 1098–99; Frasco Dep., in
J.A., Vol. IV, at 97, 100–01, 125; Grosslight Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. IV, at 122–24), and that MJP is owned and operated
by African Americans ((E. Johnson Decl., McCabe Decl.

Ex. 3, ¶ 6). 151  Additionally, the 1998 Maxwell tour was
cancelled. Thus, Plaintiffs have no claim under § 1981 for
race discrimination for the cancelled 1998 Maxwell tour.

*56  As for the 1999 Maxwell tour, Plaintiffs maintain
that the total of Mr. Rowe's “firm” offers in his July
20, 1998 letter for the 1998 Maxwell tour was greater by
$100,000 than the guarantees of the “dominant” white
promoters who were later awarded concerts for the 1999
tour. (Pls.' WMA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 110 (citing Pls.' Resp. WMA

Ex. 19 (WMA Doc. of 8/5/99), 152  Ex. 20 (WMA Doc.
of 9/11/98); see also Rowe WMA Aff., Pls.' WMA Ex. 1,
¶ 21.) However, a comparison of these offers cannot be
made because: (1) Rowe's offer (Exhibit 18) was for 1998
and did not contain proposals for the artist/promoter split,

venues, venue capacity or ticket price; 153  (2) Exhibit 19
and Exhibit 20 do not reflect MJP's advance of $350,000
or the guarantees of the local promoters for the 1999
tour, and (3) Rowe Entertainment made no offer for
Maxwell's 1999 tour (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
1221), when another year had passed since Maxwell was
named Rolling Stones Breakthrough Artist of the Year
(1996). As Mr. Rowe did not bid on the 1999 Maxwell
tour, he has not provided evidence to form a prima facie
case of racial discrimination by WMA under McDonnell
Douglas.

In connection with the 1999 tour, Plaintiff Jones did
submit a bid to promote Maxwell on September 16, 1999

at the Grand Old Opry House in Nashville, “if Maxwell
performed there.” (Letter from Fred Jones to Jeff Frasco
of WMA, dated Sept. 16, 1999, in J.A., Vol. II, Ex.
39.) Plaintiffs, however, have not submitted evidence to
show that Maxwell performed there or in the other cities
included in Mr. Jones's offer for the 1998 Maxwell tour.
Accordingly, Plaintiff Jones has also failed to provide
evidence of a prima facie case for a violation of 42 U.S.C.

§ 1981. 154

As to Plaintiffs' claim that WMA conspired with other
defendants to exclude them from the 1999 Maxwell tour,
it is unrebutted that Maxwell and his manager, Randy
Hoffman, made the selection of MJP as the Maxwell
tour promoter and of the local promoters for Maxwell's
1998 and 1999 tour engagements. Plaintiffs have presented
no evidence suggesting that WMA and other defendants
conspired to engage MJP in order to exclude Plaintiffs
because of their race. It is undisputed that MJP is owned
and managed by African Americans. (E. Johnson Decl.,
McCabe Decl. Ex. 3, ¶ 6.) In addition to MJP, the
following black promoters were retained in local markets
to co-promote concerts on the 1999 Maxwell tour: Bill
Washington co-promoted nine shows; Lionel Bea co-
promoted two shows; Clarence Jones co-promoted two
shows; and Plaintiff Boseman co-promoted one show in
Virginia with MJP and Cellar Door Concerts. (Johnson
Decl., McCabe Decl. Ex. 3, ¶ 8; Boseman Dep., in
J.A., Vol. III, at 762–64; Letter from Berkeley Reinhold
of WMA to Mr. Robinson, Mr. Boseman. and Mr.
O'Connell, dated Apr. 17, 1999, J.A., Vol. II, Ex. 35
(amending contract between Sun Song and MJP to include
Cellar Door Productions (Sun Song 25%, MJP 50%
and Cellar Door 25%).) Additionally, Maxwell and his
manager hired Billy Sparks, an African American, to
coordinate the marketing and promotional radio activity
for the 1999 Maxwell tour and hired BET Television.
(Sparks Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 24–25, 41–42; Frasco
Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 217–19.) Accordingly, Plaintiffs
have failed to show that in relation to the 1998 and 1999
Maxwell tour there was a conspiracy by WMA and others
to discriminate against Plaintiffs because of their race.

*57  A reasonable jury could not find an inference based
on the evidence presented on this motion that Defendant
WMA intentionally discriminated against any of the
Plaintiffs in making a contract, or interfered with Plaintiffs
making a contract, to promote the Maxwell Tour in
1998 or 1999 because of any Plaintiff's race in violation
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of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 or conspired with others to deny
plaintiffs equal protection of the laws or equal privileges
and immunities under the law in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1985(3).

(iii) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Erykah Badu
Paragraph 87(c) of the Amended Complaint reads as
follows:

In connection with concerts to
be given by the Grammy award-
winning R & B performer, Erykah
Badu, a black performer, and
not long prior to release of Ms.
Badu's debut album in early 1997,
plaintiff Jesse Boseman telephoned
Badu's agent, Cara Lewis at
William Morris, and asked to
promote Badu's concerts at either
of the two New York City
venues on specific dates. Lewis,
who personally knows Boseman,
denied that Badu was scheduling
concerts. In or about March 1997,
Mr. Boseman asked Ron Delsener
of Delsener/Slater to telephone
Lewis and inquire whether Badu
was scheduling concerts. Delsener
thereupon telephoned Lewis and
was informed that Badu was
in fact scheduling concerts and,
in Boseman's presence, Delsener
obtained from Lewis the right to
promote a May 1997 concert to be
given by Badu at the Supper Club in
New York City. After Badu's second
album was released in November
1997, the BPA telephoned Lewis at
William Morris to request concert
dates for Badu's 1998 tour. Lewis
assured the BPA that there were
no concert dates planned. Within
a month thereafter, however, the
promoter defendants were assigned
numerous Badu tour dates by
William Morris.

(Am.Compl.¶ 87(c).)

Mr. Boseman testified that possibly as early as January
1997 he had called Cara Lewis, WMA's agent in charge
of R & B acts, and asked to promote Ms. Badu at the

Theatre at Madison Square Garden 155  or the Beacon
Theater. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 715, 721–22.)
According to Mr. Boseman, Ms. Lewis stated Ms. Badu
wasn't going to tour and, therefore, he did not propose
dates or other venues. (Id. at 722–23.) He also testified

that later, in March 1997, 156  when he was in the office
of former promoter defendant Delsener/Slater with Mr.

Delsener and Mr. Slater, Mr. Slater 157  called Cara Lewis
about Ms. Badu's availability. (Id. at 729, 732.) According
to Mr. Boseman, Mr. Slater said “Ms. Lewis had told
him that [Ms. Badu] was going to do some dates,” but
the venues and specific dates had not been decided. (Id. at
736.) Mr. Boseman further testified that, a week or two
later, Mr. Delsener and Mr. Slater told him that “they had
selected a venue and Ms. Lewis had told him also that if
they do business with Sun Song, that she wouldn't do any

business with them any further.” (Id. at 737–38 .) 158

As for the concert promoter defendants who are alleged in
Paragraph 87(c) of the Amended Complaint to have been
“assigned numerous Badu tour dates by William Morris”
within a month of the BPA November 1997 phone call
regarding Ms. Badu's 1998 tour, Mr. Boseman could not
identify any specific concert promoter defendant who
had received these dates. (Id. at 745.) Mr. Boseman
acknowledges he did not submit a bid for a Badu concert
at any venue. (Id.)

*58  Ms. Lewis's recollection was that when Mr. Boseman
first called he asked about Ms. Badu playing the Apollo
Theater and that, “[c]onsistent with management's career
objectives for Ms. Badu, [she] advised Mr. Boseman that
Ms. Badu was not playing at venues like the Apollo ...
because she wanted to play only small clubs and general

admissions rooms,” 159  (Decl. of Cara Lewis, dated Feb.
27, 2003 (“Lewis Decl.”), ¶ 14; see also Dep. of Cara
Lewis, dated Jan. 17, 2002, in J.A., Vol. V, at 314.)
Ms. Lewis states, however, that if Mr. Boseman did call
in January 1997, the statement that Ms. Badu was not
doing any dates at that time was correct. (Lewis Decl.
¶ 15.) Ms. Lewis attaches to her declaration a schedule
generated from WMA's concert database of all Ms. Badu's
concert engagements for 1997, which shows that, other
than appearing at an industry function in January, Ms.
Badu did not perform any concert engagements in January
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and for a period of two months thereafter. 160  (Id. Ex.
1 (Erykah Badu Engagements 1997) at 1.) Ms. Badu's
first concert engagements were on April 8 and 9, 1997,
and were promoted by black concert promoters. (Id. ¶
15, Ex. 1 at 1.) Ms. Badu made only two appearances in
New York City, one at the Supper Club and another at
Tramps. (Id. ¶ 16, Ex. 1 at 2.) Ms. Lewis states that both
of these venues are booked exclusively by the building
and, thus, no independent promoter could have promoted

Ms. Badu at these venues. 161  (Id. ¶ 17.) Only five of
Ms. Badu's forty-seven engagements in 1997 went to the
former concert promoter defendants, and at least seven of
her shows were promoted by black promoters. (Id. ¶ 19,
Ex. 1.) Plaintiffs have offered no evidence in contradiction
of Mr. Lewis's sworn statement.

In regards to the 1997 concerts of Ms. Badu, Plaintiff
Boseman has failed to present a prima facie case of
discrimination under McDonnell Douglas because the
evidence shows that no concerts were held at either of
the two specific venues Mr. Boseman inquired about,
the Theatre at Madison Square Garden (Paramount) and
the Beacon Theatre. Both of these venues are too large
be considered similar to the venues in which Ms. Badu
played. (See Lewis Decl. ¶ 18.) Most importantly, Mr.
Boseman failed to submit a bid for any Badu concerts after
he learned that Ms. Badu would perform concerts at small

venues and supper clubs. 162

Plaintiffs' second claim alleges that after the release
of Ms. Badu's second album in November 1997, the
BPA (Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman) telephoned Ms.
Lewis to request concert dates for Ms. Badu's 1998 tour
and that Ms. Lewis stated there were no concert dates
planned. (Am.Compl.¶ 87(c).) The Amended Complaint
further alleges that Plaintiffs learned a month later that
“the promoter defendants were assigned numerous Badu
tour dates.” (Id.) Ms. Lewis's declaration in response
attaches a schedule from WMA's database of Ms. Badu's
1998 concerts, which support her statements and also
show that none of the concert promoter defendants
promoted Ms. Badu in 1998, contrary to Plaintiffs'

allegation in paragraph 87(c). 163  (Id. Ex. 2 (Erykah Badu
Engagements 1998).) Ms. Lewis states that Ms. Badu did
not go on tour in 1998 but did schedule four individual
engagements, three of which were promoted in-house by
the venue itself (not by independent concert promoters).
(Lewis Decl. ¶ 22.) The fourth date was copromoted by

a black promoter, Al Wash. (Id.) Plaintiffs have offered
no evidence in contradiction to these sworn statements by
Ms. Lewis. Thus, Plaintiffs' claims that Ms. Lewis failed to
give them the concert dates for Ms. Badu's 1998 tour and
instead assigned them to the Promoter Defendants has no
evidentiary support. Ms. Badu did not tour in 1998 and
no dates were given to the Promoter Defendants. Instead
in 1998 Ms. Badu scheduled only four concerts, and three
of the concerts could not be promoted by independent
concert promoters, such as Plaintiffs or the Promoter
Defendants. Plaintiffs were not similarly situated to those
who received the promotion opportunities. Lastly, the
fourth concert was co-promoted by a black promoter.
On the above evidence, no rational juror could infer
discrimination based on race from the actions of Ms.
Lewis.

*59  Finally, Ms. Lewis's declaration contradicts Plaintiff
Jones's testimony that in 1998 that he spoke to her
assistant and was told Ms. Badu was not playing any
dates in Memphis, but later learned Ms. Badu had agreed
to play in late April 1998 for Bob Kelley of Mid–South
Concerts in Memphis. (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at
249–50.) Ms. Lewis attached two offers from Mr. Kelley
generated from the WMA concert database for Badu
concerts to take place at the Mid–South Fair in April 1998,
which show one offer was rejected January 16, 1998, and
the other February 9, 1998. (Lewis Decl. ¶ 26, Exs. 4,
5.) Since Mr. Jones's statement about what he learned in
regards to the alleged April 1998 concert is hearsay and
the unrebutted evidence shows that each of the offers by
Mr. Kelley was rejected by Ms. Badu in or near January
1998, well before Mr. Kelley's suicide, Plaintiff Jones has
not presented a prima facie case of discrimination under
McDonnell Douglas.

(iv) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding the Temptations and
Other Groups

Paragraph 87(e) of the Amended Complaint reads as
follows:

In the late 1980's and the 1990's,
William Morris excluded plaintiffs
from promoting shows given by
William Morris' black artists the
Temptations, Barry White, Earth
Wind & Fire, War and Lauren
[sic] Hill. The promoter defendants
were given promotion contracts for
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these acts. In 1998, Electric Factory
was given the exclusive contract
to promoter nationwide tours of
Earth Wind & Fire and Barry
White. Both of these acts were
previously promoted by Rowe and
Rowe Entertainment, and Electric
Factory was aware of their earlier
involvement with those groups, but
excluded them.

(Am.Compl.¶ 87(e).)

The Plaintiffs have dismissed their claims against Electric
Factory and present no evidence against it or WMA in
support of their allegation. Since 1987, Mr. Rowe has
never submitted a bid to WMA to promote a concert
engagement by the Temptations. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol.
VI, at 1135–36.) Mr. Rowe has never submitted a bid to
WMA to promote a concert by Barry White during the
1980s or 1990s. (Id. at 1225–26.) Plaintiffs have presented
no evidence that Mr. Rowe or Rowe Entertainment bid
for the nationwide tour of Earth, Wind & Fire in 1998, or
at any other time. Mr. Rowe has never submitted a bid
or called anyone at WMA to promote a concert by War
during the 1980s or 1990s, and he testified that he did not
want to promote a concert by War in the 1990s because
War's “popularity fell off.” (Id. at 1140.)

Mr. Boseman has never called a WMA agent to express
an interest in promoting a concert engagement by the
Temptations and never submitted a bid to promote
the Temptations. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at
769.) Mr. Boseman testified that he had no interest in
promoting the Temptations because “[t]heir popularity
was the years before I started promoting.” (Id.) Mr.
Boseman promoted Barry White in the early 1970s and on
Mr. White's tour (which may have been in 1995, 1996, or
1997), and he does not recall “anybody at William Morris
ever [telling him] not to put in a bid for Barry White.” (Id.
at 771.) Mr. Boseman never submitted a bid to WMA to
promote a concert by Earth, Wind & Fire after 1988 (id.
at 460), or a concert by War (id. at 772–73). He thinks he
“might have passed” on promoting War. (Id. at 773.)

*60  Plaintiff King has not submitted a bid to WMA
to promote a concert by the Temptations, Barry White,
War or Earth, Wind & Fire. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol.
V, at 1115–18.) Mr. King testified that no one at WMA
ever told him not to submit a bid to promote a concert

by Earth, Wind & Fire or War. (Id.) Mr. King turned
down an offer to promote a concert by Earth, Wind &
Fire because he felt there was no demand for the show in
Mississippi. (Id. at 741–42, 747–48.) Mr. King has never
bid on a concert by a white artist represented by WMA,
not because of anything a WMA agent did or said, but
because lead Plaintiff Leonard Rowe and Plaintiff Jesse
Boseman told him not to do so. (Id., in J. Reply A., at
1066–67.)

Plaintiff Jones testified that he did not submit a bid on a
concert by Barry White and never had any interest in being
tour promoter for any artist. (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV,
at 208–09.) Plaintiffs have presented no evidence that Mr.
Jones expressed an interest to WMA for promotion of the
concerts of the other artists mentioned in paragraph 87(e)
of the Amended Complaint.

Plaintiffs have failed to present a prima facie case of
discrimination under McDonnell Douglas in relation to
the claims in paragraph 87(e), as they have not provided
evidence of any specific promotion opportunity for which
they submitted a bid and were rejected.

(v) Plaintiffs' Claims Involving Lauryn Hill
In their Response in Opposition to WMA's Motion
for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs further elaborate on
the claim included in paragraph 87(e) of the Amended
Complaint that WMA discriminated against Plaintiffs in
relation to the artist Lauryn Hill. (Pls.' Resp. WMA at
23–24.) During discovery, Plaintiff Boseman asserted that
Cara Lewis of WMA discriminated against him on the
basis of his race in connection with the artist Lauryn Hill.
(Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 685.) This assertion
was based on conversations Mr. Boseman had with Ms.
Lewis in March or April 1999, in which he mentioned his
interest in being involved in a Lauryn Hill concert at the

Theatre at Madison Square Garden. 164  (Id. at 329, 635–
36, 638, 685–86, 690.) Mr. Boseman testified that despite
being told by Ms. Lewis that he could be involved and that
someone at WMA would contact him, Ms. Lewis gave the
work to Mary Flowers, another black promoter. (Id. at
328–30, 635–36, 638, 640, 685–86.) Mr. Boseman did not
submit a bid to promote any Lauryn Hill concert in 1999.
(Id. at 1183–84.)

Also, Plaintiff Rowe testified that Ms. Lewis has
discriminated against him on the basis of race in
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connection with Lauryn Hill, because he had submitted
a “bid” to promote Ms. Hill in 1997 or the beginning
of 1998. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1172–74.) Mr.
Rowe testified that after sending in this bid, he met with
Ms. Lewis, who told him he would be involved in some
dates, but he never was. (Id.) During his deposition Mr.
Rowe was unable to state the specific date, the venue, or
any of the financial terms included in his bid and has not
produced a copy of his bid to promote Ms. Hill. (Id.)

*61  In her declaration, Ms. Lewis maintains that neither
Mr. Rowe nor Mr. Boseman ever submitted a bid to
promote a concert for Lauryn Hill. (Lewis Decl. ¶ 28.) She
states that in 1999, Ms. Hill did individual concerts as well
as a concert tour. (Id. ¶¶ 30–31 .) The tour was promoted

by Al Haymon, a black promoter. 165  (Id . ¶ 30, Ex. 7.)
Ms. Lewis has submitted a true and complete listing of Ms.
Hill's concerts in 1999 from WMA's computerized concert
records, showing that Delsener/Slater and Mary Flowers
promoted Ms. Hill's concert at the Theatre at Madison
Square Garden and that Mr. Haymon promoted three
other individual concerts, in addition to the tour. (Id. Ex.
6.) Additionally, other black promoters, Lionel Bea, Bill
Washington, Darryl Brooks, Anthony Williams, Earnest
Booker and Magic Johnson Enterprises, promoted or co-
promoted five Lauryn Hill concerts. (Id.)

Plaintiffs have failed to present evidence of a prima facie
case of discrimination based on race under McDonnell
Douglas. Plaintiffs Boseman and Rowe have not shown
that they submitted a bid in relation to any Lauryn
Hill concerts in 1999. Although Mr.Boseman expressed
interest in a specific concert by Ms. Hill at the Theatre
at Madison Square Garden, he testified that Ms. Lewis
gave the “shows I normally do with Ron Delsener” to
Ms. Flowers. (Boseman Dep., J.A., Vol. III, at 328.) Mr.
Boseman's complaint is not that he was not awarded a
contract for full promotion or lead promotion, but rather
the work he would normally do was awarded to another
black promoter. Since Mary Flowers, a black promoter,
was the co-promoter for the concert at the Theater at
Madison Square Garden, Mr. Boseman's claim that he
was not the co-promoter due to discrimination based
on race fails. Since Mr. Rowe cannot recall any specific
information about his claimed bid and has not produced
a copy, Plaintiffs have presented no evidence to show
that his bid was equal to, but lost to, a white promoter's
bid. Additionally, the substantial black concert promoter
involvement in Ms. Hill's 1999 concert and concert tours,

contradicts Plaintiffs' claim of intent to discriminate due
to Plaintiffs' race.

(vi) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Mud Island
Plaintiffs maintain that WMA discriminated against
Plaintiff Fred Jones when it prevented him from securing
an exclusive contract for the Mud Island Amphitheatre
and from promoting James Taylor at Mud Island. (Pls.'
Resp. WMA at 19–21.) The facts related to the Mud Island
claim are reviewed in the Beaver section, supra pp. 96–99.

Plaintiffs have failed to produce any evidence indicating
that WMA interfered, or conspired with other Defendants
to interfere, with Mr. Jones potential exclusive contract at
Mud Island. As stated supra pp. 99–100, Mayor Herenton
decided that it was in the best interest of Memphis to keep
Mud Island open to all promoters and made this decision
without the influence of any of the Defendants in this
matter.

*62  Plaintiffs argue that it is not a coincidence that
on the same day (April 20, 1998) Mr. Jones sent WMA
and other booking agencies a press release regarding his
pending exclusive at Mud Island, Beaver sent a letter to
the Memphis Park Commission asking that it not grant
anyone an exclusive agreement on Mud Island and stating
that if “ ‘an exclusive agreement is entered into with
any other party, it will cause us to take our shows to
other facilities in the market .” ’ (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 20
(quoting Leff letter, Pls.' WMA Ex. 141).) Mr. Jones also
testified that a day or so after he sent out his press release
to WMA, he spoke with Mr. Shelly Schultz and Mr.
Kenny DiCamillo and was told that WMA was cancelling
the James Taylor concert at Mud Island. (Jones Dep.,
Pls.' WMA Ex. 49, at 350.) Plaintiffs have presented no
direct evidence that WMA used information it received
from anyone, including Plaintiff Jones, to interfere or to
conspire with others to interfere with the Mud Island
contract. Plaintiffs argue instead that Beaver's “threat”
in its April 20, 1998 letter, to use other facilities in the
market if an exclusive agreement for Mud Island was
granted was in fact endorsed by WMA and that the
simultaneous cancellation of James Taylor's performances
at Mud Island evidences this endorsement. (Pls .' Resp.
WMA at 20.)

On April 17, 1998, three days before Mr. Jones announced
his pending exclusive and Mr. Leff's letter, and less
than a month after Mr. Kelley's suicide, Mr. Schultz of
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WMA confirmed to Susan Green, who was the former
vice president of Mr. Kelley's Mid–South Concerts and
who had been hired by Beaver for their new office in
Memphis, that WMA was “cancel[ling] the James Taylor
engagement at Mud Island Amphitheatre on June 23–
24, 1998” and rescheduling the James Taylor concert
with “Don Fox in conjunction with [her] and [her] new
organization” at Mid–South Coliseum on June 24, 1998.
(Pls. WMA Ex. 124.)

Plaintiffs argue that “WMA switched venues in order to
disguise its true intentions, which was to switch promoters
and send a powerful message to the Commission regarding
its intentions if it entered into an exclusive agreement with
Jones.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 21.) However, Plaintiffs have
presented no evidence that WMA or Beaver or anyone
else notified the Memphis Park Commission of the change
of venue for the James Taylor concert. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs' argument is pure speculation. Plaintiffs have
failed to offer testimony by Commission Officers Mr.
Boyer and Mr. Malmo or by Ms. Green to support their
arguments.

Plaintiffs also argue that WMA switched promoters to
discriminate against Mr. Jones and drive him out of the
Memphis market. (Id.) In response to this allegation,
WMA presents the affidavit of Shelly Schultz, now a third-
party witness, who states that WMA did not decide to
switch promoters, but rather “Mr. Taylor's management
decided to have Beaver promote Mr. Taylor's appearance
in Memphis at the Mid–South Coliseum on June 24, 1998
because ... Beaver was going to promote Mr. Taylor's
appearance on June 20, 1998 in Little Rock [and due to
Mr. Kelley's suicide] we did not have a promoter at Mud
Island.” (Aff. of Sheldon Schultz, dated May 21, 2003
(“Schultz Aff.”), ¶ 8.) Mr. Schultz further states that Mr.
Taylor's management also made the decision “because
we understood at that time that Bob Kelley's employees
in Memphis, who would be involved in promotion, were
being hired by Beaver.” (Id.) Mr. Schultz also states that
when he wrote the letter to Ms. Green, he “did not know
of Mr. Jones, let alone know that he hoped to step in

at Mud Island.” 166  (Id. ¶ 9.) Mr. Schultz states that he
only learned about Mr. Jones intentions and relationship
with Mr. Kelley when he received the fax from Mr. Jones
about the Mud Island exclusive sometime after April 21 or
22, 1998. (Id.) Additionally, Mr. Schultz states that at the
time of Mr. Kelley's death, no written contract between
Mr. Taylor and Island Events or Mid–South Concerts had

been prepared or even negotiated, but rather that he and
Mr. Kelley had an oral understanding that Mr. Taylor
intended to appear at Mud Island on June 23 and 24, 1998
and that the building was on hold for those dates. (Id. ¶ 6.)

*63  Plaintiffs have failed to present a prima facie case of
discrimination against Mr. Jones by WMA in relation to
the alleged switching of promoters for the James Taylor
concerts. Although there was an oral understanding that
Mr. Kelley would promote Mr. Taylor's concerts, there
was no written contract. Additionally, Plaintiffs have
failed to present evidence of WMA's awareness of Mr.
Jones's intention to promote shows at Mud Island before
Mr. Jones's April 21, 1998 fax. The decision to change
venues occurred on April 17, 1998. Even if Plaintiffs
had presented a prima facie case of discrimination in
relation to Mr. Taylor's concerts, WMA has provided
a good business reason for its action since its principal,
Mr. Taylor and his management, decided to hire Beaver.
Plaintiffs have not offered any evidence to show that
this business reason for WMA's actions was a pretext.
McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.

(vii) General Allegations of Discrimination by WMA
Plaintiffs in their Response in Opposition to WMA's
Motion for Summary Judgment state that “WMA has
not produced a single contract demonstrating that a
black promoter has ever promoted a white artist whom
it represented. Not one.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 1.) To
support this claim, Plaintiffs do not cite the discovery
record but rather paragraph 17 of Mr. Rowe's affidavit,
dated April 21, 2003, and paragraph 5 of Mr. King's
affidavit, dated April 22, 2003, both presented in response
to the Defendant WMA's motion. (Id.) These two parties'
statements, however, fail to mention evidence of the
promotion of white artists represented by WMA by black
promoters, which WMA had produced to Plaintiffs. This
evidence includes: Darryl Brooks's promotion of Eminem

(Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 189); 167  Bill Washington's promotion
of New Kids On The Block, The Average White Band and
Santana (id. at ¶ 203); Larry Bailey's promotion of the

Average White Band and WAR (id. at ¶ 201); 168  Mary
Flowers's promotion of Tony Bennett (Grosslight Dep.,
attached as Ex. 29 to Pls.' Resp. WMA Exs., at 163); and
Plaintiff Rowe's promotion of the Average White Band
(id. at 206).
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Similarly, Plaintiffs' brief asserts that “WMA does
not require bids from its co-conspirators” and that
“[t]he dearth of bids in WMA's files demonstrates that
WMA does not solicit, receive or entertain competitive
bids.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 1.) This statement again is
based on a conclusory statement in Mr. Rowe's affidavit.
(Id.) Mr. Grosslight's declaration, however, shows that
WMA produced to Plaintiffs its electronic database of
concert bids received, which reflects 172,309 bids during
the period from 1995 to 2001. (Grosslight Decl. II ¶ 13;
see also Lewis Decl. Exs. 4, 5 (showing copies of alleged
dominant promoter Mr. Kelley's two detailed rejected bids
in WMA database).) Furthermore, the WMA electronic
database shows a total of 87,502 bids were confirmed
in the same period, of which only 7,275 bids were from
the twenty-three former promoter defendants and 1,127
bids were from Jam and Beaver, while 79,100 confirmed
bids were from non-defendant promoters. (Grosslight
Decl. II ¶ 15.) The record is clear that WMA receives
competitive bids and that 90% of the confirmed bids were
from non-defendant promoters. WMA's receipt of 90%
of the confirmed bids from non-defendant promoters also
contradicts Plaintiffs' assertion in their responsive brief
that WMA “contact[s] only an elite fraternity of dominant
white promoters,” i.e., the Promoter Defendants in this

action. 169  (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 1.)

*64  Plaintiffs' claim that WMA “withhold[s] unsolicited
competing bids from black promoters from its artists”
is based apparently on the affidavit of a former WMA
employee, who last worked in the industry in 1986. (Pls.'
Resp. WMA at 1 (citing R. Johnson Aff., Pls .' WMA
Ex. 9, ¶ 3).) Mr. Johnson, however, states that unsolicited
bids received by a WMA agent from any “secondary
promoter” (white or black) “would likely never leave his
or her desk.” (R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' WMA Ex. 9, ¶ 3.)
Thus, even if the statement in the R. Johnson affidavit
was related to a relevant time period, it does not support
a claim of racial discrimination because both white and
black promoters would have been affected by the practice
described.

Plaintiffs also accuse WMA of “withholding information
necessary for black promoters to submit competing bids”
as part of its “gatekeeping powers.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA
at 7–8.) Plaintiffs fail to cite any evidence to support
this claim. They also fail to note that information about
artists' concert plans can be obtained directly from the
artists' manager, whose names and addresses are available

in Pollstar directories. (See Stoll Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
87 (noting that Amusement Business and Pollstar publish
guides on artists' representation).) As to the gatekeeping
accusation, the testimony of the artists, artists' managers
and WMA witnesses is that all bids are referred to the
artists' management or the artist for their consideration.
(Brown Dep., in J. Reply A., at 51; Cosby Dep., in J. Reply
A., at 13, 33; Grosslight Decl. I ¶ 17; Azoff Decl. ¶ 5; Lewis
Decl. ¶ 12; Weisner Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 26–27, 29.)
Plaintiffs have presented no contrary evidence.

In support of the claim that they are excluded by WMA,
Plaintiffs' brief cites a letter from WMA's Sheldon Schultz
to thirty-nine white promoters, dated April 22, 1998, (Pls.'
WMA Ex. 117) giving them a year's advance notice of
plans for a 1998 tour of Culture Club and inviting them

to a VH–1 taping. (Pls.' Resp. WMA at 7–8, n. 19.) 170

However, Plaintiffs do not refer to and counter Mr.
Schultz's explanation of why Plaintiffs did not receive such
a letter. Plaintiffs have offered no evidence to controvert
his testimony that the choice of promoters to whom this
letter was sent was based on discussions with management
along the way and was sent to “the promoters who worked
with [Culture Club] in the past.” (Dep. of Sheldon Schultz,
dated June 11, 2002 (“Schultz Dep.”), in J. Reply A., at

16–18.) 171  Since any promoter, whether black or white,
who had not previously worked with Culture Club in
the past did not receive notice, Plaintiffs have failed to
show that “similarly situated non-minority members were
treated differently.” See Johnson v. New York City Transit
Auth., 639 F.Supp. 887, 893 (E.D.N.Y.1986), aff'd in
relevant part, 823 F.2d 31 (2d Cir.1987). Thus, Plaintiffs
have failed to meet their prima facie burden for this
incident.

*65  Plaintiffs also assert that WMA requires “more
onerous deposit terms from black promoters.” (Pls.' Resp.
WMA at 1, 9–10) As stated supra pp. 83–86, 104–
07, the Court's review of the contracts with Promoter
Defendants Jam and Beaver shows that, although in some
instances the deposit terms for contracts with the concert
promoter defendants are 10% or less, instead of the
50% deposit Plaintiffs state is the industry standard and
required of black promoters, the Promoter Defendants
also are offered contracts by WMA calling for a 50%

deposit. 172  (See Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 15; Pls.'
Resp. Beaver Mem. Ex. 6E, 6F).) Plaintiffs claim that a
pattern of disparity is evidenced by WMA's systematic
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exemption of “white promoters from the standard deposit
requirements,” citing two letters from WMA explaining
that certain promoters will not a pay a deposit. (Pls.'
Resp. WMA Mem. at 10.) The evidence shows that
non-concert promoter defendants such as Nederlander
Theaters, which own a venue, will not pay a deposit.
(Fax from Nancy Vance of WMA to Billie Bullock,
manger for the Temptations, dated May 31, 1995 (stating
“Nederlander does not pay deposits (never has, never
will)”), Pls. WMA Ex. 114.) In this fax, WMA is merely
advising the artist's manager of Nederlander's refusal to
pay a deposit. Similarly, the evidence shows that Cellar
Door will not pay a deposit for concerts performed at
The Bayou. (Letter from Guy Richard of WMA to Dave
Kaplan, manager of Brian Setzer Orchestra, dated July
3, 1996, Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 52.) Plaintiffs' Response
WMA Exhibit 52 merely advises that Cellar Door, as a
matter of policy, does not pay deposits on concerts at The
Bayou. (Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 52.)

Plaintiffs have not provided evidence to show that the
lower deposit is uniformly offered to the defendant

Concert Promoters by WMA. 173  Many WMA form
contracts submitted by Plaintiffs show that more
favorable terms are the result of negotiations by the
concert Promoter Defendants. See supra pp. 83–86, 104–
07. Accordingly, since the concert Promoter Defendants
are offered and often required to pay a 50% deposit,
and other white concert promoters and often the alleged
dominant white promoters pay the 50% deposit (Liss
Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 136), no reasonable juror could
draw the inference that Plaintiffs, who have not contracted
to promote many concerts, are offered contracts calling
for a 50% deposit because they are black.

Although there is evidence that many of the Defendants
have done business together for years and that some of the
individuals doing that business constitute a “fraternity”
or “good old boy network” as Plaintiffs argue (Pls.' Resp.
WMA at 7), there is no showing that these individuals are
referred business by WMA in order to exclude the black
promoters. (See Wavra Dep., in Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 88,
at 39–47; Cooley Dep., in Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 85, at
96.) These longstanding relationships just as successfully
exclude other white promoters.

*66  Plaintiffs claim that “WMA is responsible
for promoter selection by virtue of its power of
persuasion.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 5.) Plaintiffs

have not provided any admissible evidence to show that
WMA used its “power of persuasion” in connection with
any alleged discrimination against them. Furthermore,
Defendants have offered evidence from artists' managers
stating that they select the promoters. See supra note
36. Mr. Grosslight attaches the affidavit of Irving Azoff,
dated December 15, 2000, in which Mr. Azoff states
that he, and the artists he represents, state preferences
for particular concert promoters depending on the local
marketplace for each concert and then the artists' talent
agent negotiates with one or several of those concert
promoters on the artists' behalf. (Azoff Aff., Grosslight

Decl. I Ex. 1, ¶ 5.) 174  Additionally, Mr. Grosslight points
out that all the cities and venues from the Eagles Reunion
Tour in the United States and all the promoters for
the tour, other than two, were designated by the Eagles

manager, Mr. Azoff. 175  (Grosslight Decl. I ¶ 9.)

Plaintiffs argue that “WMA broke the law and acted
against the best interest of its clients” by not presenting
competitive options to the Spice Girls' management for
consideration in February 1998 in relation to the Spice
Girls 1998 tour and that WMA took such actions in order
to exclude Plaintiffs. (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 14–17.)
Plaintiffs present no evidence to support their contention
that WMA took the alleged actions to exclude Plaintiffs.
Plaintiffs present no evidence of any communication
between Plaintiffs and WMA in relation to the 1998 Spice
Girls Tour. Thus, this claim is irrelevant to Plaintiffs claim
of a conspiracy to exclude them from concert promotion

on the basis of race. 176

Similarly, Plaintiffs argue that WMA excluded black
promoters from the Smokin' Grooves Tours, which were
allegedly awarded to House of Blues (not a defendant
in this action) every year until this action, in exchange
for illegal remuneration. (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 17.)
Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman both claim in their opposing
affidavits that Ms. Lewis “rebuffed” their inquiries about
the Smokin' Grooves Tours (Rowe WMA Aff., Pls.' Resp.
WMA Ex. 1, ¶ 37, Boseman WMA Aff., Pls.' Resp.
WMA Ex. 2, ¶ 12), but neither provided any specific
facts to support this allegation. Once again, Plaintiffs'
claim is irrelevant since Plaintiffs offer no testimony
that they sought to bid on the Smokin' Grooves tour.
Additionally, Plaintiffs chose not depose WMA about the
documents they cite to obtain testimonial support for their
conclusion. (Grosslight Decl. II ¶ 4.) In his declaration
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dated May 22, 2003, Mr. Grosslight refutes Plaintiffs'
claim that House of Blues illegally remunerated WMA.
(Id. ¶¶ 4–6.) Additionally, Mr. Grosslight explains that
House of Blues was a presenter of the tours and that each
individual date on the three tours was promoted by local
promoters. (Id. ¶ 11.) Additionally, Darryl Brooks, a black
promoter, promoted all twenty-six shows of the Smokin'
Grooves tour in 1998, eliminating any claim that Plaintiffs
were somehow denied the opportunity to promote due
to their race. (Id. ¶ 10.) Finally, this claim of Plaintiffs
seems to be precluded under Magistrate Francis's order of
preclusion, dated July 8, 2002. (J.A., Vol.II, Ex. 43.)

(viii) Plaintiffs Have Presented Insufficient Evidence to
Survive Summary Judgment on Discrimination Claims

*67  Plaintiffs' claims under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 and 1985(3)
fail as they have not presented any facts from which any
rational jury could infer intentional discrimination on the
part of WMA, nor have they presented any evidence that
WMA was a member of a conspiracy to discriminate
against the Plaintiffs because of their race. Plaintiffs also
allege a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1986 against WMA for
failure to act or prevent the conspiracy to discriminate
against Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs have not shown that WMA
had knowledge of any conspiracy to discriminate against
Plaintiffs. Furthermore, claims under § 1986 can rest only
on a predicate claim made out under § 1985. Jews for
Jesus, Inc. v. Jewish Cmty. Relations Council of New York,
Inc., 968 F.2d 286, 292 (2d Cir.1992) (“Liability under §
1986 is derivative of § 1985 liability, i.e., there can be no
violation of § 1986 without a violation of § 1985.”). As the §
1985 claim was unsuccessful, WMA's motion for summary
judgment on Plaintiffs' § 1986 claim will be granted.

2. Creative Artists Agency, LLC's Motion for Summary
Judgment

The Amended Complaint contains three specific alleged
violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 by CAA. The first
claimed violation consists of CAA's alleged exclusion
of Plaintiffs Boseman and Sun Song from promoting
concerts, including the 1998 tour by the Artist formerly
known as Prince (“Prince”). (Am.Compl.¶ 87(b).) The
second incident involves the alleged misrepresentation by
CAA to Plaintiff Rowe in October 1996 that minimum
artist guarantees of $225,000 to $275,000 per show with
a 50% deposit were required from Plaintiffs for the 1997
Kenny G/Braxton tour, while the Defendant Promoters
were awarded guarantees of only $150,000 to $175,000

per show and lower deposit terms. (Id. ¶ 87(f).) The third
allegation involves CAA's alleged award of the 1998 Janet
Jackson tour to Magicworks instead of Plaintiffs. (Id. ¶
87(1).) The Amended Complaint also claims that “CAA
has never solicited or permitted any black promoter,
including plaintiffs, to promote, or even bid to promote a

concert of contemporary music by a white act.” 177  (Id. ¶
19.)

Additionally, Plaintiffs' motion papers allege that CAA
prevented, and conspired to prevent, Plaintiff Jones from
obtaining an exclusive promotion contract at Mud Island
in violation of 42 U.S .C. §§ 1981, 1985(3) and 1986.
(Pls.' CAA Mem. at 19–20; see also Am. Compl. ¶ 87(k).)
Also, their papers assert that CAA is part of conspiracy
to exclude Plaintiffs and other black promoters from
promoting white artists and superstar black artists. (Pls.'
CAA Mem. at 1–7)

(i) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Prince
In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs allege:

In the late 1970s, plaintiffs Jesse
Boseman and Sun Song promoted
concerts given by the Artist formerly
known as Prince at a time when the
Artist was merely the opening act for
a then headlining performer, Rick
James. In promoting such concerts,
those plaintiffs helped the Artist
achieve his own following. The
Artist has now achieved star status,
but his booking agency, CAA, now
retains only promoter defendants
to promote the Artist's concerts,
including his 1998 tour.

*68  (Am.Compl.¶ 87(b).)

In their motion papers, Plaintiffs claim that CAA
represented Prince for tours in 1984, 1988, 1992, and
1994 without providing Plaintiffs the opportunity to bid,
even though Mr. Boseman “made many requests [of]
CAA to play Prince.” (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 19 (relying
on Boseman Dep.).) Mr. Boseman's deposition shows,
however, that Mr. Boseman believes in 1981 and 1982
he spoke with “someone” at CAA, Inc., not CAA, LLC,
on the telephone regarding Prince, but was told there
were not any dates available at that time. (Boseman
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Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 920–22.) Mr. Boseman has
provided no documentation regarding, or the date of, the
telephone call, which took place well beyond the statute
of limitations period. At some unspecified point in the
mid 1990s, Mr. Boseman states he called either CAA, or
WMA, to inquire about Prince, but then decided not to
submit a bid because he felt the requested guarantee was
too high. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 114; Boseman Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. III, at 562–65.) Mr. Boseman does not claim to have
had any other contact with CAA or CAA, Inc. regarding

Prince. (Id. ¶ 115.) 178  Accordingly, Plaintiffs have not
shown that Mr. Boseman applied for and was rejected for
a concert promotion by CAA, as required to assert a prima
face case against CAA under 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

Plaintiffs assert that “[b]lack promoters have rarely
promoted Prince ... including while Prince was represented
by CAA.” (Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 236.) They offer no
support for this claim except for Mr. Rowe's opposing
affidavit. (See id. (citing Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 149).) During
his deposition, Mr. Sparks, a black promoter, testified that
since 1995 he has advised Prince on which promoters to
use, that Prince has not used booking agencies, and that
Prince himself decides which promoters to use. (Sparks
Dep., in J. Reply A., at 62.) Although Mr. Sparks
testified that prior to 1993 the booking agencies chose the
promoters (id. at 65), he also stated that he and Mr. Perry,
another black promoter, were often asked by booking
agents at CAA for concert promoter suggestions (id. at
66.).

Plaintiffs' only remaining claim is that CAA did not
seek them out to represent Prince, but Plaintiffs offer no
evidence or expert evidence or legal authority to show that
CAA had any obligation to do so. Plaintiffs claim that
“Boseman helped Prince achieve his own following” (Pls.'
CAA Mem. at 18), and thus, Mr. Boseman should have
some right to promote Prince now. However, the only
evidence of, or explanation provided for, Mr. Boseman's
involvement is a reference to Mr. Boseman's promotion
of Prince at some point before 1979. (Rowe CAA Aff.,
Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 268.) CAA, LLC only came into
existence in 1995, and Plaintiffs offer nothing to show that
CAA, LLC had the benefit of CAA, Inc.'s knowledge of
Mr. Boseman's prior involvement with promoting Prince.
Although CAA, Inc. did represent Prince from 1984 to
1993 (Sparks Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 83, 89), as Mr.
Sparks, his manager testified, Prince stopped using any
booking agencies in or around 1993. (CAA 56.1 Stmt.

¶ 117.) Plaintiffs have not attempted to develop any
evidence to show that CAA (CAA, LLC), which first
entered the booking agency business in October of 1995
(CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 1–2; Light Dec. I ¶ 3), is liable for the
acts of CAA, Inc. Lastly, paragraph 87(b) of the Amended
Complaint makes reference to a 1998 Prince tour, but
Plaintiffs admit in their memorandum in opposition that
CAA did not represent Prince in 1998. (Pls.' CAA Mem.
at 18.) Accordingly, paragraph 87(b) of the Amended
Complaint is a totally unfounded claim against CAA.

(ii) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Toni Braxton
*69  In paragraph 87(f) of the Amended Complaint,

Plaintiffs allege that CAA discriminated against them
in connection with the 1997 Kenny G/Toni Braxton

tour. 179  In their response papers, Plaintiffs claim that
CAA misinformed Mr. Rowe concerning the bidding
requirements, that black promoters were not given an
opportunity to bid, and that white promoters received
more favorable terms than those quoted to Plaintiffs. (Pls.'
CAA Mem. at 7–13.) Under the undisputed facts reviewed
supra pp. 73–76, Plaintiffs have not provided evidence that
CAA discriminated against them.

In his deposition, Mr. Rowe testified that his initial
conversation with Mr. Piranian of CAA took place in
October or November of 1996 and that during this
conversation Mr. Piranian demanded concert guarantees
of $225,000 to $275,000 for major cities. (Rowe Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 1382, 1384.) In his responsive affidavit,
Mr. Rowe states that in 1996, before he spoke to Mr.
Piranian, he had learned from Al Haymon that CAA was
asking for guarantees of $250,000 to $275,000. (Rowe
CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 215.)

The Defendants do not contest that Mr. Piranian was
asking for concert bids containing guarantees within
the $225,000 to $275,000 range at that time, but have
provided evidence that in the fall of 1996, CAA was
under instructions from Kenny G's manager, Turner
Management, to make those demands to all promoters.
(See Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 49–50; Light Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. V, at 472–75.) That other promoters were
asked for such terms is buttressed by a contract between
Radio City Music Hall and Turner Management, dated
August 16, 1996, for six Kenny G/Braxton concerts for

a per show guarantee of $280,000 180  (Light Decl. II Ex.
3) and a letter from Ken Scher of Nederlander to Carole
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Kinzel of CAA, dated October 25, 1996, confirming
the terms and conditions of an agreement between
Turner Management and Nederlander, which included
a minimum artist guarantee of $225,000 and a 90/10
artist split, for a concert at Nederlander's auditorium
in Anaheim, California (Light Decl. I Ex. 5). Plaintiffs
have offered no evidence that CAA asked for lesser
guarantees from white promoters when CAA asked for
guarantees from Plaintiffs, which would support a prima
facie case of discrimination under McDonnell Douglas.
Even if they had met the burden of showing a prima
facie case, Plaintiffs present no evidence to show that
CAA's business reason, instructions from its principal,
for demanding guarantees between $225,000 to $275,000
was a pretext. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.
Accordingly, Plaintiffs have offered no evidence showing
CAA discriminated against Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman
concerning the bidding requirements for the 1997 Kenny
G/Braxton tour.

Plaintiffs' second point that black promoters were not
given an opportunity to bid is also without an evidentiary
foundation. In his responding affidavit, Mr. Rowe
discloses that, prior to his discussion with Mr. Piranian,
Mr. Haymon had advised him that CAA was asking for
$225,000 to $275,000 guarantee per concert. (Rowe CAA
Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 215.) Mr. Haymon testified that
there is no way to prevent a promoter from submitting
a bid. (Haymon Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 11, at 48–49,
189–90, 252, 438.) Mr. Rowe testified that he discussed
CAA's terms with Mr. Haymon, and they both believed
the requested guarantee was too high. (Rowe Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. VI, at 1383.) Toni Braxton's manager testified that
other “promoters balked” at these initial guarantees, and
subsequently, Turner Management accepted lesser terms.
(Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 50.) Thus, Mr. Rowe's
own affidavit and his deposition testimony demonstrates
that he had the opportunity to bid but chose not to make
an offer or a counter offer. Plaintiffs cannot, by other
affidavits, seek to override their deposition testimony
and claim they were not given an opportunity to bid.
Bickerstaff, 196 F.3d at 455.

*70  Plaintiffs next argue that the Kenny G/Braxton tour
had been sold to white dominant promoters before Mr.
Rowe even learned about the tour. (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 7
(citing Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 215).) Mr. Rowe's affidavit states
that concerts in Atlanta, Detroit, and Chicago had been

sold at the time of his conversation, 181  but he does not

state any basis for this belief. As it is not shown to be based
on personal knowledge, it cannot be accepted as evidence
in this case. Furthermore, the only evidence in the record
as to these cities is a contract for Chicago with Defendant
Jam, dated November 25, 1996 (Armand Decl. Ex. A),
which would have occurred after the date of Mr. Rowe's
conversation with Mr. Piranian in October or November
1996. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1384.)

As for Plaintiffs' claim that white promoters received more
favorable terms than those quoted to Plaintiffs, again,
this assertion is based on Mr. Rowe's affidavit. Whether
it supports Plaintiffs claim depends upon the when the
terms were offered. It is undisputed that after Turner
Management's initial terms were not accepted, bids were
accepted with lower guarantees. (Phillips Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. V, at 50.) Plaintiffs have failed to present evidence
that at the time Mr. Piranian made the quotes containing
the $225,000 to $275,000 guarantees to them that CAA
was accepting bids from the dominant white promoters
for lower guarantees. Plaintiffs have had access to all
the CAA concert files, as well as email and hard drive
discovery. Furthermore, Defendants have provided copies
of contracts for Kenny G/Braxton concerts containing
guarantees in this range. Plaintiffs have failed to provide
proof of discriminatory terms being offered by CAA at the
time of Plaintiffs' receipt of the terms demanded by Mr.
Piranian.

Nor is there any evidence to support the Amended
Complaint statement “no white promoter, including any
of the promoter defendants promoting this tour, was
required to submit a deposit of any more than 0–10%
of the $150,000–$175,000 guarantee.” (Am.Compl.87(f).)
CAA has produced twenty concert promotion contracts,
in which current defendant Jam and former defendant
and non-party concert promoters contracted to pay
pre-performance deposits of 50% of the guarantees for
concerts on the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton Tour. (Armand

Decl. ¶ 2, Ex. A.) 182  Thus, the contracts in evidence do
not support an inference of race discrimination against
Plaintiffs in connection with the Kenny G/Braxton tour in
1997.

(iii) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Janet Jackson

(a) Amended Complaint Claim
In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs allege:
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Defendant Magicworks was given
the exclusive contract to promote
a tour given by superstar black
promoter, Janet Jackson, in 1998,
by defendant CAA. Magicworks co-
promoted the tour with the other
promoter defendants. Several of the
plaintiffs had previously promoted
Janet Jackson shows in 1994, and
had also promoted her superstar
brother, Michael Jackson. Plaintiffs
protested and were allowed to only
co-promote shows in New York
and Los Angeles with defendants
Delsener/Slater and Magicworks.

*71  (Am.Compl.¶ 87(1).)

(b) Review of Facts 183

CAA was Janet Jackson's booking agency in connection

with her 1998 concert tour. 184  (Light Decl. I ¶ 30;
CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 69.) Roger Davies was Ms. Jackson's
manager. (Light Decl. I ¶ 30.) Before the tour was sold to
a national tour promoter, all material decisions relating
to the tour were made by Mr. Davies, on behalf of Ms.
Jackson, including decisions regarding financial terms, the
selection of concert promoters and approval of routing.

(Id. ¶ 31; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 71; 185  Light Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. V, at 118–19; Kinzel Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 97–
99.) CAA encouraged the involvement of black promoters
in Ms. Jackson's 1998 tour, and Mr. Light made this
recommendation in several discussions with Mr. Davies.

(Light Decl. I ¶ 32; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 72. 186 ) Ms. Jackson
and Mr. Davies agreed that it was important to involve
black promoters in the tour and decided to require black
representation on the tour as part of any deal. (Light Decl.
I ¶ 32; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 72.) Therefore, in discussions
about the tour, Mr. Light mentioned to prospective buyers
that Janet Jackson wanted to have black representation
in the marketing and promotion of her concerts. (CAA

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 73; 187  Light Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 121–

22, 128–29; Sparks Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 118–26.) 188

Ms. Jackson and Mr. Davies initially asked for guarantees
of $300,000 per concert. (Light Decl. I ¶ 32; CAA 56.1

Stmt. ¶ 74. 189 ) Mr. Light had a number of conversations
with Mr. Rowe regarding Ms. Jackson's 1998 tour and

repeatedly encouraged him to submit a bid for the tour.

(Light Decl. I ¶ 33; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 75. 190 ) Based on the
parameters set by Ms. Jackson and Mr. Davies, Mr. Light
informed interested promoters, including Mr. Rowe, that
Janet Jackson was seeking a guarantee of $300,000 per

show. (Light Decl. I ¶ 32; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 76. 191 )

In January 1998, CAA received a written proposal from
Magicworks, dated January 27, 1998, to purchase the
rights to produce a tour of forty shows by Ms. Jackson,
supported by Boyz II Men, for a $16 million guarantee,
including support talent. (Light Decl. I ¶ 34, Ex. 8; CAA
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 77.) CAA conveyed this offer to Mr. Davies.
(Light Decl. I ¶ 34.) Magicworks's proposal called for
Magicworks to act as producer of “a minimum of 40 dates
in mutually agreed upon markets” and “an option of two
10 date additions at Four Million Dollars per [each 10
date] addition.” (Light Decl. I Ex. 8.)

Around February 2, 1998, TNA International Ltd.
(“TNA”), another large concert promoter company,
submitted an offer directly to Ms. Jackson's management.
(CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 78.) TNA proposed to promote a
fifty show tour by Ms. Jackson with a guarantee of
$11.5 million. (Id.) TNA proposed cash sufficient to cover
tour start up costs on signing with the balance of the
guarantee to be paid by letter of credit drawn on a
mutually acceptable bank. (Id.; see also Light Decl. I ¶ 32,
Ex. 9.)

*72  On or about February 10, 1998, Mr. Light received
a letter from Mr. Rowe, on behalf of Rowe Productions,
stating:

It was indeed a pleasure speaking to you yesterday.

I would like to make a firm offer of Three Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($300,000) all inclusive to your
respective Artist, Janet Jackson for the markets listed.
We are also open to the idea of co-promoting with

Pop Promoters 192  in some markets. The markets are as
follows: [listing twenty-nine cities].

Please give this matter your immediate attention.

(Light Decl. I Ex. 10.) 193

CAA forwarded Mr. Rowe's offer to Gillian and Rusty
Hooker of Mr. Davies's office. (Id.; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶

79; 194  Kinzel Decl. ¶ 5.)
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In his declaration, Mr. Light states that he recommended
to Mr. Rowe that he submit a more complete and definite
offer. (Light Decl. I ¶ 37; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 80). Mr. Rowe
states to the contrary, that after his February 10, 1998
letter, Mr. Light did not contact him by letter or phone to
recommend he send a more complete and definite offer.

(Rowe CAA Decl. ¶ 236; Pls.' 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 80.) 195

Nonetheless, on or about February 20, 1998, Mr. Light
received another letter on BPA letterhead from Mr. Rowe,
indicating that they had had a conversation after Mr.
Rowe's February 10, 1998 letter and this time expressing
the BPA's interest in being involved in twenty-eight
markets on Ms. Jackson's 1998 tour. (Light Decl. I ¶ 38,
Ex. 11.) The BPA letter states:

Per our conversation I am submitting to you these
markets that we would like to be involved in. Since you
have no knowledge of whether the tour will be sold to
a Tour Promoter or individual Promoters, I can not
discuss the financial arrangement that I am willing to
make at this time. But from my previous offer, you
know that I am willing to offer a sizeable guarantee.
I will provide more details concerning the guarantee
when you provide me with more information about the
tour. The markets are as follows: [listing 28 cities.]

Please give this matter your immediate attention.

(Light Decl. I Ex. 11.)

Between January 25 and February 20, 1998, Magicworks
submitted a number of revised proposals to produce Ms.
Jackson's tour. (Light Decl. I ¶ 39; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶

82.) 196  On February 25, 1998, CAA received a revised
bid from Magicworks offering an $11 million guarantee
for forty shows by Janet Jackson supported by Usher,
with a substantial up-front cash payment ($5 million to
be paid at least forty-eight hours prior to first offer of
tickets for sale) and $6 million secured by an irrevocable
letter of direction to each of the venues to hold receipts of
ticket sales totaling $150,000 in the name of Janet Jackson.
(Light Decl. I ¶ 40, Ex. 12; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 83.)

Mr. Davies instructed CAA to inform the interested
promoters that Ms. Jackson was looking for offers for
forty dates with half the guarantee up front (prior to
the first on sale date) and the remainder secured with
an irrevocable letter of credit. (Light Decl. I ¶ 41;

CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 84.) 197  In his declaration, Mr. Light
states, “[t]hereafter, I had another discussion with Mr.
Rowe concerning the tour and, in accordance with Mr.
Davies's instructions, informed him of the deal terms that
Ms. Jackson was seeking and urged him to submit a
comprehensive offer. I also told Mr. Rowe that we had
received an offer for $11 million. CAA also continued to
negotiate with Magicworks.” (Light Decl. I ¶ 42; CAA
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 85.)

*73  Mr. Light wrote a confirming letter, dated March 4,
1998, to Mr. Rowe, which reads as follows:

As per our discussion, Janet Jackson has decided to use
a national tour producer for her 1998 North American
Tour. We are talking to all interested parties and
inviting them to make an offer. As I mentioned, the
basic parameters are as follows:

• 40 dates

• 10 truck show

• sellable seat to 180 degrees

• producer to pay for and contract support

• 50% deposit to Artist prior to first on sale date, balance
in a irrevocable letter of credit prior to first on sale
date

• advertising must use both pop and urban media outlets

• there must be black representation in each date

As I told you when we spoke, it is the Artist's desire
to have all the offers in by the close of business
Wednesday, March 4, 1998. The urgency is to allow a

press conference to take place on March 12 th  and to go
on sale quickly thereafter.

The decision to use a national producer was reached
over this past weekend and all interested parties are
being given the same parameters. We appreciate your
quick response.

(Light Decl. I Ex. 13 (Letter from Rob Light to Leonard
Rowe, dated Mar. 4, 1998).)

Mr. Rowe did not respond to Mr. Light's letter of March
4, 1998. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1443.)
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(c) Plaintiffs Have Failed to Present a Prima Facie
Case of Discrimination with Respect to Mr. Light's
Presentation of Tour Deal Terms to Mr. Rowe

Mr. Light's testimony that Ms. Jackson's management
instructed him to present the deal terms for this tour to all
interested promoters, including Mr. Rowe, constitutes a
valid business reason for his presentation of these terms to
Mr. Rowe. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804. Plaintiffs
provide no evidence that Mr. Light's business reason was
a mere pretext. Instead, Plaintiffs state in their response
to CAA's 56.1 Statement that “Plaintiffs have no way on
[sic] knowing whether Mr. Davies gave Mr. Light these
instructions.” (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 84.) However,
Plaintiffs could have utilized third party discovery. When
Mr. Light was deposed on December 18, 2001, he was
questioned about a declaration he had evidently executed
previously, in which he stated that the basic parameters
had been set by Ms. Jackson through her management for
the Jackson tour and included forty dates, a 50% deposit
prior to the first on-sale date, and the balance to be paid
in an irrevocable letter of credit. (Light Dep., in J.A., Vol.
V, at 118–119.) Plaintiffs also suggest that CAA did not
propose to white promoters a guarantee of 50% in cash
and the remainder secured by a letter for credit. (Pls.'
CAA Mem. at 15.) Mr. Light, however, testified that the
same proposal was given to other promoters interested in
producing the tour and testified as to the identity of the
other interested promoters he remembered—Magicworks,
TNA, Metropolitan and BGB. (Light Dep., in J.A., Vol.
V, at 119.) Plaintiffs offer no testimony from Mr. Davies
or these entities contradicting Mr. Light's testimony. That
Ms. Jackson's management was attempting to obtain a
letter of credit for the balance of the guarantee from
Magicworks is confirmed by the cover letter, dated March
3, 1998, from Don Passman of Gang, Tyre, Ramer &
Brown, attorneys for Janet Jackson and Mr. Davies, to
Ms. Kinzel of CAA enclosing a draft deal memo (Light
Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 130; Pls.' CAA Ex. 53 (stating
“we have to resolve the letter of credit/guarantee issue
before we can finalize”); see also Kinzel Dep., in J. Reply.
A, at 189.) Accordingly, all the evidence shows that
when Mr. Light conveyed Ms. Jackson's and Mr. Davies's
instructions to Mr. Rowe on or before March 4, 1998,
WMA was also seeking a letter of credit for the balance of
the guarantee from Magicworks.

(d) Plaintiffs Have Failed to Present a Prima Facie
Case of Discrimination in Relation to the “Delay” of
Information

*74  At his deposition, Mr. Rowe testified that he did
not respond to Mr. Light's request to put up $11 million
before the first ticket went on sale because he thought the
terms were so outrageous and were intended to exclude
black promoters. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1442–
43.) He also testified that he discussed the terms Mr. Light
relayed to him with BPA members, and they agreed with
his decision not to pursue the matter. (Id. at 1443.) Mr.
Rowe did not testify that he had not responded because he
was not in a position to raise the funds for the requested
guarantee terms by the end of the day. Also, Mr. Rowe
did not claim lack of timely notice of Mr. Davies's terms
in his letter to Mr. Light, dated April 9, 1998, on BPA
letterhead. (Pls.' CAA Ex. 30.) Nevertheless, based on Mr.
Rowe's responsive affidavit, Plaintiffs argue that CAA
discriminated against them based on their race in relation
to the 1998 Janet Jackson tour because, they allege, Mr.
Light delayed communicating the “basic parameters” of

the tour to Mr. Rowe. 198  (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 15.)

In his answering affidavit, Mr. Rowe states he did not
receive any notice of Ms. Jackson's proposed terms until
March 4, 1998, and was given a deadline of the close of
business on that same day to respond, less than 5 hours
away. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 239.) Mr. Rowe
also states that this time frame was not a fair chance to
respond and that he was not given a chance to respond
because Mr. Light knew that no black promoter could

raise $12 million in five hours. 199  (Id. ¶ 241).

Mr. Light's letter of March 4, 1998, states that the
decision to use a national promoter was reached during
the previous weekend, but the letter does not state when
the decision about the “basic parameters” was made.
(Light Decl. I Ex. 13.) On March 3, 1998, one of the
attorneys for Ms. Jackson and Mr. Davies (Light Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. V, at 130) sent a draft deal memo to Ms.
Kinzel of CAA for internal purposes only, the cover letter
to which states, “we have to resolve the letter of credit/
guarantee issue before we can finalize.” (Pls.' CAA Ex.
53.) Although this letter may not reflect upon the terms
conveyed to Mr. Light by Mr. Davies, it indicates that on
March 3, 1998, it was still an open question as to what
the terms of the contract in regards to the letter of credit/
guarantee issue would be, at least for Magicworks. Mr.
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Rowe, in his affidavit submitted in response, states that he
first learned of these the terms on March 4, 1998 (which
was a Wednesday), during a conversation with Mr. Light,
which would have occurred, at the earliest, at noon in

Atlanta. 200  (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 239.)

Although Plaintiffs have shown that Mr. Rowe submitted
a bid for the 1998 Janet Jackson tour, Plaintiffs
have failed to show that any “similarly situated non-
minority individuals were treated differently” in relation
to notification of terms. Johnson v. New York City Transit
Auth., 639 F.Supp. 887, 893 (E.D.N.Y.1986), aff'd in
relevant part, 823 F.2d 31 (2d Cir.1987); see also Hodge
v. RCA Global Communications, Nos. 93–261, 93–347,
1994 WL 240373, (S.D.N.Y. May 26, 1994). Plaintiffs
had a full opportunity, during extensive discovery, to
develop evidence demonstrating that a non-minority
promoter received the “basic parameters” prior to Mr.
Rowe's receipt of these terms. Thus, Plaintiffs have
failed to present evidence raising an inference of racial
discrimination due to Mr. Rowe's treatment by Mr. Light,
including the alleged late notice of Ms. Jackson's terms.

(iv) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding the Magicworks Tour
*75  Plaintiffs further allege that CAA discriminated

against them after Magicworks was awarded the
1998 Janet Jackson tour by refusing them promotion
opportunities. (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 16.) Mr. Light states
that from the beginning, he believed that Magicworks
would partner with local promoters in certain markets to
offset some of the risk it had assumed by agreeing to pay
the financial guarantee for the entire national tour. (Light

Decl. I ¶ 49; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 96. 201 ) Magicworks deal
memo, drafted by Ms. Jackson's law firm, contained a
provision requiring Magicworks to “meaningfully involve
black promoters in the tour.” (Light Decl. I ¶ 48, Ex. 14;
Light Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 131–33; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶
95.)

After the Magicworks deal memo was finalized, Mr.
Light informed Magicworks that Mr. Rowe had expressed
interest in the tour and recommended that Magicworks
consider involving Mr. Rowe. (Light Decl. I ¶ 50; CAA

56.1 Stmt. ¶ 97.) 202  On or about March 13, 1998, Mr.
Wavra discussed the tour with Mr. Rowe and on several
occasions invited Mr. Rowe and other members of the
BPA to make concrete offers for any show. (Rowe Dep.,

in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1446; Light Decl. I Exs. 15, 16; Wavra
Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 145–48; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 99.)

On March 16, 1998, Mr. Rowe wrote a letter to Mr.
Wavra, on BPA letterhead, asking him to “do the right
thing with the Black Promoters.” (Light Decl. I ¶ 52, Ex.
15; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 100.) Mr. Wavra responded the
same day offering the BPA the opportunity to participate
in the tour, stating they were taking offers from local
promoters and asking the BPA and its members to state
which markets they were interested in. (Light Decl. I

Ex. 16; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 101. 203 ) The terms requested
were a $375,000 guarantee, a 75/25 split for the “A”
markets like New York, Chicago, Detroit, Washington
D.C. and others, and a $325,000 guarantee and a 75/25
split for the other markets with 50% of the guarantee
paid before the tickets go on sale and the balance due
before the date of play or a letter of direction assigning
the remaining receipts to Magicworks. (Light Decl. I Ex.
16). As recommended by Mr. Light, Magicworks hired
Quentin Perry and Billy Sparks, both African Americans,
as marketing consultants and promoters for certain dates

around that same time. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 103; 204  Light
Decl. I ¶ 4, Ex. 22; Wavra Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 150;
Sparks Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 37, 45.)

On March 31, 1998, Mr. Rowe sent Mr. Wavra a letter
on BPA letterhead expressing concern about the fairness
of the Janet Jackson tour and threatening to publicly
label CAA and the tour as “discriminatory.” Mr. Rowe
attached a list of actions to be taken, including purchasing
radio spots denouncing Janet Jackson's upcoming tour
and calling for a boycott of the concerts on the tour. (Light
Decl. I ¶ 55, Ex. 17; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 105; Rowe Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 1446–47.)

*76  Mr. Rowe received a responsive letter from Mr.
Wavra the same day stating, in pertinent part, that:

[a]s you know we have hired Quinten Perry and Billy
Sparks to act as marketing consultants for this tour....
As far as promoters are concerned, I have stated before
that we welcome all offers for Janet Jackson. The offers
need to be in writing with appropriate scaling and ticket
prices, building expenses, the guarantee and the back
end of the deal. Until we have this we cannot respond.
To date we have not received any offers from any of the
members of the Black Promoters Association.
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Please forward the offers as soon as possible, as we are
making decisions now.

(Light Decl. I Ex. 18; see also Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI,
at 1448.)

By letter dated April 1, 1998, Mr. Boseman made an offer
for 50% involvement in co-promotion for Janet Jackson's
concerts on October 11 and 12, 1998 at Madison Square
Garden at a guarantee of $400,000 and a 90/10 back end
split. (Light Decl. I ¶ 57, Ex. 19; Boseman Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. III, at 354–55.) Attached to Mr. Boseman's letter
is a memo from the BPA to Janet Jackson Management
copied to civil rights leaders, accusing Ms. Jackson of
betraying the African American community entrepreneurs
who launched her career. (Light Decl. I Ex. 18.)

On April 3, 1998, Mr. Wavra sent another letter to Mr.
Rowe encouraging members of the BPA to submit offers
for any market and reiterating the financial terms being
offered to all promoters. (Light Decl. I ¶ 58, Ex. 20; CAA
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 108.) Then, on April 6, 1998, Mr. Rowe, on
behalf of the BPA for the first time presented Mr. Wavra
with a written proposal for a share of the Washington,
D.C. concert and a share of the Los Angeles concert.
(Light Dec. I ¶ 59, Ex. 21; Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at
1450; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 109.)

Mr. Light discussed Mr. Rowe's proposal with Mr. Wavra
and persuaded Magicworks to involve the BPA in Los
Angeles and New York to overcome their threats to
boycott, picket and disrupt the tour. (Light Decl. I ¶ 60;
CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 110.)

Mr. Light also spoke to Mr. Sparks and Mr. Perry, and
they agreed to pay the BPA a fee of $100,000 out of their

consulting fees. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 111; 205  Light Decl. I ¶
61; Sparks Dep., in J.A ., Vol. VI, at 44–46.) A memo from
Magicworks, received by Mr. Light on or about April 10,
1998, confirmed that Mr. Sparks and Mr. Perry agreed to
compensate BPA $100,000 from their marketing budget
as co-promoters in those markets. (Light Decl. I ¶ 61, Ex.
27.) Mr. Rowe participated in concerts in Los Angeles and
in New York through Mr. Boseman. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶

112; 206  Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 265.)

Plaintiffs state that they were not allowed to participate in
the promotion of the concerts produced by Magicworks

on the 1998 Janet Jackson tour and that there was not
“meaningful black involvement” in the promotion of each
Janet Jackson concert on that tour. (Pls. CAA Mem.
at 16–17.) Plaintiffs have failed to produce any evidence
that CAA took any action detrimental to Plaintiff. Nor
have they produced any evidence that CAA was in
a position to control any action by Magicworks after
Magicworks purchased the production of the tour and
with whom Plaintiffs then communicated directly about
possible involvement in the tour. Plaintiffs' denouncement
of Ms. Jackson and her manager and their failure to
present timely bids to Magicworks for additional concerts
raise an inference that Plaintiffs were not seeking to
maximize their participation in the promotion of the 1998
Janet Jackson tour.

*77  Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence showing that
CAA took any actions in connection with Magicworks
production of the 1998 Janet Jackson tour that were
discriminatory against Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs' claims against
Magicworks are not before this Court.

(v) Plaintiffs' Claims Regarding Mud Island
As discussed previously in the sections concerning Beaver
and WMA, Plaintiffs have presented no evidence of
discrimination involved with the Plaintiff Jones's failure
to contract for an exclusive arrangement at Mud Island
Amphitheater, or that any of the defendants, including
CAA, took any action that affected the Mayor's decision
not to award an exclusive promotion contract for Mud
Island. Even if evidence of discrimination by other
Defendants had been found, Plaintiffs have presented no
evidence showing any connection between CAA and any
of the Defendants alleged to be involved.

Although Mr. Jones sent the fax describing his exclusive
at Mud Island to an agent at CAA (See Pls.' Beaver
Ex. 1A (documents P00719, P007201)), the mere fact
that CAA was notified by Mr. Jones of the anticipated
exclusivity agreement is too tenuous a link to create
even an inference that CAA somehow influenced Beaver's
decision to open an office in Memphis, which occurred
prior to the sending of the fax, or Mayor Herenton's
decision. Plaintiffs have made no showing that CAA took
any action to discriminate against Plaintiff Jones with
respect to Mud Island.

(vi) Other Claims Against CAA
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Plaintiffs also assert in their motion papers that CAA
discriminated against them in the selection of concert
promoters. There is very little evidence, however, that
Plaintiffs were active in the market and made bids on
concerts with CAA. Mr. Rowe admits that he “never
contacted anyone at CAA prior to October or November
of 1996” and has produced no copies of a bid for a concert

to CAA. 207  (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶¶ 200–
08.) Plaintiffs admit that: (1) Mr. Boseman has never
submitted a bid to CAA for concerts of a white artist
represented by CAA and has only made oral bids to CAA

for CAA's black artists (Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 293); 208

(2) Mr. King has never submitted a bid to promote an
artist represented by CAA (id. ¶ 289); and (3) Mr. Jones
has never submitted a bid to promote an artist represented
by CAA (id. ¶ 298).

Mr. Light testified that since late 1996, when Mr. Rowe
first contacted CAA, he has encouraged Mr. Rowe to
submit bona fide offers to promote. (Light Decl. I ¶ 16.)
Prior to bringing this suit, Mr. Rowe had submitted only
the two letters in reference to the 1998 Janet Jackson tour
to CAA. In July 2002, Mr. Light informed Mr. Rowe
that Gloria Estefan was planning an October 2002 tour
and offered Mr. Rowe an opportunity to bid. (Id. ¶ 18;
CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 38.) By letter of July 26, 2002, Mr.
Light provided Mr. Rowe with the terms set forth by
Ms. Estefan's management. (Id. ¶ 18, Ex. 2.) Mr. Rowe
did not submit a bid because he did not think the tour
would be profitable. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1,

¶ 207.) 209  In September 2002, Mr. Light spoke with Mr.
Rowe and Mr. Boseman on the telephone to inform them
that Stevie Wonder was planning to tour and asked them
to submit a bid for any market. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 38;
Light Decl. I ¶ 19.) On September 6, 2002, Mr. Rowe for
Rowe Entertainment submitted an offer for two shows at
the Fox Theatre with guarantees of $200,000 per show and
an 85/15 artist split but included no date. (Pls.' CAA Ex.
45.) Shortly thereafter, however, Mr. Wonder cancelled
his tour. (Light Decl. I ¶ 19.)

*78  Dennis Ashley of CAA contacted Mr. Rowe about
submitting bids for black artists Kelly Price, Mary J. Blige
and K–Ci & Jo Jo. (Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 308.) Again,
Mr. Rowe did not submit an offer because he states he did
not think these artists would be profitable. (Rowe CAA
Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 208.)

Furthermore, contrary to Plaintiffs' allegations in
paragraph 4 of the Amended Complaint, there is evidence
that some of CAA's white artists have been promoted by
black promoters. Larry Bailey has promoted Kiss, Harry
Connick, Jr., Styx, and Three Dog Night, as well as Kenny

G. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 201; 210  cf. Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶
166, 198, 218, 221.) Bill Washington has also promoted
Santana (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 203), a Latin artist whom
Plaintiffs cite as never having been promoted by a black
promoter (Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 230).

Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence implicating CAA in
the conspiracy alleged in the Amended Complaint. The
vast majority of the Plaintiffs' Revised 56.1 Statement

depends solely on statements in Mr. Rowe's affidavit 211

that are on matters outside the personal knowledge of
Mr. Rowe, in violation of the requirements of the Federal
Rules of Evidence and Local Civil Rule 56.1. Plaintiffs'
Revised Statement of Undisputed Material Facts on
this motion deals primarily with the concert promotion
industry as a whole, reciting broad allegations, with an

occasional insert of “including CAA.” 212  There is no
evidence that deals with specific actions on the part of
CAA and any other defendant that infers the conspiracy
alleged in the Amended Complaint.

One of Plaintiffs' claim of discrimination by CAA is
that since CAA provides notice to some promoters of
concert tours, as it did in order to procure venue holds
in 1997 (see Pls.' CAA Ex. 22), they have an obligation

to provide notice to all promoters. 213  In their motion
papers, Plaintiffs assert:

Moreover, because CAA provides advance notice of its
artists' concerts to the dominant white promoters (see
Comp. Ex. 22), it has a duty to provide that same notice
in a non-discriminatory fashion to both black and white
promoters. CAA's claim that it could not give advance
notice to all active concert promoters is untrue because
all it would have to do is send the same letter exemplified
in Comp. Ex. 22 to all concert promoters instead of
just the handful white chosen few. This would not be a
herculean task; all it would require is additional postage
and the proper programming of a computer to include
more names and addresses.
(Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 12 (citations omitted).)

Plaintiffs cite Mr. Rowe's affidavit rather than any legal
authority to support their contention that CAA has a duty
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to notify all promoters of the artists interest in various
venues in the following year. Plaintiffs' claim that CAA
has such a duty overlooks the fact that CAA is an agent
for each of their artist clients, and has a duty to act at the
direction of, and in the best interest of, each of its clients,
not the promoter. Plaintiffs present no evidence indicating
that contacting the full list of independent contractors,
which contains over 1,000 names (Saad Report, in J.A.,
Vol. I, at 14), would benefit artists in any way. Providing
advance notice to all promoters of all concerts would
be a formidable and costly endeavor. Additionally, while
perhaps not a Herculean task, this widespread notice may
create a heavy burden on artists' management who would
then have the task of weighing the merits of each of the
offers. It is within the discretion of the artists and their
managers to decide whether such widespread notice to
promoters would be in the artists' best interests.

(vii) CAA, LLC's Successor Liability for CAA, Inc.
*79  Plaintiffs have not sought to make CAA, Inc., which

is now known as OMH, Inc. (“OMH”), a party to this
action. Plaintiffs nevertheless argue that CAA, LLC “is
essentially the same company as CAA, Inc.,” stating that
CAA, LLC is “the same employees (minus Mike Ovitz
and Bill Haver), the same business, the same clients,
the same management, the same agents, [and] the same
building.” (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 22.) Plaintiffs, however, fail
to cite evidence supporting each of these allegations.

Plaintiffs and Defendants agree that federal common law,
which governs the issue of successor liability for Title VII
claims, should govern for claims under §§ 1981, 1985(3)
and 1986. (CAA Mem. at 23; Pls.' CAA Mem. at 23 n.
36.) Plaintiffs argue that this Court should apply the test
for successor liability first developed by the Sixth Circuit
Courts in EEOC v. MacMillan Bloedel Containers, Inc.,
503 F.2d 1086, 1094 (6th Cir.1974), as applied in EEOC
v. Local 638, No. 71–287(RLC), 1988 WL 25151, at *7
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 9, 1988). Local 638, however, involved
successor liability following a merger, not a purchase of

assets, as in this case. 214  Local 638, 1988 WL 25151, at *3.

Courts considering the appropriateness of imposing
successor liability on a purchaser of assets (as
distinguished from a purchaser of stock, who acquires
the assets and liabilities of the seller) have focused on
only two factors from MacMillan Bloedel. See EEOC v.
Barney Skanska Constr. Co., No. 99–2001(DC), 2000 WL

1617008, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 27, 2000) (applying a two
factor test used in Shevack v. Litton Applied Tech., No. 95–
7740(JSM), 1998 WL 512959, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 19,
1998) to a Title VII case involving a purchase of selected
assets.) To establish successor liability, two conditions
must be satisfied: “(1) the successor had notice of the claim
before acquisition; (2) there was a substantial continuity
in the operation of the business before and after the sale.”
Shevack, 1998 WL 512959, at *2 (citations omitted). The
Plaintiffs have presented evidence that there has been
some continuity in the operation of the business, even
though the principals of CAA, Inc., Mike Ovitz and Bill
Haver, have never been principals of CAA, LLC. (Dep.
of Thomas Ross, dated Jan. 29, 2002 (“Ross Dep.”), in
Pls.' CAA Dep. Tr., Vol. II, at 12.) Many of the nine
individuals, if not all, who became partners and took an
equity interest in CAA, LLC, Lee Gabler, Kevin Heuvein,
Bryan Lourd, Richard Lovett, Jay Maloney, Rick Nacita,
David O'Connor, Jack Rapke and Thomas Ross (id. at
13–14), were employed by CAA, Inc.

Plaintiffs, however, have failed to present any evidence
that the partners of, or anyone else at, CAA, LLC
had notice of Plaintiffs' claims against CAA, Inc. before
the purchase of assets took place. Plaintiffs have the
burden of affirmatively showing that CAA, LLC “had
notice of the claims.” Barney Skanska Constr., 2000 WL
1617008, at *3. Plaintiffs argue, without any citation to
evidence, that CAA, LLC had notice because CAA, Inc.
“had for years been violating the civil rights of black
promoters.” (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 24.) Not only does this
conclusory statement provide no support for Plaintiffs'
allegation of CAA, LLC's notice of these claims, which
were not brought against it until November 18, 1998, it
also does not provide any evidence of any discrimination
based on race by CAA, Inc. In any event, Plaintiffs have
provided no evidence in any submission to this Court of
any acts of discrimination against them based on race by
CAA, Inc. and, thus, in this action, there is no evidence of
any liability that could be acquired from CAA, Inc.

3. Renaissance Entertainment, Inc.'s Motion for
Summary Judgment

*80  Rather than allege that Renaissance committed
any specific overt act of discrimination against Plaintiffs
based on their race in violation of §§ 1981, 1985(3) and
1986, Plaintiffs allege general claims of discrimination
and of participation in a conspiracy to discriminate
against Plaintiffs by Renaissance. Plaintiffs claim that
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“Renaissance has excluded [them] from competing in the
concert promotion industry [1] by contacting only an elite
fraternity of dominant white promoters to promote its
artists; [2] by requiring more onerous deposit terms for
black promoters; and [3] by persuading its artists that they
should use dominate white promoters to the exclusion
of black promoters.” (Pls.' Response to Renaissance's
Mot. for Summ. J., dated Apr. 24, 2003, (“Pls.' Resp.
Renaissance Mem.”) at 1.) Plaintiffs also claim that
Renaissance participated in the alleged conspiracy to
exclude Plaintiff Fred Jones from securing an exclusive
agreement at Mud Island and conspired to install Beaver
as the dominant promoter in Memphis. (Id. at 13.)

In opposing Renaissance's motion for summary judgment,
Plaintiffs state “there is overwhelming evidence that
Renaissance engaged in unlawful discrimination ... aimed
at preventing the Plaintiffs from promoting concerts
by white artists and major black artists whom it
represented.” (Id. at 1.) However, not only have Plaintiffs
failed to present evidence of a prima facie case of
discrimination by Renaissance in violation of § 1981, but
they have also failed to present any evidence supporting
any of their claims under §§ 1985(3) and 1986.

(i) Review of facts
Renaissance Entertainment, Inc. was formed in February
1996, but did not begin active concert promotions
in this country until 1997. (Renaissance 56.1 Stmt. ¶

¶ 1–2.) 215  Prior to Renaissance's commencement of
operations in 1997, Mr. David Zedeck, the sole principal
of Renaissance, had been working for the Famous Artists
Agency in Europe and “had almost no experience as a
booking agent in the United States and limited experience

working with domestic concert promoters.” (Id. ¶ 8.) 216

Renaissance ceased acting as a booking agency at the end
of 1999, when Mr. Zedeck and a partner formed non-
party Evolution Talent Agency, LLC (“Evolution”) and
purchased the assets of Renaissance. (Id. ¶ 4; Zedeck Dep.,

Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 25, at 9.) 217

(ii) Plaintiffs Have Failed to Present Any Evidence of a
Violation of §§ 1981, 1985(3) or 1986

(a) Plaintiffs Have Failed to Present a Prima Facie of
Discrimination by Renaissance

To prove a prima facie case of discrimination under the
McDonnell Douglas test, Plaintiffs must prove that that
they applied for a position for which they were qualified
and that they were rejected. In this case, Plaintiffs provide
no evidence showing that they bid for Renaissance's
artists' concerts or tours. Mr. Zedeck states that before this
action was filed in November 1998, Plaintiffs Rowe, King
and Boseman never made an offer to promote a concert
by an artist represented by Renaissance. (Zedeck Decl. I
¶¶ 12–13.) After meeting Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman for
the first time on August 24, 2000, Mr. Zedeck sent Mr.
Boseman a copy of the roster of artists represented by
Evolution, his present agency, and stated, “I look forward
to hearing from you.” Mr. Boseman never responded. (Id.
¶ 15(d), Ex. B.)

*81  Furthermore, Mr. Zedeck states that he had not
spoken to Plaintiffs Rowe, Boseman or King prior to
November 1998 and that in fact he had never heard of Mr.
Rowe, Mr. Boseman or Mr. King. (Id. ¶ 13.) Additionally,
Mr. Zedeck states he did not know that they were concert
promoters and had no reason to believe that they were
concert promoters who would be capable of promoting, or
available to promote, concerts by the artists Renaissance
represented. (Id. ¶¶ 13, 17.) Plaintiffs' response, which
relies solely on Mr. Rowe's responsive affidavit stating
that Plaintiffs dealt with Famous Entertainment during
the period Mr. Zedeck worked there (Rowe Renaissance
Aff. ¶ 12), that “Renaissance knew exactly who the
plaintiffs were” (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 6)
is conclusory, not supported by evidence, and is an
insufficient contradiction of Mr. Zedeck's statements.
Lastly, Plaintiff King testified that he could not recall ever
speaking to an agent at Renaissance to promote a white
artist or a black artist, nor could he identify one artist
Renaissance represented. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at
814–16, 828.)

Mr. Zedeck acknowledges that before this action was filed
in November 1998, he was aware of Plaintiff Jones, but
knew him not as a concert promoter but rather as an
events producer in Memphis who produced corporate-
sponsored events, like the Southern Heritage Classic and
Memphis Blues Festival, which did not require Mr. Jones
to put his own personal capital at risk. (Zedeck Decl. I ¶
14.) Mr. Zedeck's recollection is that before this action was
filed, Mr. Jones never made an offer to promote a concert
by an artist Renaissance represented or even contacted

him about such a possibility. (Id.) 218
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Mr. Zedeck acknowledges that in December 1998 Mr.
Jones was involved with a concert of Deborah Cox, an
artist represented by Renaissance at the time. However,
he states that Ms. Cox, who performed as an opening act,
did so as a result of agreement between her manager and
the Isley Brothers (artists), not negotiations conducted by
Renaissance. (Id. ¶ 14 n. 1.)

Mr. Zedeck also acknowledges that, after the action was
filed, Plaintiff Fred Jones did send a fax to Renaissance on
January 13, 1999, reading as follows:

We noticed in the January 11, 1999 issue of Pollstar that
there was no mention of a concert schedule for N'Sync
in Memphis.

Whenever you decide to play Memphis we would like
to make an offer.

Let me hear from you.

(Zedeck Decl. I Ex. A.)

Mr. Zedeck responds that this inquiry is not a concert
offer as it mentions no particular dates, venue, or price,
and that at the time he could not make N'Sync available
to play Memphis because N'Sync already was engaged in
a tour based on a confirmed national tour agreement in
place with a national tour promoter. (Zedeck Decl. I ¶
15(b).) At oral argument, Plaintiffs did not seek to show
that this offered business reason for not responding to Mr.
Jones was a pretext. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.

*82  As for post-suit contacts with Plaintiffs Rowe and
Boseman, Mr. Zedeck acknowledges having two or three
telephone conversations, in at least one of which both
Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman participated, but he states,
without dispute, that neither made an offer to promote
any artist represented by Renaissance. (Id. ¶ 15(c).) Mr.
Zedeck states that some, if not all, of the conversations
occurred after 1999 when Renaissance was no longer
was an operating business. Mr. Zedeck also states that
Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman expressed an interest in
promoting concerts of only three particularly prominent
artists, Britney Spears, N'Sync and The Backstreet Boys,
but never proposed any particular date, venue, or price.
(Id.) Mr. Zedeck states that he accurately told Mr. Rowe
and Mr. Boseman that these artists were not available for
concert promotions as the national tour agreements were

already in place. (Id.) Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman have
not provided any evidence from which it can be inferred
that Mr. Zedeck's answer was a pretext. McDonnell
Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.

Because Renaissance's statement that it was not aware of
any of Plaintiffs' availability as concert promoters prior
to this action is unrebutted by Plaintiffs, and because
N'Sync, the Backstreet Boys and Britney Spears were
unavailable to do national tours, Mr. Boseman's and Mr.
Rowe's failure to seek out concerts for Renaissance's lesser
artists and failure to submit bids creates the inference that
Plaintiffs were not making a serious effort to promote
concerts by artists represented by Renaissance.

Plaintiffs state that they “have identified numerous
[Renaissance] contracts that were denied Plaintiffs
that were instead awarded to dominant white
promoters.” (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 10.)
However, the Plaintiffs have not shown that they bid
on any of these contracts or that Renaissance took any
action to prevent them from bidding on the contracts.
Plaintiffs' further argument that they did not make bids
on concerts because their experience has been that making
offers would have been futile (id.) is not applicable to
Renaissance. Plaintiffs argue that “where, as here, there
is a proven history of systemic discrimination by the
defendant” bids for the concerts would be futile. (Id. at
10 (citing Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters v. United States, 431
U.S. 324, 367–68 (1977)).) However, Plaintiffs' allegation
of a proven history of systemic discrimination overlooks
the fact that Renaissance only commenced its operations
as an artist's agency in 1997, approximately one year
before this action was commenced, and thus, had no
promotion history of systemic discrimination. Nor can
Plaintiffs rely on language in PAS Communications, Inc. v.
Sprint Corp., 139 F.Supp.2d 1149 (D.Kan.2001) because
Plaintiffs have not shown that Renaissance “deliberately
kept Plaintiffs from learning about bid opportunities (by
keeping Plaintiffs' names off bid lists) on the basis of race.”
PAS at 1176 n. 34. Renaissance has not been shown to
have had bid lists, nor has it been shown to have notified
more than several large promoters in a territory of an
upcoming tour. Many white promoters in these territories,
as well as black promoters, did not receive notice of
the artist's planned concerts, not just the four Plaintiffs.
Furthermore, Mr. Zedeck swears that he generally did
not know the race of many of the promoters he did
business with since he conducted negotiations by fax and
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over the telephone. (Zedeck Decl. I ¶ 11.) Under these
facts, Plaintiffs have not presented a prima facie case of
discrimination against them by Renaissance because of
their race.

(b) General Claims of Conspiracy Participation
*83  Plaintiffs have offered no evidence as to when the

conspiracy started, who the members of the conspiracy
were, how Renaissance joined the conspiracy, and how
Renaissance was aware of the conspiracy's objectives as
required for liability under § 1986.

As with the other Booking Agency Defendants, Plaintiffs
state that “Renaissance has not produced a single contract
demonstrating that a black promoter has ever promoted
a white artist whom it represented. Not one.” (Pls.
Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 1.) To support this claim,
Plaintiffs do not cite the discovery record but rather
paragraph 11 of the Mr. Rowe's affidavit submitted
as an exhibit to Plaintiffs' Response to Renaissance's
Motion for Summary Judgment. (Id. (citing Affidavit of
Leonard Rowe, dated Apr. 21, 2003 (“Rowe Renaissance
Aff.”), attached as Ex. 1 to Pls.' Resp. Renaissance,
¶ 11).) Whether Rowe conducted a systematic and
knowing search of the thousands of contracts produced

by Renaissance is problematic. 219  Furthermore, this
representation by Mr. Rowe contradicts the testimony
of Al Haymon, a prominent black promoter, that
he promoted Dream, a white artist represented by
Renaissance. (Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 263.)

With respect to the Plaintiffs' first general claim that
Renaissance contacted “only an elite fraternity of
dominant white promoters to promote its artists,” (Pls.
Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 1 (emphasis added)), the
record does not support Plaintiffs' claim. Mr. Zedeck,
the sole principal and owner of Renaissance, did not
testify that he had sought out white promoters, but
rather testified that he had located promoters by calling
the promoter suggested by the artist's manager, or by
calling a radio station and asking them for a promoter.
(Zedeck Dep., Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 25, at 46, 68.) He also
stated that he located promoters by calling someone with
whom he had a pre-existing relationship (id. at 76), or
calling the building or radio station or record promotion
representative in the specific market (id. at 78).

Mr. Zedeck testified that he contacted “dominant
promoter” Don Law in Boston, but also that he contacted
non-defendant concert promoter Mass Concerts in
Boston. (Id. at 116.) He also stated that in Chicago
he contacted three promoters, non-defendants The
Entertainment Group and Scott Gelman, as well as Jam.
(Id. at 90 .) He testified, “I don't have a guy anywhere.” (Id.
at 88.) Furthermore, a number of the promoters
used by Renaissance are not among Plaintiffs' alleged
dominant promoters. Plaintiffs' Renaissance Exhibit 34
shows contracts on Renaissance contract forms between
artists and non-dominant promoters GSAC Partners,
Beach Concerts, Inc., and Metropolitan Entertainment.
Additionally, Exhibit 1 of Zedeck's Declaration II
contains Renaissance contracts of artist Deborah Cox
with promoters Junior Vasquez, C & J Promotions,
Manny Lehman, FUSION, Jason McCarthy, Richard
Grant, David Delissa, and David Marvisi, among others,
none of whom are allegedly dominant promoters.

*84  Accordingly, Mr. Zedeck's testimony and the
exhibits produced are not supportive of Plaintiffs' claim
of a conspiracy between Renaissance and the Promoter
Defendants “by contacting only an elite fraternity of
dominant white promoters to promote its artists.”
Plaintiffs rely on no other testimony but rely on
declarations that are conclusory and not based on
personal knowledge. These conclusory statements are not
admissible as evidence under Rule 56(b) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure.

Plaintiffs also cite, as support for the above claim,
correspondence sent by Renaissance in early May 1997
and October 1997 to specific promoters regarding
promotion opportunities for white artists and the lack
of such correspondence with Plaintiffs. (Pls.' Resp.
Renaissance Mem. at 4 (citing Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 15
(which should read Ex. 16)).) However, Mr. Zedeck
explained he had sent these five or six faxes because the
addressees were not familiar with him or The Backstreet
Boys, and this was his method for stimulating offers
for The Backstreet Boys. (Zedeck Dep., Pls.' Resp.
Renaissance Ex. 25, at 82, 88.) The content of the letters in
Exhibit 16 are consistent with Mr. Zedeck's explanation.
These letters only function as an attempt to interest
the recipients in the promotion of The Backstreet Boys.
Plaintiffs do not provide any evidence to dispute this
legitimate business reason for Mr. Zedeck's action.
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The Plaintiffs' second argument that the evidence shows
that Renaissance required less onerous contractual
obligations from white promoters than black promoters
(Pls.' Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 1) is unsupported by
the evidence. Plaintiffs ask the Court to compare Plaintiff
Jones's contract with artist Deborah Cox, requiring
a 50% deposit on the guarantee (Pls.' Renaissance
Ex. 30), with Ms. Cox's contract with white concert
promoter Nederlander Anaheim Inc., in which no deposit
was required (Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 33). (Pls.' Resp.
Renaissance Mem. at 2–3, 7–8.) Based on these two
documents, Plaintiffs assert that “[e]ven when a Plaintiff
managed to promote a lesser black artist represented
by Renaissance, Plaintiff was treated differently than its
white counterparts” and that “Renaissance ... required
less onerous contractual obligations from white promoters
who promoted Ms. Cox during the same time frame.” (Id.
at 7.)

These arguments by Plaintiffs' counsel are highly
misleading. As Zedeck's Declaration II shows, Plaintiffs
chose not to disclose to the Court that Renaissance had
produced thirty-two contracts, not two contracts, for
concert performances by Deborah Cox. (Zedeck Decl. II
¶ 3, Ex. 1). Of those contracts, twenty-nine promoters
(almost all of whom were white) required deposits of 50%
just like Plaintiff Jones. (Id. ¶ 4, Ex. 1.) Moreover, Mr.
Jones admitted at deposition that Renaissance did not
set the terms of his contract with Ms. Cox, but rather
that he negotiated those terms directly with Ms. Cox's
tour manager and that Renaissance merely issued the
paperwork confirming the deal. (Jones Dep., J.A. Vol. IV,
at 1046–47 .)

*85  Furthermore, Mr. Zedeck points out that two of
the remaining three Cox contracts involved concerts at
venues, the South Florida Fair and Six Flags Astroworld,
which generally will not agree to pay deposits. (Zedeck
Decl. II ¶ 4; see also Fax from Nancy Vance of WMA to
Billie Bullock, manger for the Temptations, dated May 31,
1995 (stating “Nederlander does not pay deposits (never
has, never will)”), Pls. WMA Ex. 114; Letter from Guy
Richard of WMA to Dave Kaplan, manager of Brian
Setzer Orchestra, dated July 3, 1996, Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex.
52 (stating that, as a matter of policy, Cellar Door will
not pay a deposit for concerts performed at The Bayou).)
The third contract, which was with Nederlander Anaheim
Inc., involved a special situation in which Nederlander
Anaheim agreed to pick up Deborah Cox as a guest star

in its theater in Anaheim when her concert tour with

another promoter was cancelled. 220  Nederlander agreed
to pick up responsibility for the concert expense if Ms. Cox

agreed to be paid $15,000 in cash 221  on the concert date,
i.e., without receiving any deposit. (Zedeck Decl. II ¶ 5;
Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 33.) Plaintiffs have not offered any
evidence to show that this business reason for the terms
of the Nederlander Theatre contract is a pretext or sham.
McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.

Plaintiffs submit two additional composite exhibits
(Plaintiffs' Renaissance Exs. 34, 35), which purport to
contain contracts showing that the “dominant” white
promoters were offered contracts containing 10% or no
deposits, not the standard deposit of 50% of the artist's
guarantee. (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance at 7, 15.) Plaintiffs
maintain that this disparity in contract terms is evidence
from which an inference of discrimination against them
can be drawn. However, Plaintiffs have not offered
any evidence that they bid for any of these contracts.
No inference of discrimination can be drawn from the
departure from the standard deposit of 50%. These more
favorable terms would impact competing white promoters
as much as any black promoter. Furthermore, Plaintiffs'
Renaissance Exhibits 34 and 35, which contain many
duplicates, actually show only 114 contracts culled from
the thousands of contracts Renaissance has produced

to Plaintiffs. 222  These better terms received by the
“dominant white promoter” can be attributed to their
better bargaining position, e.g., control of desirable venue
(see Am. Compl. ¶ 82), recognized financial strength,
or relationship with the artist. Many of the contracts
submitted by Plaintiffs reveal that the concert promoters
rejected the terms Renaissance or the artist's management
proposed and negotiated lesser terms, which the artist's
manager then accepted. Mr. Zedeck states that managers
accepted these terms based on many years of relationship
with the promoter, or the promoter's history, reputation
or apparent financial wherewithal. (Zedeck Decl. II ¶
12.) Other such contracts are for small venues with small
guarantees or venues for which 50% deposits would be
understandably waived. (Id. ¶ 11.) At oral argument,
Plaintiffs did not seek to offer rebuttal of Mr. Zedeck's
statements.

*86  Plaintiffs' third argument that Renaissance
“persuad[es] its artists that they should use the dominant
white concert promoters” (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance Mem.
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at 1), a totally conclusory statement, is unsupported
by any evidence from an artist, artist's manager, or
admission of Renaissance. Plaintiffs, without offering
any evidentiary support, state that “Renaissance and the
other agency Defendants contact only the dominant white
promoters on behalf of its white artists and do not contact
multiple promoters to solicit competing bids to secure the
best possible price for its artists.” (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance
at 1 (citing R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 7, ¶
3).) Plaintiffs' citation to the affidavit of Richard Johnson,
who last worked in the concert promotion field in 1986
for WMA, (R. Johnson Aff. ¶ 9) does not support their
claim. Renaissance was formed in 1996 and owned by
Mr. Zedeck, who had previously been engaged in concert
promotion almost entirely outside the United States for
non-defendant Famous Artists Agency. (Zedeck Decl. I
¶¶ 2–4.) There is no showing by Plaintiffs that Richard
Johnson had any experience with Renaissance or that Mr.
Johnson knew or was aware of Mr. Zedeck while Mr.
Johnson was employed by WMA. Thus, Plaintiffs' citation
to this evidence is misleading.

As to Plaintiffs' claim that Renaissance was involved
in an alleged conspiracy to deprive Fred Jones of an
exclusive agreement for Mud Island and to install Beaver
in Memphis as a dominant promoter to the further
exclusion of Plaintiff Jones, Plaintiffs' provide no evidence
of Renaissance's involvement in this alleged incident or
any evidence from which an inference of involvement
could be inferred. Mr. Zedeck testified that he had no
knowledge of Mr. Jones's application for, or denial of,
an exclusive agreement regarding Mud Island. (Zedeck
Decl. II ¶ 16.) Mr. Zedeck also denies any communication
with Beaver about Mr. Jones or Mud Island. (Zedeck

Decl. I ¶ 18.) 223  Plaintiffs have presented no contradicting
evidence. Furthermore, in Mr. Jones's deposition he
admitted that he did not send a letter announcing his
“exclusive agreement” for Mud Island to Renaissance,
although he sent the letter to other booking agencies.
(Jones Dep. at, in J. Reply A., 1062–66.) Plaintiffs
cite Renaissance's contracts with Beaver in Memphis as
evidence that it was complicit in the conspiracy. (Pls.'
Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 14 (citing Pls.' Renaissance
Exs. 39, 40, 41).) These four contracts merely show that
Renaissance and Beaver contracted for promotion of four

concerts and do not raise an inference of conspiracy or
discrimination based on race in these circumstances.

Mr. Zedeck states that “Renaissance never made an
agreement with anyone—not another booking agency,
not any concert promoter, not anyone else—to exclude
anyone from the concert promotion industry, let alone on
the basis of race. Nor did Renaissance ever even discuss
making any such agreement with anyone.” (Zedeck Decl.
I ¶ 6.) Plaintiffs have offered no evidence that would
form the basis for an inference to the contrary. Mr.
Zedeck further points out that “Renaissance and its clients
benefited from vibrant and vital competition between
and among concert promoters. Such competition was
critical to Renaissance and its artists' ability to obtain the
best possible prices for the artists' performances. Further,
participating in the conspiracy alleged in the complaint
would have driven Renaissance's top artists to other
competing booking agencies.” (Zedeck Decl. I ¶ 7.)

*87  Plaintiffs have presented no evidence that
Renaissance discriminated against or participated in a
conspiracy to discriminate against or knew of any alleged
conspiracy to discriminate against Plaintiffs in violation
of §§ 1981, 1985(3) or 1986. Therefore, summary judgment
is granted on these claims.

V. CONCLUSION
The Court concludes, after weighing all the evidence in this
case and drawing all inferences in favor of the Plaintiffs,
that Plaintiffs have raised no genuine issue of material fact
and that no rational trier of fact could find for Plaintiff's
on any of the myriad of claims made in this action.
Accordingly, Defendants' motions for summary judgment
are granted. Defendants shall enter judgments for five
days notice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2005 WL 22833, 2005-1
Trade Cases P 74,684
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1 Rule 56.1 of the Local Civil Rules of the Southern District of New York requires parties moving for summary judgment
to submit “a separate, short and concise statement of the material facts as to which the moving party contends there is
no genuine issue to be tried.” Local Civil Rule 56.1(a) (2003). The facts set forth in a moving party's statement “will be
deemed to be admitted for purposes of the motion unless controverted” by the opposing party's statement. Local Civil
Rule 56.1(c). All statements “must be followed by citation to evidence which would be admissible” under the Federal
Rules of Evidence. Local Civil Rule 56.1(d).

The Booking Agency Defendants have moved to strike all Plaintiffs' Local Civil Rule 56.1 Statements as not in
compliance with the Local Civil Rules, as well as Plaintiffs' affidavits not in compliance with Rule 56(e) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. (Booking Agency Defs.' Mem. in Supp. of Mots. to Strike, dated May 23, 2003 (“Joint Mem.
Supp. Mot. Strike”).) The Court issued orders on May 30, 2003, and June 2, 2003, notifying Plaintiffs that their responses
were not in compliance with Local Civil Rule 56.1, together with an instructing memorandum. Plaintiffs amended their
Local Civil Rule 56.1 Statements on June 16, 2003. (E.g., Pls.' Am. Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. of Disputed Facts in Supp.
of Pls.' Opp'n to Booking Agency Defs.' Joint Mot. for Summ. J., dated June 16, 2003 (“Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt.”).)
Because these statements are still argumentative and conclusory, and often not supported by citations to evidence,
the Court will strike for failure to comply with Local Civil Rule 56.1 the portions of the Plaintiffs' Rule 56.1 Statements
and supporting affidavits that constitute argument and conclusory statements not shown to be made on an affiant's
personal knowledge. See Hollander v. American Cyanamid Co., 172 F.3d 192, 198 (2d Cir.1999). The Court will also
disregard all statements in the affidavits that do not meet the standard of response required by Rule 56(e) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. See Holtz v. Rockefeller & Co., Inc., 258 F.3d 62, 73 (2d Cir.2001) (“A district court has broad
discretion to determine whether to overlook a party's failure to comply with local court rules.”).

2 Plaintiffs move to strike the affidavit of Geraldine G. Papa, dated May 23, 2003. This affidavit by a paralegal consists of her
itemization of misrepresentations contained in Plaintiffs' Response to the Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment
and her interpretation of the correct interpretation of the underlying deposition testimony. As Plaintiffs point out, the filing
of the affidavit gave the Defendants fifteen extra pages to reply to Plaintiffs' opposition papers, in violation of the Court's
instructions on the length of memoranda to be submitted to the Court. On the other hand, Plaintiffs have used smaller
type size, larger margins and different spacing than the Court's rules contemplate to comply with the page limitations.
The Court has found that there have been numerous misrepresentations of testimony or half truths in the Plaintiffs'
responsive papers, which would derogate from the Defendants' flow of argument and Defendants had little choice but to
supplement their legal argument in this fashion. In point of fact, as one can discern from the length of this opinion and the
time elapsed since argument, the Court has laboriously concluded an intensive review of the mountain of unorganized
materials presented in those motions and did not rely on the Papa affidavit for its determinations. Nevertheless, because
the Papa affidavit constitutes an unauthorized briefing, the Court grants the Plaintiffs' motion.

3 Originally, BAB Productions, Inc. and Bernard Bailey were named as Plaintiffs (Am.Compl.¶ 13), but these Plaintiffs
voluntarily discontinued their claims during discovery.

4 Three additional booking agencies are named as “talent agent conspirators” but are not named as defendants. (Id. ¶ 28.)

5 Three additional concert promoters are named as “concert promoter co-conspirators” but are not named as defendants.
(Id. ¶ 57.)

6 Plaintiffs have acknowledged that ultimate approval of the selection of a promoter rests with the artists and the artists'
managers. (Dep. of Mario Gonzalez, dated Feb. 13, 2003 (“Gonzalez Dep.”), in Booking Agency Defs.' J.A. in Supp. of
Mots. for Summ. J ., dated Feb. 28, 2003 (“J.A.”), Vol. IV, at 233 (containing statement by Ms. Sperando, counsel for
Plaintiffs, “agree[ing] that the final approval of a promoter rests with the manager ... [o]r the artist”).)

7 In Mr. Jones's declaration, dated February 25, 2003, he states that Summitt “has been in existence since 1986.” (Decl.
of Fred Jones, dated Feb. 25, 2003 (“Jones Beaver Decl.”), attached as Ex. 1 in Exs. Pls. Resp. in Opp'n to Beaver's
Mot. for Summ. J., dated Mar. 13, 2003 (“Pls.' Beaver Exs.”), ¶ 2.) In Plaintiffs' other papers, however, they cite 1984 as
the founding date. (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 122; Dep. of Fred Jones, dated May 7, 2001 (“Jones Dep.”), in J.A., Vol.
IV, at 19.) Accordingly, for the purposes of this opinion, the Court will consider 1984 as the correct date.

8 Plaintiffs dispute Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 4 in part, but present no disagreement to this part of the paragraph. (Pls.' Resp. to
Beaver's “Undisputed Facts”, dated June 11, 2003 (“Pls.' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 4.)

9 Beaver uses the term plurality, but if majority is substituted for plurality, then this statement is undisputed. (Id. ¶ 6.)

10 Plaintiffs dispute WMA 56.1 Statement ¶ 5, citing the affidavit of Richard Johnson, a former WMA employee, to refute
WMA's assertion that it forwards all bona fide offers to artists or their managers. (Pls.' Am. Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. of
Disputed Facts in Supp. of Opp'n to WMA's Mot. for Summ. J., dated June 16, 2003 (“Pls.' Am. WMA 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶ 4
(citing Aff. of Richard Johnson, dated Jan. 19, 2001 (“R. Johnson Aff.”), attached as Ex. 9 in Exs. Pls.' Resp. in Opp'n to
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WMA's Mot. for Summ. J., undated (received May 5, 2003) (“Pls.' Resp. WMA Exs.”), ¶ 3).) However, Mr. Johnson was
employed in the music division of Defendant WMA as a booking agent from 1982 to 1986, twelve years before the filing
of this complaint, and has been employed in an unrelated economic area ever since. (R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Resp. WMA
Ex. 9, ¶ 1.) The cited evidence is insufficient to controvert WMA 56.1 Statement ¶ 5, and this statement is considered
as if undisputed.

11 Plaintiffs dispute WMA 56.1 Statement ¶ 6. However, the evidence cited by Plaintiffs does not controvert the statement
that the artists or their managers make the final decision. (Pls.' Am. 56 .1 Stmt. ¶ 6.) Thus, WMA 56.1 Statement ¶ 6 is
considered as if undisputed. Additionally, Plaintiffs have admitted that this assertion is true. See supra note 6.

12 Plaintiffs assert that Renaissance and Evolution are substantially the same companies. (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance's Stmt.
Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1, dated June 13, 2003 (“Pls.' Resp. Renaissance 56.1 Stmt.”), ¶¶ 3–4.)

13 Under the form contracts negotiated by the Defendant Booking Agency Defendants and submitted on these motions, the
expense amounts are agreed upon and, if they exceed that amount, are born by the promoter. In accounting for the net
concert revenues, the promoters are required to show that the agreed upon expenses were incurred in promoting the
concert. (Report of Mario Gonzalez, Esq., undated (“Gonzalez Report”), in J.A., Vol. I, ¶ 10(d).)

14 Plaintiffs state that Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 1 is disputed. (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 1.) Plaintiffs' reply, however, is
unresponsive and does not controvert the statement of material fact provided by Booking Agency Defendants, as required
by Local Rule 56.1(d). Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 1 is considered as if undisputed.

15 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but as their reply is non-responsive (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 5), Joint 56.1 Statement
¶ 5 is considered as if undisputed.

16 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 6); Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 6 is considered as if undisputed.

17 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and relies on conclusory remarks included in Mr. Rowe's affidavit and deposition.
Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence demonstrating that Mr. Rowe is an expert in the concert promotion business and
when he speaks on matters beyond his personal knowledge, these statements are inadmissible under the Federal Rules
of Evidence. See Fed.R.Evid. 602 (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to
support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.”); see also Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(e) (“Supporting and
opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence,
and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.”). Accordingly, Joint 56.1
Statement ¶ 9 is considered as if undisputed.

18 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 10 is considered as if undisputed.

19 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 16 is considered as if undisputed.

20 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 17 is considered as if undisputed. The Court does not rely on
Defendants' citation to the Billboard Magazine article, “Black Promoters Say They're Excluded From Top R & B Gigs.”
Under the Federal Rules of Evidence, the article is inadmissible hearsay to prove the truth of the statements contained in it.

21 Plaintiffs' reply relies on conclusory remarks and statements not based on personal knowledge; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶
18 is considered as if undisputed.

22 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 19 is considered as if undisputed.

23 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and admits the facts asserted in Defendants' statement; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 20 is
considered as if undisputed.

24 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 21 is considered as if undisputed.

25 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 22 is considered as if undisputed.

26 Other promoters testify that they have been aggressive and proactive in seeking out promotion opportunities. (Dep. of
Brandon Phillips, dated June 19, 2002 (“Phillips Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. V, at 168.)

27 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 23 is considered as if undisputed.

28 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 24 is considered as if undisputed.

29 To the contrary, Alan Haymon, a successful black promoter, testified that “there is no barrier to submitting an offer
that exists in our business” and that “it is impossible to my knowledge for anyone to prevent anyone from submitting a
bid.” (Haymon Dep., McCabe Decl. Ex. 11, at 189, 252.) In general, bids are submitted directly from the promoter to an
agency. For this process, “you don't have to have anything other than a telephone and a fax machine .” (Id. at 48–49.)

30 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and cites to inadmissible evidence; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 25 is considered as if
undisputed.

31 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and cites to inadmissible evidence; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 26 is considered as if
undisputed.
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32 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 29 is considered as if undisputed.

33 Plaintiffs' reply admits the facts in question and relies on statements not shown to be based on personal knowledge; Joint
56.1 Statement ¶ 30 is considered as if undisputed.

34 Plaintiffs' reply admits the facts in question and relies on statements not shown to be based on personal knowledge; Joint
56.1 Statement ¶ 31 is considered as if undisputed.

35 Plaintiffs' reply relies on statements not shown to be based on personal knowledge; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 33 is
considered as if undisputed.

36 Plaintiffs' reply misuses the King deposition, using it for a proposition it does not support. (See Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt.
¶ 34; King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 293 (agreeing that the artist, manager, or the booking agent can make the decision of
which concert promoter to use).) Joint Statement ¶ 34 is considered as if undisputed.

Witnesses from non-party booking agencies and artist managers state that the artists and the artists' managers make
the decision. (Dep. of Phil Casey, dated May 22, 2002 (“Casey Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. III, at 77–78 (stating that the decision
about what promoter will promote a particular event is made by either the artist or the manager in consultation with
the artist, but not by the agent); Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 103 (explaining that as manager for Rod Stewart, Mr.
Phillips and a partner made the final decision on which concert promoters to use); Weisner Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 8,
12, 26–27, 29 (stating that in Mr. Weisner's fifteen to seventeen years as a manager for acts such as The Jacksons,
Michael Jackson, Madonna, Earth Wind & Fire, Gladys Knight & the Pips, Steve Winwood and John Mellencamp,
decisions about promoters have always been made by the manager and the artist—never the agent); Dep. of William
Brown, dated Apr. 25, 2002 (“Brown Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. III, at 23–29 (stating that as manager for Jill Scott and others,
Mr. Brown makes the decisions with respect to the selection of concert promoters and that WMA sends all offers to
him without recommendation and he then selects the promoter); Aff. of Irving Azoff, dated Dec. 15, 2000 (“Azoff Aff.”),
attached as Ex. 1 to Decl. of Peter Grosslight, dated Feb. 27, 2003 (“Grosslight Decl. I”), ¶¶ 2, 5 (stating, when he was
the manager of the Eagles, Steely Dan, Journey and others, “[he was] directly involved in the organization of concert
tours and the selection of concert promoters to promote [his] clients' tours and concert engagements. Once a tour
has been planned, it [was] common for both [he] and the artists [he] represent[ed] to state preferences for particular
concert promoters depending upon the local market place for each concert.... The final decision as to the acceptance
of a particular concert promoter's offer [was] made by [him] and the artist.”).)
Many black promoters agree that the artists and artists' managers make the final decision on the selection of the
promoter. (Dep. of Lionel Bea, dated Apr. 26, 2002 (“Bea Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. III, at 24 (stating that the manager might
discuss promoter selection with the artist or the agent, but then the manager and artist make a decision and tell the
agent which promoter they want to use); Brooks Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 43–44 (stating that decisions as to what
vendors or promoters to work with are made by the artist or the manager); Dep. of Fredrick Luster, dated May 6, 2002
(“Luster Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. V, at 74–75 (stating that managers and artists choose whether to use a certain promoter or
play a certain market); Dep. of William Sparks, dated Mar. 13, 2002 (“Sparks Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. VI, at 129–130 (stating
that managers have the final word and are “absolutely” the ones who pick the promoters and that it's always been
that way); Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 44–45 (agreeing that some artists decide themselves who their concert
promoters will be, while some artists rely on their manager to be the primary decision-maker).)
Some promoters are of the opinion that the booking agent may influence the selection of a concert promoter. (King
Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 293 (stating that in some instances, agents may be a part of the selection process); Dep. of
Jesse Boseman, dated Aug. 7, 2001 (“Boseman Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. III, at 775–776 (stating that the decision on which
promoter to use may be made by a “combination” of people, including the artist, his or her manager and the agent);
Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 44–45 (stating that some artists are influenced by their agent or family members).)
Non-defendant booking agencies and artists acknowledge that the agents' recommendations are often influential. (See
Casey Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 346 (“On a scale of 1–to–10, ... [the influence of the agent's recommendation is] probably
in the 7 range.”). Plaintiffs cite Mr. Cosby's deposition on page fifty-three, stating he “testified that his agency, [WMA],
selected 90% of his promoters” (Pls.' Am Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 37), but the Court could not find this page of Mr. Cosby's
deposition in the excerpts submitted to the Court.

37 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 41 is considered as if undisputed.

38 A claim under section 1 of the Sherman Act must be “commenced within four years after the cause of action has accrued.”
15 U.S.C.A. 15b. “In the context of a continuing conspiracy to violate the antitrust laws, ... each time a plaintiff is injured
by an act of the defendants a cause of action accrues to him to recover the damages caused by that act and ... as to
those damages, the statute of limitations runs from the commission of the act.” Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research,
Inc., 401 U.S. 321, 338 (1971).
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39 Plaintiffs also claim that this conspiracy creates a “negative ripple effect throughout the black community” because white
promoters “rarely retain the services of black-owned businesses servicing concerts.” (Am.Compl.¶ 83.) This allegation
is not relevant to the determination of whether there is actual injury to competition in the relevant market under § 1.
Additionally, Plaintiffs have provided no evidence relating to the use of black-owned businesses by white or black concert
promoters.

40 Pollstar Magazine is the “weekly industry periodical reporting concert and tour information.” (Am.Compl.¶ 65.)

41 Defendants' expert, Dr. Williams, however, shows in Exhibit 7 to his expert report that “acts represented by non-defendant
booking agencies performed 54 percent of all shows performed [at such venues] during 1993–2000.” (Williams Report, in
J.A., Vol. I, ¶ 31, Ex. 7.) Exhibit 7 shows also that “major acts represented by non-defendant booking agencies performed
40 percent of the shows performed by all major acts during 1993–2000.” (Id.)

42 Most of the Promoter Defendants have been dismissed from the case or were acquired by SFX and, pursuant to
agreement with Plaintiffs, the claims against them have been dismissed with prejudice. Although the Sherman Act claim
against Jam was dismissed with prejudice by the Court, Plaintiffs were granted leave to amend the Amended Complaint
pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Procedure, if during discovery they found evidence to support the dismissed
claim and could make a showing that there was sufficient evidence to proceed with the claim. Rowe Entertainment, Inc.
v. William Morris Agency, Inc., No. 98 Civ. 8272(RPP), 2000 WL 896929 (S.D.N.Y. June 30, 2000)). Plaintiffs have not
sought leave to amend the Amended Complaint. However, because Plaintiffs' arguments seem to assume that their
antitrust claims against Jam are valid, the Court will address the lack of evidence against Jam on Plaintiffs' antitrust claims.

43 In the test period, there were 2,460 such concerts of which Plaintiffs claim 1,625 or 65% were concerts promoted or co-
promoted by the originally named promoter defendants or uncharged promoter co-conspirators. (Am.Compl.¶¶ 66–67.)
However, Exhibit 6 of Dr. Williams's expert report shows that “non-defendant promoters promoted 72 percent of all shows
and 58 percent of shows by major acts during the 1993–2000 period.” (Williams Report, in J.A., Vol. I, ¶ 31, Ex. 6.)

44 Additionally, the Pollstar information is apparently incomplete as Mr. Haymon, a major concert promoter, testified he did
not report his concert results to Pollstar. (Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 38.)

45 The statistics calculated from the Pollstar data by Plaintiffs' former counsel do not show that Beaver or Jam are dominant
in the national market. Plaintiffs rely on the data from Pollstar to conclude that in the test period Beaver promoted 72% of
the major concerts in New Orleans and 81% in Memphis and that Jam promoted 85% of the major concerts in Chicago
and 74% in Minneapolis. (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 3 (Dominant Promoter Table); see also Aff. of Christine Lepera, dated
Jan. 19, 2001 (“Lepera Aff.”), in Pls.' Beaver Ex. 10, ¶ 6.)

Additionally, Plaintiffs rely on Mr. Rowe's declaration to assert that Jam has dominated Chicago since the late 1970s
or early 1980s (Aff. of Leonard Rowe, dated Feb. 27, 2003 (“Rowe Jam Aff. I”), Pls. Rev. Jam Ex. 1, ¶ 11) and that
Beaver has been dominant in New Orleans since at least the early 1980s (Decl. of Leonard Rowe, dated Feb. 27,
2003 (“Rowe Beaver Decl.”), Pls. Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 9). Mr. Rowe is not an expert, and Plaintiffs have not presented
evidence of his particular familiarity with these markets. His assertions are not shown to be within the scope of his
personal knowledge or supported by other evidence.
Because Plaintiffs have not presented any evidence raising an inference of any agreement among these allegedly
dominant regional promoters and booking agencies, these claims of territorial dominance are irrelevant. Plaintiffs have
not brought a section 2 claim under the Sherman Antitrust Act against any of the Defendants.

46 Defendant Renaissance, formed in 1996, entered the booking agency market with top acts in 1997. (Declaration of
David Zedeck, dated Feb. 27, 2003 (“Zedeck Decl. I”), ¶ 2.) Plaintiffs do not dispute Renaissance's entry with top acts
or approximate date of entry. Additionally, the expert report of Dr. Darrell Williams contains two other examples of
“successful entrants” into the promotion market, one of which, Magic Johnson Productions, is owned by an African–
American. (Williams Report, in J.A., Vol. I, ¶ 66; see also Decl. of Earvin Johnson, Jr. (Magic Johnson), dated May 27,
2002 (“E. Johnson Decl.”), attached as Ex. 3 to McCabe Decl., ¶ 4.)

47 In their Joint Memorandum, Plaintiffs cite the expert report of Dr. Gerald Jaynes to support the proposition that promotion
costs could be 5% if competition existed. (Pls.' Joint Mem. at 14.) Dr. Jaynes's report, however, does not discuss whether
promotion costs could be lowered. (Expert Report of Dr. Gerald Jaynes, dated July 31, 2002 (“Jaynes Report”), attached
as Ex. 36 to Pls.' Joint Mem. Exs., Vol. II.) The Jaynes Report calculated damages to Plaintiffs from racial discrimination
based on data, which was found to be unreliable, provided by Plaintiffs. (Id. at 5–7; see also Rowe Entertainment, Inc.
v. The William Morris Agency, Inc., No. 98 Civ. 8272(RPP), 2003 WL 22124991 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 2003).) Dr. Jaynes
also testified that he was offering no opinion on the alleged conspiracy's effect on competition. (Dep. of Professor Gerald
Jaynes, dated Sept. 13, 2002 (“Jaynes Dep.”), in J.A., Vol. IV, at 12, 15–16.)
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Additionally, Defendants have presented the expert report of Dr. Williams to show that the total exclusion of the four
plaintiffs would not have any impact on competition in the market. (William Report ¶ 45 (stating Plaintiffs constituted
less than 0.3% of the combined market share during 1994 to 2001).)

48 Plaintiffs also allege that as part of the conspiracy, the Promoter Defendants receive more favorable contract terms (Pls.'
Joint Mem. at 8–9) and that Booking Agency Defendants gave the Plaintiffs inaccurate, misleading, and false information
about different concerts and tours (id. at 11). These allegations are discussed in the discrimination section. Although
the Promoter Defendants often receive more favorable terms than those initially offered in contracts on booking agency
forms, Defendants' have presented evidence supporting their contention that these favorable terms are the result of
bargaining between the booking agencies and Promoter Defendants. See infra pp. 83–86, 104–07. Additionally, Promoter
Defendants do not consistently receive these more favorable terms. See infra pp. 83–86, 104–07. This conduct is at least
as consistent with permissible competition as with an illegal conspiracy and is insufficient standing alone to support an
inference of an illegal conspiracy in restraint of trade. See Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 588.

49 The Amended Complaint also alleges that Beaver, Jam and the Booking Agency Defendants committed specific overt
acts in furtherance of the conspiracy. (Am. Compl. ¶ 87; see also Pls.' Joint Mem. at 4–6, 8–11, 24–26 (alleging overt
acts involving an exclusive contract at Mud Island and certain concert tours of Janet Jackson, Kenny G, Toni Braxton,
Maxwell, Lauryn Hill and Erykah Badu).) These specific overt acts are reviewed in the discrimination section. Plaintiffs
have provided no evidence to support their claims that these alleged acts were in furtherance of any conspiracy in restraint
of trade.

50 As stated supra p. 27, this extrapolation is not supported by expert testimony and apparently contains incomplete
information.

51 Plaintiffs did not depose Mr. Johnson. He is not an expert witness designated pursuant to Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure and his affidavit does not comply with the requirements of Rule 56(e) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. It is accepted only insofar as the statements contained in it are based on his personal knowledge of
actions taken by booking agents of WMA from 1982 to 1986. WMA operates out of offices in New York, California, and
Tennessee. Mr. Johnson does not state which office he was in.

52 Mr. Kapp has also not been designated as an expert pursuant to Rule 26(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

53 Plaintiffs have stipulated to dismiss their claims against Bill Graham Presents.

54 At oral argument, Plaintiffs asserted that Bill Graham Presents finally booked the Culture Club concert. (Hrg. Tr. 10/17/03
at 70–71; see also, Pls.' WMA Ex. 181 (Memo from Lee Smith of Bill Graham Presents to Shelly Schultz of WMA, dated
Oct. 5, 1998 (discussing postponement of Culture Club concert)).)

55 Plaintiffs have stipulated to dismiss their claims against Delsener/Slater.

56 For example, Exhibit E to Plaintiffs' Joint Memorandum contains artists' contracts with Beaver (New Orleans) on
Defendant CCA's form contract for concerts in: (1) Fort Worth and Dallas, Texas (Pace Concerts) (Am. Compl. ¶ 51
(stating that Pace Concerts is the “dominant concert promoter is Texas”)); (2) St. Louis (Contemporary Productions)
(id. ¶ 42 (“Contemporary Productions is the predominant concert promoter operating in the region surrounding St.
Louis....”)); (3) Worcester, Massachusetts, and Portland, Maine (Don Law Productions) (id. ¶ 45 (“Don Law Company
is the predominant concert promoter in the New England region....”)); (4) Nassau Coliseum in Uniondale, New York
(Delsener–Slater) (id. ¶ 43 (“Delsener/Slater Enterprises is the predominant concert promotion company operating in
the New York City metropolitan area ....”)); and (5) Atlanta, Georgia (Concert/Southern Promotions) (id. ¶ 41 (“Concert/
Southern Promotions is concert promoter, operating primarily in the Southeastern United States....”)). Also Exhibit 12 to
Plaintiffs' Joint is an artist contract with Beaver Productions on a WMA contract form for a concert in St. Louis, Missouri
(Contemporary Productions) (id. ¶ 42). Furthermore, Exhibit 9 of Plaintiffs' Hearing Exhibits contains an artist contract
with Beaver on CAA's contract form for a concert in Houston, Texas (Pace) (id. ¶ 51).

Also, Mr. Kapp testified that to his knowledge Jam Productions promoted concerts in San Francisco (Bill Graham
Enterprises) (id. ¶ 31 (“Bill Graham Enterprises is the predominant concert promoter in the San Francisco Bay/Northern
California area.”)). Philadelphia (Electric Factory) (id. at ¶ 46 (stating that Electric Factory “is the predominant concert
promoter in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.”)) and Boston (Don Law) (id. ¶ 45). (Kapp Dep., Pls.' CAA Dep. Tr., Vol. I,
at 238–41) Mr. Leff testified that Beaver promoted concerts in Memphis, Mid–South Concerts' territory, prior to 1998.
(Leff Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 4, at 56.) Exhibit A to the affidavit of Don Fox, dated March 13, 2003 (“Fox Aff.”), (which is
attached as Exhibit 2 to Beaver's Reply Memorandum.) shows that alleged dominant promoters Pace Concerts (Texas),
Contemporary Productions (St.Louis), and Cellar Door promoted concerts in New Orleans, Lakefront Arena, Beaver's
area. (See also Beaver's Reply Mem. in Support of Mot. for Summ. J., dated Mar. 13, 2003 (“Beaver Reply Mem.”),
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at 9.) In view of these examples, the Court will not set forth all the other contracts Plaintiffs offered as exhibits on this
motion which are additional evidence of no horizontal conspiracy to divide markets between the Promoter Defendants.

57 There is evidence that WMA and CAA have contacted “dominant promoters,” as much as a year in advance, asking
them to hold venues on specific dates for artists whose tours they are planning. (Pls.' Hrg. Ex. 8.) These venue holds
are obviously competitive attempts to preempt other booking agencies, and promoters in contact with them, from putting
holds on the desired venue on the same date for other artists, and are not supportive of the Plaintiffs' antitrust claims as
they reflect competition among booking agencies. Matsushita, 475 U.S. at 588 (“[C]onduct as consistent with permissible
competition as with illegal conspiracy does not, standing alone, support an inference of antitrust conspiracy.”) These
venue holds are not proof of the Plaintiffs' claim of a horizontal conspiracy among the concert Promoter Defendants
to divide the U.S. market or evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that the Booking Agency Defendants
are members of a conspiracy with all the concert Promoter Defendants to exclude Plaintiffs from the concert promotion
business throughout the United States or to restrain competition in that market.

58 Plaintiffs' allegation assumes that the Booking Agency Defendants not only have the ability to make, but also to keep
these “assurances” to Promoter Defendants. The record is clear and unambiguous that the artist or the artist's manager
enters into a contract with the concert promoter for a concert at a specified venue, generally for a guaranteed amount
and an artist/promoter split of gross revenues after deducting specified expenses. The booking agency is not a party
to the contract, although the contract is generally on the booking agency's form. Accordingly, a contract's terms are not
determinative of the terms of any agreement between the promoters and the booking agency. Booking agencies are only
agents of the artists. The booking agency, on instructions from the artist or the artist's manager, arranges the routing of
an artist's tour and the venue of each appearance and may state on behalf of the artist the terms of the concert contract
with the promoters.

59 In his declaration dated February 27, 2003, Mr. Rowe cites the above exhibits as evidence supporting the Plaintiffs'
conspiracy theory. (Rowe Beaver Decl. ¶ 7.) Mr. Rowe states that his credentials are that he has worked as a concert
promoter in the United States for twenty-eight years and has been president of the Black Promoters Association for
eight years. (Id. ¶ 3.) While that experience might give him some knowledge about the activities of a concert promoter,
the overwhelming weight of the evidence is that he has not been active as a concert promoter since the 1970s. His
experience, in any event, is insufficient to permit the conclusion that these contracts raise an inference of an agreement
between the booking agencies and the promoters regarding as rewards for promoting certain artists.

60 Mr. Richard Johnson's affidavit is insufficient to demonstrate any action of the booking agencies that would be against
their economic interests since his testimony at most relates to a business practice by WMA from 1982 to 1986.

61 See supra note 47.

62 The statute of limitations for claims brought under § 1981 in New York is three years. Patterson v. County of Oneida,
375 F.3d 206, 225 (2d Cir.2004).

63 To establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination in the employment context under Title VII, the plaintiff must prove
by a preponderance of the evidence:

(i) that he belongs to a racial minority; (ii) that he applied and was qualified for a job for which the employer was
seeking applicants; (iii) that, despite his qualifications, he was rejected; and (iv) that, after his rejection, the position
remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants from persons of complainant's qualifications.

McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.
However, “this standard is not inflexible, as ‘the facts necessarily will vary in Title VII cases, and the specification
above of the prima facie proof required from [plaintiff] is not necessarily applicable in every respect in differing factual
situations.” ’ Burdine, 450 U.S. at 254 n. 6 (quoting McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802 n. 13).
The second element in the employment promotion context generally requires that a plaintiff show that he or she applied
for a specific position or positions and was rejected, rather than generally requested promotion. Petrosino v. Bell
Atlantic, 385 F.3d 210, 227 (2d Cir.2004) (citing Brown v. Coach Stores, Inc., 163 F.3d 706, 710 (2d Cir.1998)). To be
excused from the specific application requirement, an employee must demonstrate “that (1) the vacancy at issue was
not posted, and (2) the employee either had (a) no knowledge of the vacancy before it was filled or (b) attempted to
apply for it through informal procedures endorsed by the employer.” Id.

64 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 54 is considered as if undisputed.

65 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 60 is considered as if undisputed. Mr. Rowe produced no
concert files prior to 1997. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 838.) Mr. Rowe testified that the files of any concerts he did
with Mr. Haymon from 1984 to 1997 were retained by Mr. Haymon, and before 1984, his concert files were mistakenly
thrown away. (Id.)
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66 Mr. Rowe submitted an offer to CAA for the Janet Jackson tour in 29 cities in 1998. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 59; Rowe Dep., in
J.A., Vol. VI, at 134–35.) Mr. Rowe also submitted an offer to WMA for certain markets on the 1998 Maxwell tour. (Letter
from Mr. Rowe to Jeff Frasco of WMA, dated July 20, 1998 (“Rowe 1998 Maxwell Offer”), Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1A,
at 1) Mr. Rowe's letter did not include venues, dates, artist's split or other key terms for a specific concert that would
allow an artist or an artist's manager to compare his offer to other promoters' offers for these cities. However, it will be
considered, as WMA acknowledges, an offer for the 1998 Maxwell tour. (Mem. of Law in Supp. of WMA's Mot. for Summ.
J., dated Feb. 28, 2003 (“WMA Mem.”), at 8 n. 5.) Plaintiffs cite to Mr. Rowe's testimony that he had submitted a written
bid for concerts by Lauryn Hill. (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 59 (citing Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1172–74).) Plaintiffs
did not supply the Court with a copy of Mr. Rowe's Lauryn Hill bid. The testimony suggests it was only an expression
of interest. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1174.)

67 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and admits the facts in question; Joint Statement ¶ 61 is considered as if undisputed.

68 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and admits the facts in question; Joint Statement ¶ 63 is considered as if undisputed.

69 Co-promoters generally do not conduct the financial negotiations for a concert.

70 Mr. Rowe testified that Mr. Haymon takes financial responsibility for the tours, but that he would “sometimes put up the
expense for” the advertising he undertook. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 697.)

71 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, asserting that “Mr. Rowe testified he promoted many live music performances outside of
the state of Georgia.” (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 55.) Plaintiffs, however, cite only to the same deposition testimony of
Mr. Rowe as cited in Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 55, in which the only concerts Mr. Rowe mentions specifically are concerts
on: (1) the Kenny G/Toni Braxton tour, which he asserts he “sharecropped,” did no work, and was paid for his silence
(Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 22); (2) a Sugar Daddy tour, a gospel (non-contemporary) music tour, and
(3) the Puff Daddy tour (no further explanation provided). (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 202–03). As Plaintiffs have failed
to provide citation to evidence controverting Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 55, that paragraph is considered as if undisputed.

72 Plaintiffs state that Joint Statement ¶ 56 is disputed, citing to Mr. Rowe's promotion of the “Sugar Daddy national
tour.” (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 56.) Sugar Daddy, however, was a “gospel musical play” (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI,
at 336), not a concert performance of contemporary music within the scope of the Amended Complaint in this litigation.
As Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive, Joint Statement ¶ 56 is considered as if undisputed.

73 In this period, Mr. Rowe has only once been made responsible for part of the artist's guarantee. (Id. at 295.) During the
1998 Janet Jackson Tour, promoted by Magicworks, $100,000 of the monies due Mr. Rowe from concert ticket sales as
a co-promoter were held as a deposit until after the show. (Id.)

74 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and admits the facts in question; Joint Statement ¶ 68 is considered as if undisputed.

75 But see infra note 115. In 1997, Mr. Rowe obtained a contract for a portion of concert promotion for concerts on the Toni
Braxton tour, but he did not perform any services. (Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls. Rev. Jam Ex. 1, ¶ 22.)

76 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 112 is considered as if undisputed.

77 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 111 is considered as if undisputed.

78 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 100 is considered as if undisputed.

79 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 101 is considered as if undisputed.

80 Plaintiffs' reply is largely non-responsive. However, Mr. Boseman testified that he was sole promoter for Luther Vandross
in 1986 or 1987 in the Raleigh, North Carolina area. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 99–100.) This does not controvert
Joint Statement ¶ 104, and thus it is considered as if undisputed.

81 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive and admits the facts in question; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 84 is considered as if
undisputed.

82 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 94 is considered as if undisputed in part.

83 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 85 is considered as if undisputed.

84 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 121 is considered as if undisputed.

85 See supra note 7.

86 Summitt has been employed as a consultant for major corporations like Seagrams, Phillip Morris, Ford, Coca–Cola,
Federal Express, Auto Zone, Exxon, Mobile, Texaco, and numerous others in putting on or sponsoring events as opposed
to concert promotion. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 122.) Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 122 is considered
as if undisputed.

87 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 128 is considered as if undisputed.

88 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 127 is considered as if undisputed.
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89 Jones has never sought out, or bid on, any white acts for the Southern Heritage Classie. (Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at
221–22.) During the years covered by this action, Mr. Jones has been an owner/limited partner of the Memphis Grizzlies,
a National Basketball Association team. (Jones Beaver Decl., in Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 2.)

90 Plaintiffs' replies are non-responsive; Joint Statement ¶¶ 139–141 are considered as if undisputed.

91 Plaintiffs themselves have admitted that their “claim in the Amended Complaint that they represent the majority of
business done by black concert promoters is false because [Mr. Haymon] actually accounts for the lion share of the
concerts promoted by black promoters, not the plaintiffs.” (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 165 (accepting as undisputed
Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 165).)

92 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but do not provide citation to evidence as required by Local Civil Rule 56.1. (Pls.' Am.
Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 170.) Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 170 is considered as if undisputed.

93 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but do not provide citation to evidence as required by Local Civil Rule 56.1. (Pls.' Am.
Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 170.) Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 170 is considered as if undisputed.

94 Plaintiffs dispute whether CD Enterprises paid a deposit in excess of $400,000, but do not provide citation to evidence as
required by Local Civil Rule 56.1. (Pls.' Am. Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 189.) Mr. Brooks testified that he was unsure of whether
this was the final negotiated deposit. (Brooks Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 56 .)

95 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but do not provide citation to evidence as required by Local Civil Rule 56.1. (Pls.' Am.
Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 190.) Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 190 is considered as if undisputed.

96 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but do not provide citation to evidence as required by Local Civil Rule 56.1. (Pls.' Am.
Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 186.) Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 186 is considered as if undisputed.

97 Defendant Jam asserts that Plaintiffs have provided no evidence that they have “ever submitted a bid in competition with
Jam.” (Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 42.) In response, Plaintiffs assert that Mr. Rowe submitted a bid on the 1998 Maxwell tour in
competition with Jam. (Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 42.) However, as stated infra note 146, Mr. Rowe's letter to WMA
did not contain the particulars to be a concert bid and is considered an offer for the Maxwell tour in 1998. The 1998
tour was cancelled. Plaintiffs also assert that Mr. Boseman submitted a bid for a Kenny G/Braxton concert in competition
with Jam. (Id.) However, as stated infra pp. 76–78, the evidence shows that Mr. Boseman and Mr. Rowe only discussed
the possibility of promoting this concert after the concert had been awarded to Jam. No party testified or presented any
document about such a bid. Plaintiffs also make reference to a concert by Seal, but provide no evidence that any bid
was even submitted, let alone in competition with Jam. (Id.) Plaintiffs present no evidence showing that Plaintiff King
submitted a bid in competition against Jam. (Id.)

Defendant Beaver asserts that Plaintiffs have never submitted a bid in competition with Beaver. (Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶
14 (citing Fox Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶ 7).) Plaintiffs' reply is unresponsive and claims that Beaver submits no bids. (Pls.'
Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 14.) The latter assertion is refuted infra p. 62.
Plaintiffs have also provided no evidence that they submitted bids for concerts to the Booking Agency Defendants,
aside from two tour offers for Maxwell and Janet Jackson by Mr. Rowe, prior to the bringing of this lawsuit. (See Rowe
Dep., in J.A. Vol. VI, at 138–39; Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 465–66; King Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 175, 217–18,
813–15, 1065–66; Jones Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 208–13.)

98 Plaintiffs argue also that “[b]y the time black promoters, including the Plaintiffs, find out about the fact that a white artist
or superstar black artist is touring, the dates have been sold to white promoters,” there is no opportunity to bid. (Decl. of
Leonard Rowe, dated Feb. 27, 2003, attached as Ex. 6 to Pls.' Joint Mem. Exs., Vol. I, ¶ 18.) However, promoters may
learn of an opportunity to promote by calling booking agents, or artists' managers. (Joint Stmt. 56.1 ¶¶ 20–21.)

99 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 201 is considered as if undisputed.

100 Plaintiffs also assert that “[t]he facts when taken as a whole demonstrate that Beaver in fact prevented the Plaintiffs and
other black promoters from submitting a bid to promote or co-promote concerts.” (Pls' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 18
(emphasis added).) Plaintiffs do not provide any evidentiary support to show that any defendant, including Beaver or
Jam, has taken any action to prevent them from submitting a bid to promote a concert.

101 The record shows that Plaintiffs' former counsel (along with other attorneys and paralegals), Mr. Rowe and Mr. King
examined the files. (See Decl. of Laura L. Mall, Esq., dated Apr. 22, 2003, attached as Ex. 7 to Pls.' Resp. Mem. in Opp'n
to Defs.' Mot. to Exclude Pls.' Expert Witness Dr. Gerald D. Jaynes's Affidavit, dated Apr. 24, 2003, ¶¶ 9–10.) There is
no showing that Mr. Rowe examined all files. This statement that Defendant Promoters are not required to submit written
bids is conclusory. Nor have Plaintiffs requested any Defendant to admit Mr. Rowe's conclusion.

102 The Black Promoters Association (“BPA”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Georgia, with its
offices located in Atlanta, Georgia. (Am.Compl.¶ 17.) BPA is a “trade association of black concert promoters” organized
“to promote the interests of black concert promoters, to open the industry to free competition, and to eliminate racial
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discrimination.” (Id.) BPA was formed sometime between 1995 and 1997 by Plaintiffs Rowe, King and Boseman. (Joint
56.1 Stmt. ¶ 239.) The BPA operates out of Mr. Rowe's office and has no independent funding. (Id. ¶ 240.) There are
seven members of the BPA, including Plaintiffs Rowe, Boseman and King. (Id. ¶ 241.) Al Haymon is a member but has
attended only one BPA meeting since becoming a member. (Id.) Plaintiff Jones, non-party Larry Bailey and non-party Bill
Washington were all members of the BPA for a period before they resigned. (Id. ¶¶ 247–49; L. Bailey Dep., in J.A., Vol.
III, at 44, 48–49; Washington Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 212.) In the period from 1995 to 2001, there were 50 black concert
promoters in the United States. (Expert Report of Ali Saad, dated May, 21, 2003 (“Saad Report”), in J.A., Vol. I, at 5.)

Minneapolis, MN $ 60,000.00/Per show
Chicago, IL $ 100,000.00/Per show
Detroit, MI $ 100,000.00/Per show
Washington, DC $ 60,000.00/Per show
New York, NY $ 125,000.00/Per show
Atlanta, GA $ 100,000.00/Per show
Los Angeles, CA $ 125,000.00/Per show

Production is inclusive in all offers.

103 WMA admits that this letter was an offer for the 1998 Maxwell tour by Mr. Rowe. See infra note 146.

104 Mr. Rowe's counter-affidavit, dated February 27, 2003 (Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1), is misleading. In it,
Mr. Rowe states that Magic Johnson's “insertion as a co-promoter occurred only after I had made threats of going public
regarding race discrimination in the concert industry and only after I had filed the instant lawsuit.” (Id. ¶ 16 (emphasis in
original).) This lawsuit was filed on November 19, 1998. Mr. Rowe's “threat of going public” was contained in a letter to
Randy Hoffman, Maxwell's manager, dated September 3, 1998. (Letter from Leonard Rowe, as President of the BPA, to
Randy Hoffman, dated Sept. 3, 1998 (“Maxwell Letter from BPA to Mr. Hoffman”), attached as Ex. 1G to Pls.' Rev. Jam
Mem. Exs.) Mr. Rowe, however, clearly knew that MJP had been “assigned exclusive rights to promote the upcoming
Maxwell tour” before August 24, 1998, because on that date he wrote a letter to Mr. Johnson congratulating him on
this assignment. (Letter from Leonard Rowe, as President of the BPA, to Irvin “Magic” Johnson, dated Aug. 24, 1998
(“Maxwell Letter from BPA to Mr. E. Johnson”), attached as Ex. 1F to Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Exs., at 1.)

Additionally, Exhibit E attached to Mr. Rowe's counter-affidavit, the Maxwell Letter from WMA to MJP as of September
1, 1998 shows that a formal retention of Mr. Johnson for the Maxwell tour occurred on or about that date. (Pls.' Rev.
Jam Mem. Ex. 1E.) Exhibit A to that affidavit includes a WMA tour schedule for the 1998 Maxwell tour, which shows
that “Magic” as well as certain local promoters had been scheduled for a 1998 tour by WMA by August 5, 1998, some
three months before the lawsuit was filed and four weeks before Mr. Rowe's letter dated September 3, 1998 containing
a “threat of going public.” (WMA Tour Schedule for the 1998 Maxwell Tour, dated Aug. 8, 1998, Pls.' Rev. Jam. Mem.
Ex. 1A.) Exhibit B to Mr. Rowe's counter affidavit, a WMA Maxwell tour schedule dated August 18, 1998, also lists
MJE as a promoter for virtually every venue. (WMA Tour Schedule for 1998 Maxwell Tour, dated Aug. 18, 1998, Pls.'
Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1B.)

105 Plaintiffs' Counter Jam 56.1 Statement ¶ 42 misidentifies Exhibit 16 (which is the same as Pls.' Rev. Mem. Ex. 1A) as
“WMA statement of 8/5/99 listing bids on the 1999 Maxwell Tour” as dated August 5, 1999 when, in fact, it is dated 8/5/98
and lists bids for the 1998 tour.

106 Plaintiffs present only argument to the contrary.

107 Plaintiff Fred Jones had been scheduled as a promoter in Dallas/New Orleans on WMA's September 11, 1998 schedule
for the Maxwell 1998 tour. (Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1C at 2.)

108 See also Berman v. Parco, 986 F.Supp. 195, 200 (S.D.N.Y.1997) (“Simple hope that a jury will not believe the testimony
of defendants that has been submitted in support of a summary judgment motion will not defeat the motion where there
has been no affirmative evidence submitted to counter the defendants' evidence.”) (citing Goldhirsh Group, Inc. v. Alpert,
107 F.3d 105, 109 (2d Cir.1997) (“If all of the witnesses deny that an event essential to the plaintiff's case occurred, the
plaintiff cannot get to the jury simply because the jury might disbelieve these denials. There must be some affirmative
evidence that the event occurred.”) (citations and quotations omitted)).

109 As stated earlier, Mr. Rowe's letter of July 20, 1998 does not make a bid for a concert, but is considered as a bid for
the tour of seven or more cities.

110 In his deposition on August 14, 2001, Mr. Rowe placed the time of the call in October or November 1996. (Rowe Dep.,
in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1384.)

111 In his deposition, Mr. Rowe states he called Mr. Piranian because he had received phone calls from black promoters
saying that they had been excluded from the Kenny G/Braxton tour and he was calling on their behalf. (Rowe Dep., in

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997231708&pubNum=0000345&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_345_200&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_345_200
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997055737&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_109&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_109
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997055737&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Ib0547145600411d997e0acd5cbb90d3f&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_109&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_109


Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. William Morris Agency, Inc., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d...

2005-1 Trade Cases P 74,684

 © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 76

J.A., Vol. VI, at 1377.) He states that the black promoters were not invited to bid or able to participate in the bidding
process. (Id. at 1379.) However, Mr. Rowe contradicts his claim of no opportunity to bid in this same deposition when he
states that after his initial conversation with Mr. Piranian, he spoke with Mr. Haymon about the quoted prices, and they
did not discuss making a counteroffer because “that's what the promoter was paying.” (Id. at 1384.)

In his affidavit, dated April 24, 2003, submitted in Opposition to Defendant CAA's Motion for Summary Judgment, Mr.
Rowe also contradicts his deposition testimony that black promoters were not invited to bid or able to participate in
the bidding process. He states:

In 1996, Al Haymon called me and told me that Kenny G and Toni Braxton were going to tour in 1997. Mr. Haymon
told me that the guarantee was about $250,000 to $275,000 depending on the city, and that it was his opinion that the
guarantee was too high. I then called Mike Piranian, the responsible CAA agent for the tour, to discuss the possibility
of involvement in the tour.

(Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 215.)

112 According to his deposition testimony, Mr. Rowe learned that the Kenny G/Braxton dates were selling for much less than
the $225,000 to $275,000 Mr. Piranian originally quoted him after he had spoken with Mr. Piranian for the first time and
spoke with Mr. Haymon about those terms, but before threatening to protest. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1386.) Thus,
he did not learn of the “minimum guarantees of between $150,000 to $175,000 after his protest or after Jam allowed him
to partner on the Kenny G/Toni Braxton shows. Mr. Rowe's deposition is the evidence with conclusory effect on points
of difference. Bickerstaff, 196 F.3d at 455.

113 Corroborating these early terms, CAA presents contracts showing that on August 16, 1996, Radio City Music had agreed
to promote six Kenny G/Braxton concerts for a per show guarantee of $280,000, revised by Dennis Turner, Kenny G's
manager, in January 1997 to $232,597 per show. (Decl. of Robert Light, dated May 20, 2003 (“Light Decl. II”), Exs. 1–4.)
On October 25, 1996, Nederlander Theatres agreed to a minimum artist guarantee of $225,000 and a 90/10 artist split
for the auditorium in Anaheim, California. (Light Decl. I Ex. 5.)

114 As stated supra p. 73, Mr. Rowe's and Mr. Boseman's claims of having promoted Toni Braxton previously were based
on having been employed in Mr. Haymon's promotion of Toni Braxton.

115 Although Mr. Rowe states he “was permitted to sharecrop” and did nothing to promote the Chicago Kenny G/Braxton
show (Rowe Jam Aff. I, Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 1, ¶ 22), Mr. Boseman testified that he also shared in the co-promotion
fee and that he did make several calls to Chicago radio stations on behalf of the Braxton concert (Boseman Dep., McCabe
Decl. Ex. 8, at 1015). Plaintiffs received 1/3 of the promoter's profits on both shows promoted by Jam. (Rowe Dep.,
McCabe Decl. Ex. 6, at 767.)

116 Although Plaintiffs state that a court may draw an inference of pretext from more general comparative evidence, citing
Sweat v. Miller Brewing Co., 708 F.2d 655, 658 (11th Cir.1983) and Furnco Construction Corp. v. Waters, 438 U.S.
567, 580 (1978), those cases relate to the hiring of a workforce required to perform a service, not a situation where the
promoter already has the work force necessary to provide the service and only enters into co-promotion contracts, which
reduce its profit, in order to avail itself of knowledge or expertise which it does not possess to promote a particular concert.

117 In their brief, Plaintiffs state that “Jam has co-promoted every black act it has ever done with black promoters,” (Pls.'
Rev. Jam Mem. at 6 (citing Dep. of Jerry Mickelson, undated (“Mickelson Dep.”), Pls.' Rev. Jam Mem. Ex. 9, at 111) but
then, only a page later in their brief, inconsistently state that “Jam's refusal to co-promote black acts with black promoters
except under threat of public outcry (one of many statements not supported by the evidence) is evidence of Jam's intent
to discriminate against the Plaintiffs” (id. at 7).

118 A co-promoter's familiarity with a particular genre of music, e.g., R & B, hip hop, or pop can lead to an agreement to co-
promote. (Joint 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 41.)

119 Paragraph 5 does not relate to the claim made by Plaintiffs here. Paragraph 3, however, relates to the claimed
competiveness of the market.

120 Plaintiffs also assert that the evidence shows the Booking Agency Defendants and the Promoter Defendants have
conspired to exclude black promoters from the Promoter Defendants geographically assigned territories. (Pls.' Counter
Jam 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 44 (citing R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' Counter Jam. Ex. 15, ¶¶ 3,5).) As stated supra p. 32 in the antitrust
section, this affidavit does not support the allegation of territorial allocation or a conspiracy to exclude by the Promoter
Defendants.

121 Plaintiffs have submitted no evidence demonstrating that Mr. Rowe is an expert in the concert promotion business, and
when he speaks on matters, such as the industry standard, Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate that he has sufficient
qualifications to state these conclusions. These statements are inadmissible under the Federal Rules of Evidence. See
Fed.R.Evid. 602
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122 In paragraph 87(f) of the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs claim that in regards to the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton concert, “No
white promoter, including any of the promoter defendants promoting this tour, was required to submit a deposit of any
more than 0–10% of the $150,000–1575,000 guarantee.” CAA has submitted copies of contracts, however, which show
that the promoters, including JAM, agreed to pay a deposit of 50% of the guarantee. (Armand Decl., Light Decl. II, Ex. A.)

123 Also, this contract form is only signed by Jam, not the artist Lauryn Hill, and therefore, does not reflect the final terms.

124 Among the contracts in Exhibit 15, the Court finds a contract on a CAA form between Wonder Production (Stevie Wonder)
and Haymon Entertainment/Jam Productions, Ltd., dated December 15, 1994, requiring each promoter to pay a 25%
deposit. Stevie Wonder is a major black artist.

125 Plaintiffs also repeat the claim that Jam dominates the Chicago market and is awarded contracts automatically, and
thus, a jury could conclude that Jam knew of the conspiracy. As stated supra pp. 83–86, there is no evidence of Jam's
dominance or Jam's being automatically awarded contracts. Nor do Plaintiffs offer any evidence that Jam knew that it
was automatically awarded contracts or that the contracts were awarded free from competition. Also, Plaintiffs do not
cite to evidence explaining how the awarding of contracts to Jam by the booking agencies would give Jam knowledge
of a conspiracy to exclude Plaintiffs due to their race.

126 As alleged in paragraph 87(f) of the Amended Complaint, Kenny G is a white artist.

127 The 1996 contracts for the Kenny G concerts between the concert promoters and Turner Management provided that
Kenny G would provide the services of Toni Braxton and that she would receive 34% of the net revenues. (Light Decl. II,
Ex. 6.) (The Court could not find Beaver's contract with Turner Management.) Ms. Braxton's manager testified that Ms.
Braxton saved the expense of her agent (WMA) by allowing Kenny G, his manager and CAA to negotiate the concerts
for her. (Phillips Dep., in Pls. CAA Dep. Tr., Vol. II, at 33–34.)

128 Mr. Rowe's affidavit, dated April 21, 2003, also confirms that he learned about the lower guarantees on the 1997 Kenny
G/Toni Braxton tour after it “had been sold to the dominant white promoters.” (Rowe Jam Aff. II, Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1
Stmt., ¶ 29; but see supra pp. 76–78.)

129 Additionally, Plaintiffs have not submitted any evidence showing that they submitted a bid to co-promote this concert.

130 QBQ is a former Booking Agency Defendant, against whom Plaintiffs have dismissed their claims.

131 Mr. Rowe's testimony about Mr. Arfa's statement is hearsay. Since Plaintiffs offer no testimony that Don Fox said he would
not allow Mr. Rowe, or any other black promoter, to co-promote Vandross, Mr. Rowe's testimony must be disregarded.

132 Again, Plaintiffs fail to present evidence showing they submitted bids to promote or co-promote on the Luther Vandross
concert. Although Plaintiffs assert that they did not submit bids because of the futility of this action, Plaintiffs have failed
to present evidence supporting this theory.

133 Copies of the letter indicate that copies were sent to CAA and WMA but not to Renaissance. (Pls.' Beaver Ex. 1A, 1B
(documents P00719, P007196, P007197, POO7201, POO720, P007194, and P007195).) Copies were also sent to the
media. (Id. (document P00720).)

134 This letter from Mr. Schultz to Ms. Green is also dated three days prior to: (1) Mr. Jones's press release about his Mud
Island exclusive to booking agencies and the media; (2) Mr. Leff's letter to Mr. Boyer, urging the Memphis Board not to
grant an exclusive contract at Mud Island; and (3) the Board of the Memphis Park Commission's approval of the Summitt
agreement.

135 The Leff letter of April 20, 1998, also mentions Beaver's hiring of Susan Green the previous Friday, which was April
17, 1998.

136 Mr. Leff testified he wrote Mr. Boyer without prompting by anyone (Leff Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 4, at 12–13) and that
his statement about the top talent agencies requesting Beaver to open a Memphis office was misworded (id. at 20). He
testified he wrote this at an emotional time, after Bob Kelley's suicide, and he should have written “many people.” (Id.
at 20–22.)

137 Plaintiffs again cite the article “Black Promoters Say They're Excluded From Top R & B Gigs” from the June 21, 1997 issue
of Billboard Magazine (Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6K) as evidence to show that Beaver was aware of discrimination against black
promoters. (Pls.' Resp. Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 19) As with this claim against Jam, discussed supra p. 87, this article provides
no basis for an inference of Beaver's knowledge of a conspiracy to exclude black promoters. As in the Jam section, even
if the article provided notice of a conspiracy in violation of § 1985, the evidence presented does not show that Beaver had
any knowledge of that white promoters were members of a conspiracy to discriminate against black promoters. Thus,
this claim must fail. See Buck, 536 F.2d at 524 (holding that defendants' knowledge of allegedly discriminatory acts is
a prerequisite to suit under § 1986).

138 Although Plaintiffs assert that “Fox has never involved any black promoter as a co-promoter when a white artist was the
featured act,” (Pls.' Resp. Beaver Mem. at 11), Fox has co-promoted black artists with Al Haymon, an African–American
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promoter, and has co-promoted Kenny G, a white artist, with Larry Bailey, also African–American, in nineteen separate
concerts (Fox Beaver Decl., Beaver Ex. 1, ¶¶ 14–15; Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 11). Plaintiffs claim that the only reason Larry
Bailey was involved in co-promoting Kenny G with Beaver was Mr. Bailey's long standing friendship with Kenny G and
base this claim on paragraph 29 of Mr. Rowe's declaration. (Pls.' Resp, Beaver 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 11 (citing Rowe Beaver
Decl., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6, ¶ 29.) Mr. Rowe provides no evidentiary basis for this conclusion, which is beyond the scope
of his personal knowledge and therefore inadmissible.

139 Plaintiffs allege that Beaver has not produced any bids, citing paragraph 26 of Rowe's declaration. (Pls.' Resp. Beaver
Mem. at 19.) In his affidavit, dated March 13, 2003, Steven Mark Grishman, the Chief Financial Officer for Beaver,
stated that “[e]very individual concert file in the possession of Beaver Productions, Inc., without exception, contains a bid
sheet.” (Grishman Aff., attached as Ex. 1 to Beaver Reply Mem., ¶ 6 (emphasis in original).) Mr. Grishman also stated
that he “personally reviewed ... [the] documents that were produced to the plaintiffs, and contained therein were ninety-
seven (97) separate and distinct bid sheets, for different shows” and then listed the specific numbers of these sheets.
(Id. ¶ 8.) Beaver presented these bid sheets at the hearing. (Court Ex. A.)

140 In Plaintiffs' Memorandum, they support these allegations by citing to paragraphs 3 and 5 of Mr. R. Johnson's affidavit
and the Pollstar data. (Pls.' Resp. Beaver Mem. at 20–21.) As stated supra p. 32 in the antitrust and Jam section, this
information does not support Plaintiffs' claim that Beaver, or any Promoter Defendant, has territorial dominance. Nor does
it support the existence of a conspiracy among defendants to exclude black promoters.

Plaintiffs also misleadingly cite testimony by Brad Wavra, vice president of Clear Channel Touring's music division,
stating that “there is a predominant promoter in every market, one that does the majority of dates” (citing Dep. of Brad
Wavra, dated Feb. 28, 2002 (“Wavra Dep.”), attached as Ex. 11 in Pls.' Beaver Exs., at 56, 84) and that “ ‘primarily
concert promoters were regionally oriented, and ... their primary interest was just playing specific acts in their regions,
and that seemed to be how the business was primarily structured” ’ [quoting id. at 56]. (Pls. Resp. Beaver Mem. at
21 (emphasis added).) However, Mr. Wavra testified that there is a “predominant promoter in many markets” and that
that this came about based on performance and how a promoter built relationships, not a conspiracy to exclude black
promoters. (Wavra Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 11, at 84.) Mr. Wavra also does not list Jam or Beaver as a predominant
promoter in his testimony. (Id. at 56 .)
Plaintiffs cite other testimony by Brad Wavra as support for the alleged conspiracy, specifically that there is a “concert
promoting fraternity,” which included Mr. Fox, and that Mr. Wavra did not initially include any black promoters as
members of the fraternity. (Pls.' Resp. Beaver Mem. at 23 (citing Wavra Dep., Pls.' Beaver Ex. 11, at 39–40.) Mr.
Wavra, however, testified that he was using the term fraternity “loosely,” that if a person was “in the music business
then they would be part of that fraternity” and that the fraternity included black promoter Al Haymon. (Wavra Dep., in
Joint Reply Appendix Filed in Further Supp. of Booking Agency Defs.' Mot. for Summ. J., undated (received May 29,
2003) (“J. Reply A.”), at 42–43.)
Plaintiffs also cite the testimony of Mr. Alex Cooley as support for the alleged conspiracy, specifically that “(a) there is a
‘good ole boy network ... and yes, racism very well in some cases could raise its head in there,’ (b) he knows of no black
promoters who are a part of the good ole boy network, and (c) racism plays a part in the concert promotion industry
today with regard to black promoters not promoting white acts.” (Pls. Resp. Beaver Mem. at 23 (quoting and citing
Dep. of Alex Cooley, dated Mar. 20, 2003 (“Cooley Dep.”), attached as Ex. 12 to Pls.' Beaver Exs., at 96–97, 105.)
Mr. Cooley, however, also testified that racism was not “an overriding pervasive major thing in the industry” (Cooley
Dep., in J. Reply A., at 96), that “the business has changed so drastically that [race] is not much of a factor” (id. at 98),
that the “good ole boy network” was “not a conspiracy kind of a thing” (id. at 101), and that the “good ole boy network”
consists of “friendships and business working relationships” (id. at 104).

141 For example, a contract (without a signature line for Beaver) on a WMA form for the artist Protein to perform as a special
guest at Howlin' Wolf in New Orleans on April 15, 1997, for $100 flat guarantee with no deposit (Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6A) and
a 1999 contract (with Beaver) with Celine Dion on a CAA form with a deposit of 10% of artists' guarantee and a 92.5%
artist split of gross receipts after deduction of expenses. (Pls.' Beaver Ex. 6B (document BEA 006410).)

142 Since the contracts generally reflect that the booking agency did not offer better terms to the concert promoter the changes
in contract terms strongly reflect negotiation by the promoters as claimed by Jam in the hearing. (Hrg. Tr. 10/20/03 at 207–
11.) The successful concert promoters often end up with better terms than are offered by the Booking Agency Defendants.
The only inference to be drawn is that due to their standing in the market or relationship with a desirable concert venues
or relationship with the artists they can negotiate better contract terms. Indeed, a concert promoter who owns a desirable
venue (Nederlander Theaters) may refuse to pay deposits. (See Fax from Nancy Vance of WMA to Billie Bullock, dated
June 28, 1995 (stating “Nederlander does not pay deposits (never has, never will)”), Pls.' Hrg. Ex. 15.)
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143 In Plaintiffs' Opposition to the Booking Agency Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs cite to Exhibit 31
as evidence of WMA's and CAA's “unvarnished racial animus.” (Pls.' Joint Mem. at 15.) Exhibit 31 is an unidentified and
unauthenticated document, not produced by Plaintiffs in discovery, which Plaintiffs reference in support of the allegation
in their opposition brief that “the racial epithet ‘nigger’ was used 349 times in e-mails of employees of CAA and WMA.” (Id.;
Declaration of Beverly R. Frank, Esq. in Support of Booking Agency Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment, dated
May 23, 2003 (“Frank Decl.”), ¶¶ 3–4.)

Despite repeated requests by CAA and WMA, Plaintiffs' new counsel refused to provide the Defendants with any
foundational information regarding Exhibit 31 or to produce a hard copy of the underlying e-mails referenced in Exhibit
31.
In the first half of 2001, Plaintiffs' former counsel had sought production of Defendants' e-mails, including e-mail data
stored on thousands of CAA and WMA back up tapes and computer hard drives. Magistrate Judge Francis granted
the request by order dated January 16, 2002 (the “Order”), but required Plaintiffs' former counsel, among other things,
to: (1) notify Defendants' counsel of the search procedure to be used by Plaintiffs in identifying responsive e-mails,
including specific word searches; (2) identify any e-mails they considered “material” to this litigation; and (3) produce
them to Defendants in “hard copy with Bates Stamp.” Rowe Entertainment, Inc. v. The William Morris Agency, Inc., 205
F.R.D. 421, 433 (S.D.N.Y.2002). Until the materiality of the e-mails had been agreed upon by counsel, this discovery
was to be for attorney eyes only. Id. Plaintiffs' counsel, thereafter, notified Defendants that only the e-mails of certain
named employees of the Defendant agencies would be searched. Defendants complained that Exhibit 31 demonstrates
that the Plaintiffs thereafter conducted searches of mailbox users who were not among those agreed upon employees,
and that Plaintiffs' counsel have not produced the hard copies of actual e-mails identified in Exhibit 31 as required by
the Order. Plaintiffs' new counsel, thereafter, agreed that the number of uses of “nigger” referred to in their brief should
have been 76 times, not 349 times, but due to Plaintiffs' failure to comply with Judge Francis's Order, Defendants have
been unable to determine whether the racial epithet was used by an employee or by a correspondent to the employee
or was contained in song lyrics, scripts, screen plays or spam. (Frank Decl. ¶¶ 32–33.)
In view of Plaintiffs' new counsel's breaches of Magistrate Judge Francis's Order, and Plaintiffs' failure to present any
evidence or argument to show that the e-mails constituted utterances by employees of Defendants whose actions were
material to the issues in this case, the Court is disregarding Exhibit 31 in its entirety as irrelevant material.

144 The facts related to the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour are reviewed supra pp. 73–76.

145 In their Response in Opposition, Plaintiffs attempt to inculpate WMA in the Plaintiffs' complaint about Kenny G/Braxton
tour pointing out that WMA issued contracts for Ms. Braxton's performances to a former concert Promoter Defendant.
(Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 21 n. 45 (citing Pls.' WMA Ex. 43, a fax from Nick Caris of WMA to Rich Engler of Dicesare–
Engler Productions, dated Jan. 17, 1997 (requesting the forwarding of a signed contract).) This fax was sent after Mr.
Rowe and Mr. Boseman reached their agreement with Mr. Light for co-promotion of Ms. Braxton on January 6, 1997. (See
Letter from Mr. Light to Mr. Rowe and Mr. Boseman, dated Jan. 6, 1997, attached as Ex. 14 to Pls.' Counter Jam 56.1
Stmt.) Plaintiffs also cite Exhibits 44 to 48, containing contracts on WMA forms with Ms. Braxton as a party, to demonstrate
that WMA required only 10% or no deposit from dominant promoters whom it awarded “the Braxton concerts” or required
a 50% deposit only a few days before her scheduled performance. (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 21 n. 46.) Review of these
contracts shows that they are not the subject of Plaintiffs' complaint, which involved the original awarding of contracts to
promote concerts on the 1997 Kenny G/Braxton tour by CAA's Mike Piranian in the fall of 1996. These contracts on WMA
forms appear to provide remuneration for Ms. Braxton and assure her performance, but do not add terms to the original
contract between Kenny G's manager and the promoter. (See Armand Decl., attached to Light Decl. II, Ex. A (contract
on CAA form between Contemporary Productions and Turner Management, dated Nov. 12, 1996, for a concert at Kiel
Auditorium in St. Louis on Jan. 16, 1997) and Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 47 (contract on WMA form between Contemporary
Productions and Madam Ashley, Inc., Ms. Braxton's manager, dated Dec. 16, 1996 for this same concert).) Contemporary
Productions' WMA contract form merely secures Ms. Braxton's services for the same concert on the terms required under
Contemporary Productions contract with Turner Management. The evidence provided does not show WMA had any
involvement in the scheduling or choosing of lead promoters for concerts on the Kenny G/Braxton tour.

146 Exhibit 18 lists no venues, dates, artist's split or other key terms for a specific concert that would allow an artist or an artist's
manager to compare this offer to other promoters' offers for specific concerts. This letter, however, will be considered an
offer for part of the national tour for the purposes of this opinion, as is admitted by WMA. (See Mem. of Law in Supp. of
WMA's Mot. for Summ. J., dated Feb. 28, 2003 (“WMA Mem.”), at 8 n. 5.)

147 Minneapolis, Detroit, New York and Los Angeles are not listed as “Magic.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA Ex. 19.)
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148 On September 4, 1998, Mr. Frasco of WMA sent a memo to all promoters informing them that Magic Johnson Promotions
would be a 50% promoter on all Maxwell deals, that tickets would read “Magic Johnson Productions in association with
local promoter Presents,” that the Black Entertainment Network would be the tour sponsor, and that Billy Sparks, a black
promoter, would approve all radio and media advertising. (Pls.' WMA Resp. Ex. 22.)

149 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but only cite the affidavit of Mr. R. Johnson, who worked as a booking agent at WMA
from 1982 to 1986, to support this contention. (Pls.' Am. Local Rule 56.1 Stmt. of Disputed Facts in Supp. of Opp'n to
WMA's Mot. for Summ. J., dated June 16, 2003 (“Pls.' Am. WMA Stmt.”), ¶ 57 (citing R. Johnson Aff., Pls.' WMA Ex. 9,
¶ 3).) As stated previously, Mr. R. Johnson's testimony is admitted as far as it relates to his personal knowledge, which
does not extend to the 1998 Maxwell tour. WMA 56.1 Statement ¶ 57 is considered as if undisputed.

150 Even if Plaintiffs had shown a prima facie case of discrimination, Mr. Frasco's testimony sets forth a valid business reason,
a decision by the principal to reject the Plaintiffs' offers. See McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804. Plaintiffs do not offer
any evidence to show that the reasons for choosing MJP were pretextual.

151 Mr. Frasco also testified that Mr. Hoffman decided that Mr. Jones would be involved as a copromoter if Maxwell played
in any of the cities Mr. Jones “normally plays.” (Frasco Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at 127.)

152 Exhibit 19 is dated 8/5/98, not 8/5/99.

153 Guarantees cover the artist in the event the concert is not successful. The artist promoter split, venue capacity, and ticket
prices allow the artist to benefit from a successful concert.

154 Plaintiff King testified he did not submit a bid to promote the 1999 Maxwell tour. (King Dep., in J.A., Vol.V, at 1101.)

155 In his deposition Mr. Boseman refers to the Theatre as a venue relating to the Paramount, but all further references by
Plaintiffs to this conversation refer to the Theatre at Madison Square Garden. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 721–22.)

156 Mr. Boseman said that the conversation between Mr. Slater and Ms. Lewis couldn't have been more than a week or two
after a conversation he had had with Ms. Lewis and that he may have spoken to Ms. Lewis in both January 1997 and
March 1997. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 733.)

157 The Amended Complaint alleges that Mr. Delsener made the call, not Mr. Slater, as Mr. Boseman states in his deposition.

158 What Mr. Delsener and Mr. Slater said Ms. Lewis told them is hearsay as to the truth of the statements made and must
be disregarded for purposes of this motion. Plaintiffs offer no testimony from Mr. Delsener or Mr. Slater to support this
attribution to Ms. Lewis.

159 Ms. Lewis's uncontradicted affidavit states that, although she has specialized in urban, contemporary music (primarily
R & B, hip hop and rap music) for eleven years at Norby Walters and for the past thirteen years at WMA, has a 99%
client base of African American artists, and had business relationships with numerous black promoters, she had had
virtually no contact with any of the four Plaintiffs until 1997. (Lewis Decl. ¶¶ 3–8.) Prior to 1997, none of the Plaintiffs had
expressed an interest in promoting any of the clients she has represented over the last 20 years, and Mr. Boseman has
never submitted a bid for any of the artists she has represented. (Id. ¶¶ 6, 8.)

160 It is the Court's understanding that industry functions hire their own promoters, and independent promoters do not
compete to be hired by the artist or the artist's manager.

161 Delsener/Slater did promote Ms. Badu at the Supper Club. (Lewis Decl. Ex. 1.) During the oral argument, Defendant's
counsel asserted without contradiction that Delsener/Slater “controlled” the Supper Club and any artist wishing to perform
in that venue would have to go through Delsener/Slater. (Hrg. Tr. 10/16/03 at 113.)

162 Even if Mr. Boseman argued that he was exempt from the specific bid requirement his claim would fail. Assuming that the
standards for exemption from the specific bid requirement set forth in Brown v. Coach Stores and Petrosino, both cases
concerning failure to promote in the employment context, apply in the contract discrimination context, Mr. Boseman has
failed to present evidence to qualify for these exemptions. Under Brown v. Coach Stores, Mr. Boseman must present
pattern and practice evidence showing that bidding would have been futile and identify a specific position (in this case,
venue) he would have applied for “had the alleged discriminatory practice not existed.” Brown v. Coach Stores, 163 F.3d
at 711. Mr. Boseman has presented no evidence demonstrating a pattern or practice of discrimination by WMA, and he
has not identified any specific venue for which he would have applied. Under Petrosino, Mr. Boseman must demonstrate
“that (1) the vacancy at issue was not posted, and (2) the employee either had (a) no knowledge of the vacancy before
it was filled or (b) attempted to apply for it through informal procedures endorsed by the employer.” Petrosino, 385 F.3d
at 227. Mr. Boseman had knowledge that Ms. Badu was playing smaller venues, and thus, had the opportunity to submit
a bid to WMA for Ms. Badu concerts at such venues.

163 Attached to Ms. Lewis's declaration is a press release, which she states the BPA disseminated in 1998 to the media,
stating that Ms. Badu was “allowing herself to be prostituted and exploited by the White Music Establishment,” that “[h]er
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White Booking Agency refused to let her work for Black Promoters” and calling for a boycott of her recording products
and concert appearances. (Lewis Decl. Ex. 3 (BPA Press Release).)

164 Plaintiff Boseman also speaks of the venue Radio City Music Hall when referring to this concert.

165 Plaintiffs contend that Mr. Haymon sold his business to SFX in May of 1999 and thus, did not promote the tour. (Pls.'
Resp. WMA Mem. at 24 n. 53.) However, SFX only acquired 50% of Mr. Haymon's business in May 1999 and a year
later increased their ownership to 80%. (Haymon Dep., Ex. 86 in Pls.' Resp. WMA Exs., at 23.) Mr. Haymon stated that
after the purchases by SFX, he ran the business in the same way. (Haymon Dep., in J. Reply A., at 162–163.)

166 Mr. Schultz states that he only spoke with Mr. Kelley or his employees at Mid–South Concerts, including Ms. Green,
when his clients wished to play at Mud Island and that all concert related matters were handled by Mid–South employees.
(Schultz Aff. ¶ 5.)

167 Plaintiffs dispute Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 189, but cite no evidence rebutting this claim as to this artist. This statement
is considered as if undisputed.

168 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but their response is unresponsive. Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 201 is considered as if
undisputed.

169 Furthermore, Plaintiffs have failed to present any evidence supporting its claims that WMA has “granted market
domination to a small fraternity of dominant white promoters” (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 2) and has “unlawfully nurtured
the dominant white promoters to great financial success” (id. at 7). To the contrary, Mr. Kapp's testimony, on which
Plaintiffs rely as support for this conclusion, does not mention WMA. Mr. Kapp testified that the individual concert
promoters, by purchasing venues and promoting as many shows as possible, have achieved dominant positions in each
of their territories. (Kapp Dep., Pls.' Joint Mem. Ex. 12, at 230–33.)

170 In this same footnote in their responsive memorandum, Plaintiffs cite a number of other letters that they claim demonstrate
that WMA only contacted an “elite group of dominant white promoters to inform them of upcoming promotional
opportunities and [to] make arrangements for their participation.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 7–8, n. 19.) Plaintiffs base
their assertion that “[n]one of these letters was sent to a single black promoter” on Mr. Rowe's affidavit. (Id.) Plaintiffs have
chosen not to gather testimony relating to the circumstances relating to those letters and, thus, deprived the Defendants
of the opportunity to present a legitimate business reason for contacting those particular promoters. Nor do those letters,
selected from thousands of documents, raise an inference of racial discrimination since those letters were also not sent
to the over 1,000 of the 1,042 independent white promoters identified in the Saad Study. (Saad Report, J.A., Vol. I, at 14.)

171 Plaintiffs chose not to depose management of Culture Club to challenge Mr. Schultz's sworn testimony as pretextual.

172 As stated supra pp. 105–06, Plaintiffs have not shown that their selection of contracts is representative. Rather, the
evidence shows that Plaintiffs choose the contracts that looked interesting to them.

173 Plaintiffs, in their Memorandum in Response to WMA's motion, cite a number of exhibits containing contracts on WMA
forms between artists and the alleged dominant promoters or letters from WMA to the alleged dominant promoters, which
Plaintiffs claim are evidence of the “more onerous contractual terms” required of black promoters by WMA. (Pls.' Resp.
WMA Mem. at 9–10.) Plaintiffs cannot show a prima facie case of discrimination under McDonnell Douglas using these
exhibits, as they have not submitted any evidence showing they bid on any concerts related to the documents contained
in the exhibits. Nor can Plaintiffs use these documents to demonstrate a pattern and practice of discrimination because
they have selected these letters and contracts from thousands of documents.

Additionally, Plaintiffs do not cite to any testimony relating to the circumstances relevant to these exhibits by the
parties involved or by any WMA employees. Instead, Plaintiffs rely solely on Mr. Rowe's affidavit to assert that “[t]here
is no legitimate business reason which can justify these disparate contractual terms WMA requires of black and
white promoters.” (Pls.' Resp. WMA Mem. at 9.) Plaintiffs evidently chose not to explore the facts and circumstances
surrounding these exhibits. Plaintiffs' failure to inquire about these “disparate contract terms” and exhibits during oral
discovery deprived the Defendants of the opportunity to show that a valid business reason existed for these disparate
terms.

174 Mr. Grosslight also states that WMA has written polices setting forth its commitment to equal opportunity and non-
toleration of racial discrimination “in any form at [their] company whether it is by WMA employees, vendors or
clients.” (Grosslight Decl. I ¶ 12.)

175 The two promoters that Mr. Grosslight remembered were not so designated were in Tupelo, Mississippi and Lafayette,
Louisiana, not cities allegedly controlled by the dominant promoter defendants, and that in one case, he recommended
a black promoter and in the other a Caucasian. (Grosslight Decl. I ¶ 9.)

176 Additionally, Plaintiffs evidently chose not to make the documents upon which they base their claim the subject of
interrogation during depositions. Thus, there is no testimonial support for their interpretation of the documents. Review
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of the documents suggests that Plaintiffs' interpretation is misleading. Furthermore, these claims seem to be subject to
Magistrate Francis's order of preclusion dated July 8, 2002. (J.A., Vol.II, Ex. 43.)

177 In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs additionally assert:
In or about May 1999, after this lawsuit was filed, CAA recently hired the first black agent in the history of the concert
business to participate in booking white contemporary music acts. Dennis Ashley telephoned plaintiff Rowe and
thanked him for bringing this lawsuit because, he said, it was the reason he was hired. He told Rowe that he was
being treated like a king.

(Am.Compl.¶ 87(o).)
In their motion papers, Plaintiffs cite this statement and other instances involving CAA's hiring policy and work
environment as evidence that “bolsters the plaintiffs' allegations of racial discrimination against CAA.” (Pls.' Response
in Opp'n to CAA's Mot. for Summ. J., dated Apr. 25, 2003 (“Pls.' CAA Mem.”), at 21–22.) Mr. Ashley, however, testified
that he did not know Mr. Rowe prior to his employment at CAA and never called Mr. Rowe to thank him for this lawsuit or
his job. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 121.) In any event, CAA's hiring of a black agent to participate in booking white contemporary
music acts is not evidence of any discriminatory action by CAA against Plaintiffs. Additionally, CAA has a policy of
equality and equal opportunity. (Dep. of Richard Lovett, dated Feb. 26, 2002 (“Lovett Dep.”), in Pls.' CAA Dep. Tr., Vol.
I, at 99–100 .) CAA has a strict policy against discrimination in employment and in all dealings with clients, vendors
and the public. (Light Decl. I ¶ 5.)

178 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 115 is considered as if undisputed.

179 This claim is connected to Plaintiffs' general allegation that even when Plaintiffs have promoted black artists in the past,
they are not given opportunity to promote these artists once they reach “star status.” (See Am. Compl. ¶ 4.) Plaintiffs,
however, have provided no evidence showing they in fact ever served as “promoters” for Toni Braxton previously. See
supra p. 73.

180 This contract was revised by Dennis Turner, Kenny G's manager, in January 1997 to $232,597 per show. (Light Decl.
II Ex. 4 .)

181 Mr. Rowe does not state to which concert he refers.

182 Jam's contract, dated November 25, 1996, with Kenny G and other contracts for the Kenny G/Toni Braxton concerts are
on CAA's form contract and require the promoters to provide deposits based on the guarantees for Kenny G and do not
provide separate guarantees for Toni Braxton. (See Armand Decl. Ex. A.) Plaintiffs have presented contracts on WMA
forms that do not require the promoters to pay deposits for Ms. Braxton. See supra note 145. From the Court's review of
these documents, the contracts on WMA forms secure Ms. Braxton's appearances at the Kenny G concerts, as required
by the promoters' contracts with Turner Management.

Although many of the contracts presented by CAA provide for guarantees below the initial guarantee requested, Ms.
Braxton's manager testified that many promoters felt that the initial guarantees were too high and submitted lesser
bids. (Phillips Dep., in J.A., Vol. V, at 50.) Additionally, the evidence shows that black promoter Larry Bailey received
a contract with $65,000 guarantee and 85/15 split with a $16,250 (25%) deposit by company check on March 11,
1997 (Armand Decl. Ex. B) and a contract for another venue with approximately the same terms on April 11, 1997
(Armand Decl. Ex. C).

183 Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are undisputed by testimony, affidavits or declarations of Plaintiffs, which are
based on personal knowledge. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(b).

184 Plaintiffs claim that the alleged discrimination against them in relation to the 1998 Janet Jackson concert is connected
to Plaintiffs' general allegation that even when Plaintiffs have promoted black artists in the past, they are not given
opportunity to promote these artists once they reach “star status.” (See Am. Compl. ¶ 4.) Al Haymon was lead promoter
for the 1994 Janet Jackson tour, and Ms. Jackson was a CAA, Inc. client at that time. (Haymon Dep., in J.A., Vol. IV, at
123–24.) At his deposition, Plaintiff Rowe stated that he didn't know which Janet Jackson concerts he co-promoted in
1994 (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 541), but in his affidavit submitted in response to CAA's motion, Mr. Rowe states
that he co-promoted Janet Jackson in 1994 with Mr. Haymon in Atlanta and Detroit (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶
271). In his deposition, Mr. Boseman stated he co-promoted Ms. Jackson in 1994 in New York, put up a guarantee on
the show, and provided services such as advertising and street production. (Boseman Dep., in J.A., Vol. III, at 1255–57.)

185 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but cite the affidavit of Mr. Rowe for support. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 71.) Mr.
Rowe has not been shown to have personal knowledge regarding this statement and does not cite any other source for
this statement. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 230.) Thus, CAA's 56.1 Statement ¶ 71 is considered as if undisputed.

186 Plaintiffs dispute this statement in part, but only cite Mr. Rowe's affidavit submitted in response to this motion. (Pls.' Resp.
CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 72.) Mr. Rowe has not been shown to have personal knowledge regarding this statement and does
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not cite any other evidence for this statement. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 231.) Thus, CAA's 56.1 Statement ¶
72 is considered as if undisputed.

187 Plaintiffs dispute this statement based on Mr. Rowe's affidavit stating that he was not told Ms. Jackson insisted on black
promoter involvement. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 73 (citing Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 232).) However, in
the letter Mr. Light sent Mr. Rowe on March 4, 1998, Mr. Light mentioned that there must be black involvement in each
date. (Letter from Rob Light to Leonard Rowe, dated Mar. 4, 1998, Light Decl. I Ex. 13.) CAA's 56 .1 Statement ¶ 73
is accepted as if undisputed.

188 Brad Wavra of Magicworks testified that someone at CAA raised the concern of involving black promoters on the 1998
Janet Jackson tour with him during negotiation of the Magicworks/Jackson contract, but he could not remember when,
or whether they specified Ms. Jackson's concern about this. (Wavra Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 135–36.) Prior to the 1998
Janet Jackson tour, Mr. Wavra had not included black promoters when he promoted black artists. (Id. at 141.)

189 Plaintiffs dispute this statement as based on inadmissible hearsay. The statement is offered only for the fact that it was
made and therefore is not hearsay. See infra note 197. If admissible, Plaintiffs do not dispute that $300,000 was the
amount, but dispute that Mr. Light was instructed about this. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 74.) Plaintiffs base this objection
on Mr. Rowe's affidavit. Plaintiffs present no evidence to show that Mr. Rowe has personal knowledge of instructions
given to Mr. Light, and, thus, Mr. Light's statement is considered as if undisputed.

190 Plaintiffs dispute this statement in part. Specifically, Plaintiffs deny that Mr. Light “encouraged” Mr. Rowe to send in a
bid, but they admit Mr. Light provided information about the tour to Mr. Rowe. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 75 (citing
Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 325).)

191 Plaintiffs dispute this statement in the same manner they dispute CAA's 56.1 Statement ¶ 74.

192 Mr. Rowe in his deposition refers to white promoters as Pop promoters.

193 The letter constitutes an offer to produce a tour for Janet Jackson but does not contain dates or information relating to
proposed financing, ticket prices or other items included in written offers for individual concerts. (Light Decl. I ¶ 36.) The
total of this offer is $8.7 million.

194 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, citing Mr. Rowe's affidavit stating that Mr. Rowe has not seen any document
demonstrating that Mr. Light forwarded his offer. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 79 (citing Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 234).) Plaintiffs
claim that the “truth of Mr. Light's testimony is a question of fact for the jury.” (Id.; see also Pls. CAA Mem. at 14 n. 22.)
Ms. Kinzel states in her declaration, dated May 20, 2003, that Mr. Light forwarded her Mr. Rowe's letter and that she
wrote “fax Gillian and Rusty” on the letter as an instruction to her assistant, who then faxed the letter to Rusty Hooker,
who worked with Mr. Davies. (Kinzel Decl. ¶ 5.) Ms. Kinzel attaches a copy of the letter with a note, undisputedly in her
handwriting, to her declaration. (Kinzel Decl. Ex. 2.) Plaintiffs have presented no evidence to contradict the testimony of
Mr. Light or Ms. Kinzel, and, thus, the truth of statement is not controverted. SeeBerman, 986 F.Supp. at 200.

195 Mr. Rowe's letter of February 20, 1998, (Light Decl. I Ex. 11), demonstrates that Mr. Rowe's statement in paragraph 236
of his responsive declaration is untrue.

196 The head of CAA's Music Department recommended to Don Passman, Ms. Jackson's attorney, that Ms. Jackson would
be better served by using individual promoters rather than a national tour promoter such as Magicworks. (Dep. of Thomas
Ross, dated Jan. 29, 2002 (“Ross Dep.”), in J. Reply. A, at 152–54.)

197 Plaintiffs claim that Mr. Davies's instructions to Mr. Light are hearsay is rejected. Mr. Light's declaration states it is based
on personal knowledge (Light Decl. I ¶ 2), and statements of instructions received are admissible in evidence, not to prove
the truth of the statements contained in those instructions, but rather to prove the fact that the instructions were received.
Fed.R.Evid. 801(c); see Advisory Committee's Notes Subdivision (c) (“If the significance of an offered statement lies
solely in the fact that it was made, no issue is raised as to the truth of anything asserted, and the statement is not hearsay.
Emich Motors Corp. v. General Motors Corp., 181 F.2d 70 (7th Cir.1950), rev'd on other grounds, 340 U.S. 558.”)

198 Plaintiffs also claim that Mr. Light's March 4, 1998 letter was duplicitous because CAA had already sold the tour to
Magicworks. (Pls.' CAA Mem. at 15; Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 243.) It appears that on March 3, 1998, Ms.
Jackson and Mr. Davies still wanted a letter of credit for the balance of the guarantee from Magicworks. On March 3,
1998, Don Passman of Gang, Tyre, Ramer & Brown, Inc. (attorneys for Ms. Jackson and Mr. Davies) (Light Dep., in J.A.,
Vol. V, at 130) sent a draft deal memo to Ms. Kinzel of CAA, the cover letter to which states, “we have to resolve the
letter of credit/guarantee issue before we can finalize. I need your input on a few points as well.” The draft deal memo
was for finalization “tomorrow.” (Pls.' CAA Ex. 53.)

However, the evidence submitted on this motion demonstrates that the tour had not already been sold to Magicworks
on March 4, 1998, as alleged by Mr. Rowe. On the afternoon of March 6, 1998, CAA received a copy of a letter from
Gang, Tyre, Ramer & Brown, Inc., Ms. Jackson's attorneys, to Magicworks's attorneys, attaching an execution draft
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of the deal memo containing the provision for letters of direction, not letters of credit. (Light Decl. I Ex. 14.) So as of
that date, the deal memo had not been executed. The formal contract with Magicworks was dated April 7, 1998. Mr.
Rowe states that the final contract between Janet Jackson and Magicworks does not provide either for an irrevocable
letter of credit or letter of direction. (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 246 (citing Pls.' CAA Ex. 47); Pls.' CAA 56.1
Stmt. ¶ 357.) The Court's review of Plaintiffs' CAA Exhibit 47 shows that in fact letters of direction were required. (Pls.'
CAA Ex. 47 at 4, 11.)

199 Although Mr. Rowe's answering affidavit states that Mr. Light told him that the total guarantee was $12 million, in his
deposition, Mr. Rowe testified that the total guarantee he had to meet was $11 million, all cash up front with no letter of
credit. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1441–45.) By his declaration in April 24, 2003, Mr. Rowe cannot, by stating another
amount contradicting his deposition testimony in 2001 and the terms contained in the March 4, 1998 letter to Mr. Rowe
from Mr. Light, create a triable issue of fact on that issue. Bickerstaff, 196 F .3d at 455.

200 In his deposition, Mr. Rowe stated that this conversation occurred sometime after February 20, 1998, but did not specify
a date. (Rowe Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 1440.)

201 Plaintiffs dispute this statement by stating that “whether [this] is true requires a credibility determination by the jury” (Pls.'
Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 96) and claim that Mr. Rowe's statement that Mr. Light never told Mr. Rowe he could offset his
risk by partnering supports that Mr. Light's assertion is not true (id. (citing Rowe CAA Aff. ¶ 258).) The Court finds that
this is not a genuine issue of material fact. Mr. Rowe's bids for 29 cities with a $300,000 guarantee per city totaling $8.7
million would lead one to assume he would partner with local promoters to offset this risk. In fact Mr. Rowe states, “We
are also open to the idea of co-promoting with Pop Promoters in some markets.” (Light Decl. I Ex. 10.) As stated supra
note 194, Plaintiffs must cite evidence to controvert Defendants' assertion, not merely claim credibility issues. Berman,
986 F.Supp. at 200.

202 Mr. Rowe maintains that the “only reason Mr. Light informed Magicworks that [he] had expressed an interest in the tour
and ‘recommended’ that Magicworks consider involving him was because [Mr. Rowe], in a letter dated March 31, 1998,
on behalf of the Black Promotion [sic] Association had threatened to boycott and picket.” (Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA
Ex. 1, ¶ 259; Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 97; see Pls.' CAA Ex 54; Light Decl. I, Ex. 17.) However, Mr. Rowe does
not demonstrate he has personal knowledge of when Mr. Light recommended to Mr. Wavra that he involve Mr. Rowe.
Mr. Rowe's claim is conclusory and argumentative and must be disregarded. The rest of Mr. Light's declaration, that he
had also suggested that Magicworks consider involving black promoters, Billy Sparks and Quentin Perry on the tour, is
confirmed by these gentlemen. (Light Decl. I ¶ 50; Sparks Dep., in J.A., Vol. VI, at 33–34; CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 98.)

203 Plaintiffs do not dispute the above statement, although they dispute CAA 56.1 Statement ¶ 101 in part.

204 Plaintiffs dispute that Mr. Perry and Mr. Sparks were hired as promoters and cite Plaintiffs' CAA Exhibit 55, which states
“[w]e have hired Quinton [sic] Perry and Billy Sparks as our tour-marketing consultants,” and the deposition of Mr. Sparks
at page 96. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 103.) However, Mr. Sparks's statement on page 96 is in relation to Prince, not
Janet Jackson, and at page 37 of this deposition he states he did promotions for the 1998 Janet Jackson tour. Additionally,
Mr. Rowe admits that Mr. Perry co-promoted Janet Jackson concerts in Washington D.C. and Los Angeles. (Rowe CAA
Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 266.)

205 Plaintiffs dispute this statement, but cite only paragraph 264 of Mr. Rowe's affidavit submitted in opposition to this motion.
Mr. Rowe has not been shown to have personal knowledge as to what Mr. Light asked Mr. Perry and Mr. Sparks and,
thus, CAA 56.1 Statement ¶ 264 is considered as if undisputed.

206 Plaintiffs dispute this only to add that they were given different terms by Magicworks than Magicworks received from
CAA. However, Magicworks contract was with Ms. Jackson's management and drafted by her attorneys.

207 As discussed earlier, Mr. Rowe did submit two letters of interest for the 1998 Janet Jackson tour. (Light Decl. I Exs. 10,
11.) Also, Mr. Rowe did submit written bids to Magicworks for Janet Jackson concerts in Los Angeles and Washington,
D.C. (Light Decl. Ex. 21; see also Rowe CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 1, ¶ 262).)

208 Mr. Boseman did submit a bid to Magicworks for 50% involvement in a New York concert on the 1998 Janet Jackson
tour. (Boseman CAA Aff., Pls.' CAA Ex. 3, ¶ 19; see also Light Decl. Ex. 19.)

209 Mr. Light has made another attempt to solicit bids from Plaintiffs. On June 27, 2002, Mr. Light forwarded Mr. Rowe a list
of CAA clients who might be touring and invited Mr. Rowe to call him or submit offers for any artist. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶
38.) This statement is undisputed by Plaintiffs. (Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 38.) In the June 27, 2002 letter to Mr. Rowe,
Mr. Light stated that the enclosed list “is an internal document which we do not normally send out to buyers [but] ... is
being provided as a springboard for discussion.” (Light Decl. I Ex. 1 (emphasis in original).) Mr. Rowe has not submitted
any bids in response to this letter. (Id. ¶ 17.)

210 Plaintiffs' reply is non-responsive; Joint 56.1 Statement ¶ 201 is considered as if undisputed.
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211 Almost half of Plaintiffs' CAA 56.1 Statement is based on Rowe's testimony. (See Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 1–5, 11–17,
19–37, 41, 43–44, 46–48, 50–51, 53, 55–56, 58–59, 61–62, 145, 151–243, 261–65, 272–73, 276, 282–85, 287, 299,
300–02, 304–5, 307–08, 312–13, 318, 323–24, 326–27, 329–30, 332–33, 336–37, 340–42, 345–47, 349, 351–53, 355–
56, 358–61, 363, 366, 370, 372, 376–78, 421–23 (relying solely on Mr. Rowe's CAA Aff. for evidentiary support).)

212 See, e.g., Pls.' CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶¶ 8, 13–37, 39, 41, 44, 47, 49–70, 72–127, 129–41, 144–50, 244–45, 251–59, 312–13.

213 Plaintiffs make additional allegations against CAA, but submit no evidence to support these statements beyond Rowe's
affidavit, consisting of conclusory or irrelevant allegations. (See, e.g., Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 9 (“CAA often allows
the dominant white promoters to cut a side deal with Ticketmaster whereby the price of the ticket is increased by several
dollars.”); Pls.' Resp. CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 9 (alleging that CAA contracts with corporate sponsors, such as The Coca–Cola
Company, to the detriment of its artists).)

214 CAA is a Delaware limited liability company that was created on or about August 18, 1995. (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 1.) On
or about October 1, 1995, CAA acquired certain assets of Creative Artists Agency, Inc., a California corporation now
known as OMH, and commenced conducting a talent agency business. (Light Decl. I ¶ 3.) CAA's motion papers state,
“CAA acquired certain assets of Creative Artists Agency, Inc.” (CAA 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 2; Light Decl. I ¶ 3 (emphasis added).)
Plaintiffs cite to CAA's Answer to the Amended Complaint, in which CAA stated that they “acquired the assets of Creative
Artists Agency, Inc .... as of October 1, 1995.” (Answer and Defenses of CAA to the Am. Compl., dated Aug. 15, 2000,
¶ 19 (emphasis added).) Since neither statement indicates that CAA, LLC acquired the liabilities of CAA, Inc. or merged
with CAA, Inc., and since there is no showing that the owners of CAA, Inc. even became part of CAA, LLC, this argument
over language is meaningless.

215 Plaintiffs dispute when Renaissance began active operations, asserting that active operations began in 1996. Plaintiffs
cite some hearsay and the deposition of Mr. Zedeck to support their contention. Mr. Zedeck did testify that he booked
dates for a few artists in 1996. (Zedeck Dep., in Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 25, at 36, 44–46.)

216 Pls.' Resp. Renaissance's 56.1 Stmt. ¶ 8 is rejected as based on third party hearsay relating to Zedeck's earlier activities.

217 Plaintiffs now claim that Mr. Zedeck's current agency Evolution should be joined in this action as a defendant. (Pls.'
Resp. Renaissance Mem. at 11).) However, the only evidence before the Court is that Evolution acquired the assets of
Renaissance as of December 31, 1999, and that Evolution cannot be claimed to be Renaissance's alter ego as it has
other business and is owned by two separate individuals, one of whom is Mr. Zedeck. Plaintiffs offer no evidence to
demonstrate that Evolution can be found to be the alter ego of Renaissance. Nor have they offered evidence that Evolution
took any discriminatory actions against them or were members of the conspiracy alleged in the Amended Complaint.

218 Plaintiffs maintain that Mr. Jones was known to Mr. Zedeck as a concert promoter because “Jones had previously
promoted Renaissance's black artist, Solo.” (Pls.' Resp. Renaissance at 6 (citing Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 28).) Plaintiffs'
Renaissance Exhibit 28 (which is in Exhibit 29) contains copies of Summitt's contract, dated March 14, 1996, for services
of Solo with Pyramid Entertainment during the 1996 Marlboro Military Tour. Pyramid Entertainment is not shown have
been controlled or operated by Mr. Zedeck. Plaintiffs do not raise a genuine issue of material fact. The tour appears
to be sponsored by Marlboro cigarettes, consistent with Mr. Zedeck's statement that he believed Mr. Jones was not an
independent promoter but produced corporate events.

219 Mr. Rowe also concludes that Renaissance does not require the Promoter Defendants to submit bids and bases this
conclusion on his review of the thousands of documents Renaissance submitted to Plaintiffs. (Rowe Renaissance
Aff., Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 1, ¶ 9.) Mr. Rowe made a similar statement in other affidavits and declarations. The other
Defendants have proved the falsity of this claim by producing contracts. Defendant WMA has produced evidence of bids
as well as contracts from its computerized files to Plaintiffs. Beaver also produced bids at the hearing. (Court Ex. A)
The record shows that Plaintiffs' former counsel (along with other attorneys and paralegals), Mr. Rowe, and Mr. King
examined the files. (See Decl. of Laura L. Mall, Esq., dated Apr. 22, 2003, attached as Ex. 7 to Pls.' Resp. Mem. in Opp'n
to Defs.' Mot. to Exclude Pls.' Expert Witness Dr. Gerald D. Jaynes's Affidavit, dated Apr. 24, 2003, ¶¶ 9–10.) There is no
showing Mr. Rowe examined all files. This statement that Defendant Promoters are not required to submit written bids
is conclusory. Also, the race of a promoter does not appear on the contract.

220 The contract is dated June 2, 1999 for a concert on June 6, 1999. (Pls.' Renaissance Ex. 33.)

221 Mr. Jones agreed to pay Ms. Cox only $8,000 per concert. (Id. Ex. 31.)

222 As shown by Mr. Zedeck's declaration, 138 of the 252 contracts contained in Exhibits 34 and 35 are duplicates, leaving
only 114 contracts in all. (Zedeck Decl. II ¶ 7.) Of the 114, twenty were for concert dates covered by tour deposits of 50%
of the minimum artist guarantees in a tour agreements with Metropolitan Entertainment and with SFX Entertainment, who
paid tour deposits of $450,000 and $1,156,000 respectively. (Zedeck Decl. II ¶¶ 8, 9, Exs. 3, 4)
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223 Mr. Zedeck also points out that Renaissance could not have conspired to bar Plaintiff Rowe from obtaining an exclusive
promotion arrangement at the Chastain Amphitheater in the early 1980s (Am.Compl.¶ 87(p)) since Renaissance did not
exist at that time. (Zedeck Decl. I ¶ 19.)
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